
 

 

 

Notice of Meeting and Agenda 

 

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

 

10.00 am, Tuesday, 8th February, 2022 

 

Virtual Meeting - via Microsoft Teams 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome to watch the live 

webcast on the Council’s website. 

The law allows the Integration Joint Board to consider some issues in private. Any 

items under “Private Business” will not be published, although the decisions will be 

recorded in the minute. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  rachel.gentleman@edinburgh.gov.uk / matthew.brass@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 529 4107 

 

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board - 8 February 

2022 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

1. Welcome and Apologies 

1.1   Including the order of business and any additional items of 

business notified to the Chair in advance. 

 

2. Declaration of Interests 

2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 

the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

3. Deputations 

3.1   If any.  

4. Minutes 

4.1   Minute of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board of 7 December 

2021 submitted for approval as a correct record 

5 - 8 

5. Forward Planning 

5.1   Rolling Actions Log 9 - 10 

6. Items of Strategy 

6.1   System Pressures Update Briefing – Report by the Chief Officer, 

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

11 - 16 

6.2   Joint Inspection of Older People's Services - Progress Update – 

Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

17 - 116 

6.3   'Working Together' - The Inaugural Workforce Strategy – Report 

by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

117 - 146 

7. Items of Performance 



 

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board - 8 February 

2022 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

7.1   Finance Update – Report by the Chief Finance Officer, Edinburgh 

Integration Joint Board 

147 - 156 

8. Items of Governance 

8.1   Code of Conduct for Members of the Edinburgh Integration Joint 

Board – Report by the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

Standards Officer 

157 - 178 

9. Committee Updates 

9.1   Committee Update Report – Report by Chief Officer, Edinburgh 

Integration Joint Board – submitted for noting 

179 - 180 

9.2   Draft minute of the Strategic Planning Group of 15 December 

2021 – submitted for noting 

181 - 184 

 

Board Members 

Voting 

Councillor Ricky Henderson (Chair), Angus McCann (Vice-Chair), Councillor Robert 

Aldridge, Siddharthan Chandran, Councillor Phil Doggart, Councillor George Gordon, 

Councillor Melanie Main, Peter Murray and Richard Williams. 

Non-Voting 

Bridie Ashrowan, Colin Beck, Carl Bickler, Heather Cameron, Christine Farquhar, 

Helen FitzGerald, Ruth Hendery, Kirsten Hey, Jackie Irvine, Grant Macrae, Jacqui 

Macrae, Ian McKay, Allister McKillop, Moira Pringle, Judith Proctor and Emma Reynish. 

Webcasting of Integration Joint Board meetings 

Please note that that this meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via 

the Council’s internet site – at the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part 

of the meeting is being filmed. 

The Integration Joint Board is a joint data controller with the City of Edinburgh Council 

and NHS Lothian under the General Data Protection Regulation and Data Protection 

Act 2018. This meeting will be broadcast to fulfil our public task obligation to enable 

members of the public to observe the democratic process. Data collected during this 

webcast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s published policy. 



 

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board - 8 February 

2022 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

If you have any queries regarding this and, in particular, if you believe that use and/or 

storage of any particular information would cause, or be likely to cause, substantial 

damage or distress to any individual, please contact Committee Services 

(committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk). 

 

 

mailto:committee.services@edinburgh.gov.uk


                                                                                                     

 
Minute 
 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 
 

10.00am, Tuesday 7 December 2021 
Held remotely by video conference 
 
Present: 

Board Members: 

Councillor Ricky Henderson (Chair), Angus McCann (Vice-Chair), 

Councillor Robert Aldridge, Bridie Ashrowan, Colin Beck, Carl 

Bickler, Heather Cameron, Councillor Phil Doggart, Christine 

Farquhar, Helen FitzGerald, Councillor George Gordon, Ruth 

Hendery, Kirsten Hey, Martin Hill, Jackie Irvine, Grant Macrae, Jacqui 

Macrae, Councillor Melanie Main, Allister McKillop, Moira Pringle, 

Judith Proctor and Richard Williams.  

Officers: Tom Cowan, Tony Duncan, Rachel Gentleman and Mike 

Massaro-Mallinson. 

Apologies: Siddharthan Chandran, Ian McKay and Peter Murray 

 

1. Minutes 

The minute of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board of 26 October 2021 was 

submitted for approval as a correct record. 

Decision 

To approve the minute as a correct record. 

2. Rolling Actions Log 

The Rolling Actions Log updated to December 2021 was presented. 

Decision 

1) To agree to close the following actions 

• Action 1(1) – Membership Proposal – Referral from 

• the Strategic Planning Group 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.1



2) To otherwise note the remaining outstanding action.  

(Reference – Rolling Actions Log, submitted) 

3. System Pressures 

The Board was provided with an update on the current pressures on health and 

social care services and the action being taken to alleviate these. The report 

informed the Board of funding received from the Scottish Government and of a 

decision taken by the Chief Officer under urgency provisions to help address some 

of these pressures.   

Decision 

1) To note the significant, ongoing pressure and demand being seen within the 

Health and Care System. 

2) To welcome the additional funding which acknowledged these pressures, 

being allocated by the Scottish Government. 

3) To approve the high level allocation plan as set out in paragraph 17 of the 

report by the Chief Officer. 

4) To homologate the decision made under urgency in relation to progressing 

the purchase of interim care provision and in terms of progressing the One 

Edinburgh approach. 

5) To note that the detailed paper on which the decision was made under 

Urgency by the Chief Officer, Chair and Vice-Chair of the IJB was provided 

separately under the private agenda, given the commercial sensitivities 

contained within it. 

6) To agree through the Chief Officer to issue relevant Directions to both NHS 

Lothian and the City of Edinburgh Council in relation to the delivery of actions 

under this spend. 

(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board, 

submitted) 

4. Proposal to Continue Programme Management Resource 

within the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership 

Approval was sought to establish a permanent project management structure and 

associated funding to support this as part of the organisational change programme in 

the Health and Social Care Partnership. If agreed, it was proposed that further details 

would be submitted to the Board at a later date.  

Decision 

1) To agree in principle to the establishment of a permanent function of 

programme/project management within EHSCP as part of wider organisational 

change. 

Page 6



2) To agree in principle that recurring funding was made available to support this 

proposal. Funding options in the short term were being scoped. In the longer 

term, costs were expected to be met over time through the savings generated 

by the delivery of major change projects. 

3) To note that further detail on the proposal would come back to the EIJB in due 

course. 

(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board, 

submitted) 

5. Finance Update 

An update on the financial performance of delegated services for the first seven 

months of the year was presented to the Board. The Chief Finance Officer gave 

significant assurance that a breakeven position would be achieved for 2021/22 and 

proposed an uplift to contracts for frontline staff. 

Decision 

1) To note the financial position for delegated services to 31 October 2021. 

2) To agree to transfer £1m from IJB reserves to partially offset the in-year 

deficit. 

3) To note that, based on the Scottish Government’s confirmation of support, 

that the Chief Finance Officer could offer significant assurance of a 

breakeven position for 2021/22. 

4) To recognise that, despite this assurance, the underlying financial deficit 

would be carried into 2022/23. 

5) To agree to uplift contracts to allow frontline staff working in social care to be 

paid a minimum of £10.02 per hour and issue a direction to the City of 

Edinburgh Council. 

(Reference – Report by the Chief Finance Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint 

Board, submitted) 

6. Committee Updates 

A report provided an update on the work of the IJB Committees which had met 

since the last Board meeting. In addition to the summary report, draft minutes of 

the Strategic Planning Group, Audit and Assurance Committee and Clinical and 

Care Governance Committee were submitted for noting. 

Decision 

To note the update and the draft minutes of the IJB Committees.  

7. System Pressures – Decisions Required Under Urgency 

The Board agreed to consider the report, notice of which had been given at the start of 

the meeting, on the grounds of urgency under Standing Order 7.4 of the Edinburgh 

Page 7



Integration Joint Board Standing Orders. The Board further agreed to consider the item 

in private as it fell under the provisions set out under Standing Order 5.9.2 in terms of 

commercial sensitivity.   

The Board was provided with a copy of the report submitted to the Chair and Vice-

Chair by the Chief Officer seeking support to take a decision under urgency 

provisions.  

Decision  

To note the decision taken under urgency provisions by the Chief Officer in 

consultation with the Chair and Vice-Chair.  

(Reference – Report by the Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board, 

submitted) 

 

Page 8



Edinburgh Integration Joint Board – February 2022        Page 1 of 2 

Rolling Actions Log 
February 2022 

No Agenda item Subject Date  Action Action Owner Expected 
completion 
date 

Comments 

1 Membership 
Proposal – 
Referral from 
the Strategic 
Planning Group 

 28-09-21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1) To agree to continue the report to 
the October 2021 Board meeting 
in order to seek further information 
on how the EACC would involve, 
represent and communicate to 
communities throughout 
Edinburgh. 

 

 

Service Director, 
Strategic 
Planning 

October 
2021 

 

Ongoing  

 

 

 

Closed December 
2021 

The EACC referral 
report from the SPG is 
to be reconsidered at 
the October EIJB 

Service Director 
Strategy has 
confirmed that the 
EACC represents all 
44 community councils 
in Edinburgh.  A 
steering group is in 
place to ensure 
engagement and 
geographical 
representation 
including expansion 
options as required. 
The EACC holds 
meetings monthly and 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5.1

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s37606/5.1%20-%20Membership%20Proposal%20-%20Referral%20from%20SPG.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s37606/5.1%20-%20Membership%20Proposal%20-%20Referral%20from%20SPG.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s37606/5.1%20-%20Membership%20Proposal%20-%20Referral%20from%20SPG.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s37606/5.1%20-%20Membership%20Proposal%20-%20Referral%20from%20SPG.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s37606/5.1%20-%20Membership%20Proposal%20-%20Referral%20from%20SPG.pdf


Edinburgh Integration Joint Board – February 2022        Page 2 of 2 

No Agenda item Subject Date  Action Action Owner Expected 
completion 
date 

Comments 

 

 

26-10-21 

has established a 
website.   

2) To defer the decision of appointing 
an EACC member to the Strategic 
Planning Group until concerns on 
representation, the EACC 
membership, reporting from the 
SPG to the EACC and the 
contribution the member could 
bring to the SPG were addressed 
and reported back to the Board.  

Service Director 
– Strategic 
Planning 

April 2022 An update on the 
appointment of a 
representative of the 
EACC to the SPG has 
been deferred as a 
result of the decision 
to run a reduced 
agenda due to system 
pressures. 

2 Proposal to 
Continue 
Programme 
Management 
Resource within 
the Edinburgh 
Health and 
Social Care 
Partnership 

 07-12-21 To note that further detail on the proposal 
would come back to the EIJB in due 
course. 

Service Director 
– Strategic 
Planning 

August 
2022 

To be considered as 
part of wider 
organisational review.  

 
 

P
age 10

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s41091/6.2%20Proposal%20to%20Continue%20PMR%20within%20the%20EHSCP.pdf


 
 

1 
 

REPORT  
System Pressures Update Briefing  
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

8 February 2022 

 

Executive Summary  The purpose of this report is to update the Board on the 
system pressures facing the Health and Social Care 
system and mitigating actions being undertaken 

 

Recommendations  It is recommended that the Integration Joint Board (IJB): 
1. Note the significant, ongoing pressure and demand 

being seen within the Health and Care System; 
 

Directions 

Direction to City 
of Edinburgh 
Council, NHS 
Lothian or both 
organisations  

No direction required  
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council   
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian  
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS 
Lothian 

 

  
 

Report Circulation 

1. This report has not been considered elsewhere. 

Main Report 

Context 
2. At previous meetings, the Board has received reports on the system pressures 

faced by the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership, with a detailed 

report received in December outlining the extent of the current system 

pressures affecting the whole of the Health and Social Care system. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6.1



 
 

2 
 

3. Pressures in the system have been much reported upon and the Edinburgh 

Health and Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) has maintained the level of risk 

arising from these pressures at Critical. 

4. This paper will provide a brief update on the key challenges faced over the past 

two months and an update on the activity we, and the wider sector, have most 

recently undertaken to address these continuing, serious challenges. 

 

Update on System Pressures 
5. Since the report to the IJB on 7 December 2021, the whole health and social 

care system has remained under intense pressure. This has included: 

a. High levels of people delayed in hospital. While the number of people 

delayed has plateaued (See tables 1 and 2 below), December was a 

particularly challenging month, with higher numbers, due to limited 

capacity of community care at home providers and our own internal 

Homecare and Reablement services blocked, also due to no flow through 

into external community provision. 
 

Table 1: Number of delays across all hospitals Table 2: Number of delays across acute 

 
 

b. Due to staffing shortages within community care at home, many 

organisations had to focus their limited resources on the delivery of 

essential visits only, working with families and carers to ensure that 

people’s care needs were met. A loss of staff to their organisations, 

several community care at home providers were unable to cope with their 

existing care commitments and requested that the Partnership find 

alternative care providers for their service users. Between September and 

Page 12



 
 

3 
 

December, alternative arrangements needed to be found for 83 people, 

totalling almost 1,400 hours. This was a distressing time for many people 

and their families, who had alternative arrangements to be sought for 

quickly. It also placed significant demands on already stretched resources 

within Assessment and Care Management, Homecare, Care Home and 

Community Nursing services who had to prioritise liaising with families, 

other providers and the delivery of care to ensure that people received the 

care required. 

c. From December, we have seen significant impact of covid outbreaks 

within care homes and as a result, increasing numbers closed to 

admissions. 
Table 3: Number of care homes closed due to covid outbreak, September 2021 – January 2022 

 

d. High levels of request for people requiring a social care assessment of 

need, coupled with a lack of capacity due to staff vacancies and inability 

to recruit. As a result of our inability to meet the level of demand, our 

waiting lists continue to grow, and people are waiting longer to receive an 

assessment of their needs. 

Actions taken to address the system challenges 

6. Priority actions to address the system challenges have built on existing activity 

reported in previous meetings. Particular actions to note are: 

a. In December, the Partnership stepped up to daily Incident Management 

Meetings (IMT), chaired by the Chief Officer, ensuring Executive oversight 

Page 13



 
 

4 
 

of the daily position, urgent action required and escalation into NHS Gold 

Command and the Council’s CIMT. 

b. In line with the Scottish Government’s expectation, there has been 

procurement of interim beds for those people delayed in hospital while 

waiting on a package of care or a permanent bed that is currently 

unavailable. By 12 January 2022, 67 moves to an interim bed had taken 

place. 

c. We have accelerated the implementation of our One Edinburgh approach, 

with support from PWC, which will optimise the capacity available within 

our existing Homecare service and community care at home providers.  In 

December, a data enabled ‘Command Centre’ to enable active crisis 

management was established. This Command Centre ensures we have a 

view of critical data in order to make informed decisions, allocate resource 

based on need and maximise capacity. This has focused initially on the 

internal Homecare service with engagement now taking place with 

community care at home providers. 

d. We are working with Edinburgh College to recruit students to deliver care 

via the NHS Lothian Staff Bank. Uptake was low prior to Christmas 

however a focus on targeting students on their return from festive leave is 

now taking place. 

e. Support is being provided from the City of Edinburgh Council where staff 

in ‘non-essential’ operational service areas are being asked to move to 

Health and Social Care for 12 weeks to support the direct delivery of care 

and supporting functions. Work is being undertaken to support staff 

moving into the Partnership, ensuring that they are appropriately trained 

and supported to safely deliver the required roles and care. 

f. Under Urgency, the Chief Officer agreed with the IJB Chairperson to 

suspend IJB Committees, creating Executive and senior capacity to 

prioritise the management of the significant system pressures. 

g. In response to the Scottish Government’s request for how LRPs can 

support Health and Social Care Partnerships, a response has been 

Page 14



 
 

5 
 

submitted detailing the level of staffing and practical resource required to 

meet existing levels of need. 

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

Financial 

7. A financial plan was outlined in the IJB report of 7 December 2021, which 

officers are continuing to work to and implement. 

Legal / risk implications 

8. We continue to review and update the Partnership and IJB risk registers to 

ensure they appropriately reflect the mitigations in place. 

9. Colleagues are also working closely with the risk teams in the Council and NHS 

Lothian and report through the Partnership Risk Committee.  As a result of the 

continued system pressures, the Partnership has maintained the level of risk 

arising from these pressures at Critical. 

Equality and integrated impact assessment  
10. No separate assessment has been undertaken at this time. 

Environment and sustainability impacts 

11. No separate assessment has been undertaken at this time. 

Quality of care 

12. In common with the global pandemic, the extent of pressures on the HSC 

system is without recent comparable precedent. The underlying causes are 

multi-factorial, the extent to which it could worsen is unknown, and the 

resolution is very challenging. It requires concerted and resolute action across 

a number of fronts.  Our response will always take account of the latest 

standards and guidance and we will continue to run our services in ways which 

minimise the risk of harm to people.  It should be recognised however that, 

during these unprecedented times, there are likely to be occasions where the 

level of the demand we are facing temporarily overwhelms our ability to run 

services safely. We will continue to ensure that we are clearly communicating 

that fact, and any available options to mitigate the impact, to our service users, 

Page 15



 
 

6 
 

patients and the wider community so that they may assist in preventative and 

supportive measures where possible. 

Consultation 

13. As outlined elsewhere in this report 

Report Author 

 

Judith Proctor  

Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

 

Contact for further information:  

Name: Mike Massaro-Mallinson 
Email: Mike.Massaro-Mallinson@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk Telephone: 07860595382 
  

 

Appendices 

None  
  
  
  

 

 

Page 16



 
 

1 
 

REPORT  

Joint Inspection of Older People’s Services – Progress Update 

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

8 February 2022 

Executive 
Summary  

1. This report provides details of the improvement 

activity undertaken by the Edinburgh Health and 

Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) in response to 

the Joint Inspection of Older People’s Services in 

2016. The report sets out the approach taken to 

provide evidence of improvement, key 

improvements delivered and the formal feedback 

from the Joint Inspection Team on their 

assessment of progress.  

2. The Joint Inspection Team has noted that overall 

progress has been positive. There are a limited 

number of areas where further work is required 

and plans are in place to deliver on these as part 

of the EHSCP transformation programme, or 

within business as usual. The Joint Inspection 

Team has confirmed that no further formal 

review/scrutiny action is planned and as such, this 

report concludes activity on the Joint Inspection 

Improvement Plan.   

 

Recommendations  It is recommended that the EIJB notes: 
 
1. The positive findings of the review and the 

remaining outstanding actions; and 
  

2. That this concludes all further review/scrutiny in 
respect of this inspection.  
 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6.2



 
 

2 
 

Directions 

Direction to City 
of Edinburgh 
Council, NHS 
Lothian or both 
organisations  

  

No direction required ✓ 

Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council   

Issue a direction to NHS Lothian  

Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS 
Lothian 

 

 

Report Circulation 

1. This report has not been circulated to any other group or committees.  

Main Report 

Context and Background  

2. The Care Inspectorate and Healthcare Improvement Scotland jointly carried 

out an inspection of services for older people in the city of Edinburgh in 2016 

and published the report in May 2017. A subsequent progress review was 

published in December 2018. The reports are available on both scrutiny 

bodies’ websites. 

 

3. The purpose of the original joint inspection was to find out how well the 

partnership achieved good personal outcomes for older people and their 

unpaid carers. As important weaknesses were found and 17 

recommendations for improvement made, a further review was undertaken in 

2018 to check progress.  

 

4. Overall, that review concluded the partnership had made limited progress in 

meeting the inspection recommendations. As a result, a further progress 

review was scheduled during 2019/20. This was moved forward to 2020/21 in 

response to the additional pressures brought about by the impact of the 

Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

Process for Reviewing Progress  

 

5. In late 2020, in acknowledgement of the difficulties presented by the Covid-

19 pandemic and the fact that the Joint Inspection Team was unable to carry 

out face-to-face visits to review evidence of progress, an alternative approach 

was agreed. The Joint Inspection Team suggested a more informal and 

collaborative approach, holding a series of online meetings with officers 

Page 18



 
 

3 
 

involved in improvement activity relating to the 17 recommendations, to 

highlight progress made to date and set out future plans. This approach 

further built on the partnership working which has already been established 

within our strategic transformation programme, which has seen members of 

the Care Inspectorate and Health Improvement Scotland assume roles as 

transformation board members, helping to shape and deliver major change 

and improvement. The Joint Inspection Team has described the process as 

“thoughtful, thorough and collaborative”.   

 

6. A series of online meetings were held between January and April 2021, 

involving the Joint Inspection Team and officers responsible for improvement 

activity. These meetings allowed for in-depth discussion about improvement 

action against each of the recommendations and future plans for further 

improving or sustaining progress.  

  

7. Following the meetings, written statements were developed for each of the 17 

recommendations setting out the improvement journey to date, key successes 

and the future plans for maintaining and further improving performance. These 

statements, along with a significant volume of supporting evidence, were 

submitted to the Joint Inspection Team in late June 2021. The collated 

statements are attached as Appendix 1 and demonstrate the wide range of 

improvement achieved across older people’s services and beyond. The 

EHSCP, and Joint Inspection Team, commend the commitment of teams 

involved in providing the significant evidence, demonstrating improvements 

and ongoing developments. 

 

8. Between June and October 2021, the Joint Inspection Team reviewed 

evidence provided to formalise their assessment of the progress made by the 

EHSCP. A meeting was held between the Joint Inspection Team and the 

Executive Management Team of the EHSCP on 27 October, to discuss 

findings. The Joint Inspection Team then provided a formal written report 

setting out their response. This is attached as Appendix 2. 

 

9. A briefing note was circulated to EIJB members on 9 November 2021 setting 

out details of the self-evaluation and the findings of the Joint Inspection Team.  

 

Joint Inspection Team Assessment of Progress  

 

10. The Joint Inspection Team has noted that overall, positive progress has been 

made. The report acknowledges that, since the progress review of 2018, 

senior leaders in the partnership have driven forward the change agenda and 

Page 19



 
 

4 
 

invested resources to progress strategic planning, which had previously lacked 

vision, direction, and pace. A positive shift has been noted, from a reactionary 

to a more planned and structured approach. 

 

11. The EIJB Strategic Plan 2019 – 2022 sets out clearly the strategic ambitions to 

create a high-quality, sustainable health and social care system for the city. A 

wide-ranging and ambitious transformation programme has been established 

as the key mechanism to deliver on this strategic intent. The transformation 

programme is structured around the key pillars of our Edinburgh Wellbeing 

Pact, Home First ethos and 3 Conversations approach. We have a clear and 

stated focus on early intervention and prevention, shifting the balance of care 

from acute to community settings, supporting individuals to build better lives 

and developing and equipping our workforce to provide quality supports and 

services. Our transformation programme underpins the improvement activity 

that was required in response to the Joint Inspection of Older People’s 

Services.  

 

12. The Joint Inspection Team has highlighted a number of specific areas where 

positive progress has been evidenced. These include:  

• Making a significant investment in improving the approach to engagement 

and consultation with stakeholders. 

• Developing new approaches to early intervention and prevention. 

• Decommissioning the interim care arrangements provided in Gylemuir 

House. 

• Developing and implementing the Carer Strategy (2019-2022). 

• Investing in support areas identified by carers. 

• Improving access to diagnosis of dementia and post diagnostic support. 

Streamlining the falls pathway, with enhanced access to specialist support 

and improved delivery of falls prevention and response. 

• Reviewing and improving governance arrangements in support of a more 

cohesive and integrated approach to quality assurance and supporting 

improvement. 

• Updating the Strategic Needs Analysis (2015), consulting on and 

implementing the Strategic Plan (2019-2022) and progressing with and 

investing in the Transformation Programme. 

Page 20



 
 

5 
 

• Making improvements to systems and processes which support risk 

assessments, management plans and training around adult support and 

protection and non-protection risks.  

• Gathering base line data in support of a workforce plan and identifying 

areas for improvement. 

• Implementing new approaches to assessment and care management, 

strengthening support to practitioners, and reducing waiting times for 

assessment and access to services. 

• Improving links with voluntary partners.  

13. The Joint Inspection Team has also highlighted areas, in line with EHSCP self-

evaluation, where some additional work is still required to ensure that the original 

recommendations are satisfied. These include:  

• Development of a market facilitation strategy. 

• Ensuring adequate resource for ongoing transformation and improvement. 

• Embedding of fully integrated quality assurance and improvement 

processes 

• Effective management of social care review waiting lists.  

14. Plans are in place to ensure that these outstanding actions are addressed, with 

most being included within the EHSCP transformation programme.  

• The market facilitation strategy will form part of the new Strategic Plan, 

which is due for publication in March 2022.  

• A report is due to be submitted to the EIJB in December 2021 setting out 

the case for the establishment of permanent project management resource 

to support major change and transformation.  

• Further work is planned to embed integrated quality assurance processes 

and an action plan will be developed for this.  

• Social care review waiting lists remain challenging, particularly in light of 

current system pressures. However, new approaches to managing this are 

being trialled as part of the 3 Conversations project.  

15. The Joint Inspection Team has confirmed that this assessment draws to a close 

the original inspection of 2016 and that no further formal progress 

review/scrutiny activity will take place in relation to this.   

 

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

Page 21



 
 

6 
 

Financial 

16. There are no direct financial implications arising from the content of this report.  
 

Legal / risk implications 

17. There are no direct legal/risk implications arising from the content of this report.  
 

Equality and integrated impact assessment  

18. There are no direct equalities issues arising from the content of this report.  
 

Environment and sustainability impacts 

19. There are no direct environmental or sustainability impacts arising from the 
content of this report.  

Quality of care 

20. The considerable progress made in relation to the Joint Inspection of Older 
People’s Services has resulted in significant improvements in quality of care 
across a wide range of services.   
 

Consultation 

21. Extensive engagement with a wide range of stakeholders was undertaken to 
pull together the evidence provided in the Self Evaluation report. Ongoing 
consultation and engagement forms a key part of the delivery of our Strategic 
Plan and transformation programme.  
 
 

Report Author 

Judith Proctor 
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 
Judith.Proctor@edinburgh.gov.uk   

Contact for further information:  

Tony Duncan 
Service Director, Strategic Planning  
Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership 
Email: tony.duncan@edinburgh.gov.uk     

 

 

Page 22

mailto:Judith.Proctor@edinburgh.gov.uk
mailto:tony.duncan@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
 

7 
 

Background Reports 

None  
 
 
 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 
 

EHSCP Joint Inspection of Older People’s Services:  Self 
Evaluation Report  

  
Appendix 2  Joint Inspection Team Progress Review Report  
  

 

 

Page 23



1 
 

 

 

 

 

JOINT INSPECTION OF OLDER PEOPLE’S SERVICES 

 

 
JOINT INSPECTION OF OLDER PEOPLE’S SERVICES 

 

SELF-EVALUATION SUMMARY  

JUNE 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



2 
 

Table of Contents  

 

  Page 

1 Forward by the Chief Officer 
 

3-4 

2 Recommendation 1 statement 
 

Involvement, Engagement and Consultation 5-7 

3 Recommendation 2 statement 
 

Early Intervention and Prevention approaches 8-15 

4 Recommendation 3 & 4 statement 
 

Exiting Interim Care and developing 
intermediate care  
 

16-20 

5 Recommendation 5 statement 
 

Enhancing carer identification and supports 21-23 

6 Recommendation 6 statement 
 

Dementia diagnosis and supports 24-28 

7 Recommendation 7 statement 
 

Falls Pathway, prevention and management  29-32 

8 Recommendation 8 statement 
 

Quality Assurance 30-37 

9 Recommendation 9 statement 
 

Market Shaping and Facilitation 38-42 

10 Recommendation 10 statement 
 

Joint Strategic Commissioning Plan 43-45 

11 Recommendation 11 statement 
 

Financial Recovery Plans and Sustainability 46-48 

12 Recommendation 12, 13 & 15 
statement 
 

Accessing services and supports, assessment 
and care planning and self- directed support 

49-53 

13 Recommendation 14 statement 
 

Protection from harm – risk assessments, 
planning and management 

54-55 

14 Recommendation 16 statement 
 

Workforce development strategy  56-61 

15 Recommendation 17 statement 
 

Sustainable Volunteering  62-65 

16 Appendix 1 - Catalogue of 
Supplementary Evidence  
 

 66-69 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



3 
 

 

 

Foreword 

The initial inspection of services for older people, reported in May 2017, identified 17 distinct 

areas where improvement action was required. The follow up progress review of December 

2018, indicated that the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership had made limited 

improvement progress in relation to these recommendations.  

Since then, there has been a notable shift in our approach and we are developing a 

sustainable strengthened position of better relationships, systems, processes, leadership 

and governance. The Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and the Edinburgh Health and 

Social Care Partnership can demonstrate a clear unity of purpose, and shared ownership of 

the challenging agenda faced not only by Edinburgh, but also by other health and social care 

partnerships across Scotland.  

Our Strategic Plan 2019 – 2022 sets out clearly the strategic ambitions of the Edinburgh 

Integration Joint Board to create a high-quality, sustainable health and social care system for 

the city. We have established a wide-ranging and ambitious transformation programme as 

the key mechanism to deliver on our strategic intent. Our transformation programme is 

structured around the key pillars of our Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact, Home First ethos and 3 

Conversations approach. We have a clear and stated focus on early intervention and 

prevention, shifting the balance of care from acute to community settings, supporting 

individuals to build better lives and developing and equipping our workforce to provide 

quality supports and services.  

This report allows us the opportunity to reflect on our improvement journey over recent 

years. There has seen significant change since the original inspection, with a new leadership 

team in place, improved governance and oversight, and a commitment to place people at the 

heart of the planning, commissioning and delivery of services and supports across a 

multitude of services in a complex, integrated environment. These developments have been 

possible through the dedication, commitment and leadership shown by our staff and a wide 

range of partners.   

The Covid-19 pandemic has required us to work flexibly and adapt to changing 

circumstances. Due to the restrictions associated with lockdown, it was not possible for the 

Joint Inspection Team to visit and assess our improvement progress in the same way as 

previously. Instead, we worked with the Joint Inspectors to develop a supportive and 

collaborative approach, which gave the opportunity for reflection and self-evaluation, whilst 

also providing assurance about progress made. This took the form of a series of informative 

discussions between the Joint Inspection Team and key lead managers directly involved in 

the areas across the key recommendations, and was co-ordinated by two senior managers. 

Although new to everyone involved, this approach was considered a valuable, flexible way to 

provide, through good conversations, a more open and supportive environment to explore 

the detail of developments and improvements. It also provided an opportunity to describe the 

more inclusive, transparent and strengthened relationships across the Edinburgh Health and 

Social Care Partnership, our community, voluntary and independent partners, City of 

Edinburgh Council and NHS Lothian, which has led to successes in developing our 

fundamental cohesive approach to the way we work.  

Page 26



4 
 

This document describes our achievements associated with the 17 recommendations of the 

2018 Progress Review, which are supported by our latest and best evidence.  It is evident 

that the environment across the Edinburgh Health and Social care Partnership has changed 

considerably over the last few years, and this period of reflection has allowed us to describe 

progress and demonstrate that we have moved from planning change, to delivering 

improvements against the recommendations. We are realistic about the challenges we face, 

but have confidence that ongoing improvements are placed squarely into our strategic work 

programmes, effectively providing self-assurance that the recommendations can now be 

closed. 

Moving forward, we are confident that our strategic ambitions are well aligned with the 

findings of the recent Independent Review of Adult Social Care and provide the foundation 

for ongoing change and transformation. We are grateful for the ongoing dedication, 

resilience and willingness for continuous improvement shown by all of those involved, across 

our communities, partners who provide valued care and support, and our own teams who 

place the needs of the Edinburgh population at the centre of everything we do.  

 

 

Judith Proctor, Chief Officer  

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



5 
 

 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

1 

The partnership should improve its approach to engagement and consultation with 

stakeholders in relation to: its vision; service redesign; key stages of its transformational 

programme; and its objective in respect of market facilitation.  

  

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Strategic Plan and Transformation 
 
Our Strategic Plan 2019 -2022, published in August 2019, sets out clearly the vision and 
values for the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board and Edinburgh Health and Social Care 
Partnership. The Plan was developed following extensive consultation and engagement 
with citizens, staff and partners. This included “town hall” events, focus groups, staff 
briefings and engagement sessions with our partners. We have continued to build our 
engagement approach and in November 2020, the EIJB held 2 public engagement 
sessions, focusing on our transformation plans and efforts to improve the experience and 
outcomes for those we support. 
  
Service redesign plans are being taken forward via our transformation programme, which 
was formally launched in February 2020 and has a clear focus on involvement, 
engagement and co-production. Projects have been scoped and developed with a wide 
range of multi-disciplinary stakeholders, with numerous workshop sessions held to gather 
expertise and help inform the shape of the change. New governance boards have been 
established to oversee the progress of the transformation programme, with board 
members drawn from across the EHSCP, our partners in City of Edinburgh Council and 
NHS Lothian, third and independent sectors, Care Inspectorate, Healthcare Improvement 
Scotland, further education institutes and unions. The transformation programme has 
helped to strengthen relationships with a wide range of stakeholders, offering our partners 
across a range of sectors and organisations, the opportunity to shape and influence the 
change.  
 
We are now in a new planning cycle with the intent to publish a refreshed strategic plan for 
2022-25 by March 2022. A consultation programme began in February 2021 and will run 
throughout the year.  The first phase was directed at staff groups and ran until late April.  
From May to July the focus is on the Third and Independent sectors.  Further engagement 
will follow to consult on the initial draft which will be presented to the Strategic Planning 
Group in August 2021. 
 

 
 
1.1 – Strategic 
Plan 2019-2022 
(see link) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 –1.5 
Transformation 
programme 
definition 
documents 

Communications and Engagement 
 
In April 2020, the EHSCP recruited to a new position of communications and engagement 
manager. This has provided additional capacity to strengthen our approach to engaging 
with public and stakeholders.  
 
Since the 2018 progress review, the EHSCP has developed its own branding and logo and 
a dedicated website has been created, independent of the City of Edinburgh Council and 

 
 
 
 
 
1.6 – EIJB 
public 

Page 28

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Strategic-Plan-2019-2022-1.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-ijb/


6 
 

NHS Lothian. We have stepped up our use of social media to engage with partners and 
the public. We have held 2 successful public engagement sessions to give citizens and 
partners the opportunity to actively engage with EIJB members.  
 
Weekly newsletters (daily during the first wave of the pandemic) from the Chief Officer to 
all staff have provided opportunities to ensure widespread awareness and understanding 
of our strategic priorities and transformation projects. We have provided information and 
updates on our transformation programme to EVOC, our third sector interface, to allow 
them to engage more widely with their third sector partners. Thrive newsletters are issued 
on a monthly basis to a wide range of stakeholders, providing information, advice and 
support.  
 
A communications and engagement strategy for the EIJB was presented to the Strategic 
Planning Group, (SPG), in May 2021. A second EIJB public facing event will take place in 
November 2021. 
 

engagement 
sessions output 
 
1.7 – sample 
Chief Officer 
newsletters 
1.8 – sample 
Thrive 
newsletters  
 
 
1.9 Draft 
Communications 
strategy 

Edinburgh Pact and Community Mobilisation 
 
Our work to develop the Edinburgh Pact has involved extensive engagement with a range 
of stakeholders and citizens. This has included a public survey, interviews with city leaders 
and focus groups with staff and partners. The feedback has been drawn together to inform 
the approach we will take to developing our Pact and the new relationship of co-production 
and partnership which we will embed.  
 
Our community mobilisation project is one of the key examples of the enactment of our 
Edinburgh Pact. A workshop session on 27 January 2021 (see 1.10) saw over 140 
attendees come together to begin the process of shaping a new, radical approach to 
community support and investment. The approach will see the replacement of our 
traditional grants programme, with a more innovative and collaborative funding mechanism 
for local priorities and will explore approaches such as 20 Minute Neighbourhoods and 
anchor organisations and networks. A further event exploring possibilities for the 
establishment of anchor organisations took place on 24 March 2021(see 1.11).  
 
A formal report to the EIJB was approved in April 2021, setting out a clear plan for our 
community mobilisation work going forward. We are working in close partnership with our 
third sector colleagues to deliver on this.  
 

 
1.10 – 
Edinburgh Pact 
engagement 
summary 
 
 
1.11 – “Art of the 
Possible” event 
report 
 
1.12 – 
“Anchoring our 
Thinking” event 
report 
 
1.13 – EIJB 
report, April 
2021, 
Community 
Mobilisation 

Care at Home Contract 
 
A key element of our transformation programme is the development of a new relationship 
with care at home providers within Edinburgh, as part of the broader redesign of home-
based care. We have begun a process of consultation to deliver a new, fit for the future 
contract for care at home services for over 65s, based on co-production and genuine 
collaboration. A series of co-production events took place throughout December 2020 and 
January 2021, setting out our vision for the future of care at home services and inviting 
providers to get involved. Nine providers have since volunteered to work with us to 
develop the “One Edinburgh” Charter. Engagement and consultation with people who use 
the service will be a key focus of the next stage of our work.  
 
The approach being taken to develop the new over 65s contract is a key element of our 
market facilitation plan. We have not yet developed a formal market facilitation strategy – 
currently our focus is on understanding the additional challenges that suppliers face as a 
result of Covid-19 and working to support them during these difficult times whilst looking 
ahead to a more innovative and collaborative relationship. The market facilitation strategy 

 
 
1.14 – Home 
Based Care 
consultation 
summary 
 
 

Page 29

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33361/6.3%20The%20Edinburgh%20Pact%20-%20Formulation%20to%20Enactment.pdf


7 
 

will be taken forward as part of the development of the new Strategic Plan, with a first draft 
targeted for August 2021.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Significant progress has been made in relation to this recommendation. Robust plans are in place for our 
transformation programme and strategic planning process, involving a wide range of stakeholders. We have 
strengthened the identity of the EIJB and EHSCP, with recognisable branding and a new website. 
Transformation projects are being shaped with the input and expertise of our staff and partners. Plans are in 
place to engage widely in the production of a market facilitation strategy as part of the development of a 
refreshed Strategic Plan. Our focus going forward will be to increase and improve the collection and use of 
feedback from citizens and service users to inform further change.   
 
There is a high level of confidence that appropriate improvement progress has been made and that 
appropriate plans are in place going forward to allow this recommendation to be closed.  
 
 

Page 30



8 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021–PROGRESS 

EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

2 

The partnership should further develop and implement approaches to early intervention 

and prevention services to support older people to remain in their own homes and help 

avoid hospital admissions.  

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Transformation Programme – Conversation 1: Listen and Connect 
The Transformation Programme was launched in February 2020 and is underpinned by our 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board’s Strategic Plan. The programme is working to revolutionise 
what we do, so that more people can access the support they need to live healthy and 
independent lives.  
 
Our Transformation Programme is focused on four key areas, and the first programme is 
‘Conversation 1: Listen and Connect’. Programme one is designed to explore people’s needs 
and connect them to personal, family and community sources of support, this programme will 
therefore focus on prevention and early intervention at its broadest sense, looking to connect 
people back into their communities. 
 
We want to put people in control of their own health and wellbeing and empower them with the 
resources, tools and support needed to live well. Conversation 1 is delivering a number of 
projects which are aimed at improving the quality of our interactions with individuals and their 
families to limit the need for formal health and care services. We are making a sustained shift 
towards a preventative agenda, working with our partners to build community capacity and 
resilience,  and supporting people to use their assets and strengths to remain independent for 
as long as possible.  
 
Some of the key programme workstreams are set out below and within the attached 
Programme Definition Document at 2.1.  
 

 
2.1 – 
Conversation 
1 
Programme 
Definition 
Document 

Three Conversations 
 
EHSCP are the first in Scotland to embrace and implement the Three Conversations (3Cs) 
model at scale, as a strategic and cultural framework. 3Cs has been chosen for Edinburgh 
because it underpins and supports our intent, strategic priorities, vision and values. It is based 
on working differently, to achieve improved outcomes for people and families, working in a 
more preventative and personal way. Rather than focusing on the function of care 
management and its processes, 3 C’s focuses on having “three conversations” effectively. It 
supports staff to work collaboratively with people as the experts in their own lives. It 
recognises the power of connecting people to the strengths and assets of community 
networks, and the necessity to work dynamically with people in crisis. Staff are encouraged to 
think creatively about how to support people to deliver improved outcomes. 
 
The roll-out of 3 C’s began in summer 2019. The impact of Covid in early 2020 caused an 
initial period of uncertainty and slowed progress between March 2019 and June 2020, as the 
Partnership adjusted to pandemic restrictions and some staff were redeployed. Despite this,  
the innovation sites rose to the challenge of providing services within the lockdown situation.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



9 
 

During the response to COVID-19, we have received feedback from staff that the 3C model 
has provided a strong foundation for continuing to engage with and support individuals and 
their families.  
 
To date, the 3C project has delivered 11 innovation sites including approximately 100 staff, we 
have additional sites going live in quarter 1 of 2021/22,  and our first NHS sites are being 
scoped. Initial findings from the progress report commissioned in March 2020 revealed that: 

• we are responding very quickly, the average wait to see a health and social care 
worker reduced from 40 days to 3.8 days 

• we no longer start with a presumption that paid for support is the only or best 
response, and as a result significantly fewer people require paid for or formal long-term 
services, yet still have needs met 

• we are more effective and working in a more person-centred way by connecting 
people to wider support; 

 
We supported 71% of new people at Conversation 1 level of prevention and early intervention,  
without the need to progress to formal service provision. Only 14% of new people required 
paid-for services, compared to 24% previously. Most teams managed to operate without a 
waiting list through the period under evaluation, and staff reported enjoying working in a more 
collaborative way, by eradicating formal referrals within teams, and through the use of team 
huddles and reflective practice sessions.   
 
As we continue to move into Phase 2 we are finding early results that are consistent with our 
initial Phase 1 results, and will continue to improve our data quality and monitoring.  
 
The project will be extended into NHS areas of the Partnership throughout 2021/22, with the 
aim of proving the effectiveness of the approach across both health and social care services. 
Work is underway to embed, and sustain the 3Cs approach into the way we do business, 
including the appointment of a 3Cs Operations Manager post. 
 
Implementing the 3C’s approach is leading to a fundamental change in practice, enabling staff 
to respond more quickly, provide support that is needed on a personal basis,  rather than 
being systems led, and is leading towards a fundamental change in our organisational culture 
and a focus on the strengths and resilience of individual, families and communities. The 
“stories of difference” included at 2.4, show some of the impacts of the approach on 
individuals we have supported. We have also recently commenced simple satisfaction surveys 
for the people we work with and, over time, this will give a better indication of the outcomes 
and experience of the people we support.  
 
Fortnightly governance and engagement meetings have been established to oversee the 
implementation of the model. Representatives from frontline teams attend along with 
members of the Executive Management Team and a representative from our third sector 
interface, the Edinburgh Voluntary Organisations Council (EVOC).  Through close working 
with EVOC we recently held a joint event where innovation sites and 3rd sector organisations 
were brought together to identify opportunities to better make better connections, and support 
sites to find suitable community resources for people they are supporting.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2.2 and 2.3 – 
3 C’s Phase 
1 Evaluation 
Report and 
Phase 2 
Progress 
report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.4 – 3 C’s 
“Stories of 
Difference” 
 
2.5 – 3C 
Citizen 
survey 
responses 
 
 
2.6 – EVOC 
event 
summary – 
see link 
 

Community Mobilisation 
 
The Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact will be an informal agreement between the Partnership and 
everyone who lives and works in Edinburgh. It will help to support our ambition to create 
healthy communities, empowered by local services and organisations. We want to reshape 
how we think about health and social care, how we support one another and work together to 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32

https://www.evoc.org.uk/wordpress/wp-content/media/2021/04/Report-on-Innovation-Sites-Event-SM3-edited.pdf


10 
 

deliver support and care across the city in a sustainable and joined up way.  We want to build 
thriving communities in Edinburgh and embrace the opportunity to create a different type of 
relationship with residents, communities and organisations across the city. 
 
In June 2020 we began a dialogue with citizens, staff from the Partnership, staff from partner 
agencies, communities of interest, community planning partners and interested stakeholders.  
We used different approaches including public survey, photovoice, facilitated meetings, in 
depth interviews and focus groups to ensure our reach was wide. From all the conversations 
to date we identified 6 emerging themes: Shared Purpose; Relationships; Community 
Mobilisation; Agility; Radical Transformation; Measuring and Evidencing change.  The Pact is 
underpinned by a shared common purpose: to achieve and maximise the wellbeing of our 
citizens. 
 
We are now moving to enactment of the Wellbeing Pact through a 3-year Community 
Mobilisation and commissioning plan, looking at whole system investment in an area, 
stimulating activities across local organisations and working collaboratively to support and 
fund local need in a sustainable way. We will take a place-based approach to understand 
need and will look to define the role of anchor organisations and networks, the 20-minute 
neighbourhood, and community wealth building to support this.  
 
In order to shape what Community Mobilisation might look like for Edinburgh, we have held a 
number of events.  On 27 January “The Art of the Possible” stakeholder event took place 
online.  This was set up to enable deeper conversations around a number of the radical ideas 
about community wealth building, 20-minute neighbourhoods and community anchor 
organisations. We had 162 attendees at this event, representing an incredible range and 
diversity of organisations across the city.  
 
Building on the conversations from the Art of the Possible event, a further stakeholder event 
was held on 24 March in partnership with EVOC focusing on what people wanted community 
anchor organisations to be and importantly what they didn’t want them to be. This event 
signalled the beginning of the coproduction of community anchor organisations in Edinburgh. 
We had 140 people attend.   
 
3-year plan 
The Community Mobilisation Plan has a number of key milestones whilst recognising that as 
we continue with an active engagement and participation programme more actions may be 
identified. Some example high-level milestones within the 3-year plan include: 

- Extending the current grants programme for a further year  
- Co-produce specification for Community Anchor Organisations and Networks 
- Embed Community Navigator roles in localities so support 3Cs and Home First 
- Establish research community of practice 
- Review community projects and programmes  
- Detail specifications of what needs to be delivered in communities against our 

outcome’s framework 

- Embed Anchor Organisations and Networks and see them leading community 
commissioning  

- Research initiatives and additional income generated 
 
As we continue to develop our Community Mobilisation plan, there is a clear and compelling 
case for person and community centred approaches to health and wellbeing, and we will 
continue to work with people across Edinburgh to empower individuals and communities to 
take more control.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2.7 Outputs 
from Pact 
Engagement 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.8 – Write 
up of Art of 
the Possible 
Event 
 
 
2.9 – 
“Anchoring 
our Thinking” 
event write 
up 
 
 
2.10 – 
Edinburgh 
Pact EIJB 
Report – 
April 2021 
 
 
 
 

Page 33

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33361/6.3%20The%20Edinburgh%20Pact%20-%20Formulation%20to%20Enactment.pdf


11 
 

Digital project in development  
 
The Transformation Programme recognises the huge opportunities presented by digital 
technologies and services to support people to remain independent for longer. Our overall 
objective is to increase and improve our use of digital solutions to deliver services, technology, 
and equipment in a more coherent, joined up, and person-centred way, providing citizens and 
staff with the necessary tools, products, processes, devices and infrastructure to support 
people to remain at home for longer and put them in control of their health and wellbeing.  
 
The programme had initially scoped two separate projects – one with a focus on digital 
technology to support citizens and one with a focus on digital technology to support our staff 
and improve business capabilities. In recent weeks, we have identified risks with alignment 
and overlap between these two pieces of work. As such, we are working to coordinate the 
activities across both and combine into one overarching project with clear and consistent 
leadership. We will also work to align our priorities and activities with the Scottish Government 
Digital Health and Care Strategy, which makes it clear that we should be providing staff and 
citizens with the necessary tools, products, devices and infrastructure to provide digital 
capability to access, update and meaningfully use HSC information. 
 
The digital projects are at an early stage and will be a key focus of the transformation 
programme in the coming months.  
 

 

ATEC 24 Prevention Support 
 
In addition to the Digital Transformation work, we continue to make improvements and 
develop innovative service models through the delivery of our existing digital and telecare 
services.  
 
Throughout the pandemic, our Assistive Technology and Enabling Care (ATEC 24) service, 
with community equipment, community alarm and response,  and internal sheltered housing 
functions,  undertook pro-active, outbound wellbeing calls to those in receipt of telecare 
services. We worked with the Vulnerable and Shielded Persons initiative and our own 
ATEC24 home-working Sheltered Housing Support Workers and Call Handlers to carry out 
proactive calls.  Between April 2020 and June 2020, 15 advisors/ staff carried out 18,281 
wellbeing calls to 7,000 citizens, with an average call duration of 30-40 minutes. As Lockdown 
continued, the duration of the calls increased.  
 
We were able to identify people who would like regular telephone contact and referred them 
on to different community services.  As part of the calls, we asked the person about their 
general wellbeing, how they were coping with isolation, if they had any immediate practical 
needs, if they were able to maintain physical health. We offered hints and tips to reduce the 
risk of falls and encouraged the person to active their alarm should they need assistance, or 
even just to chat. 

ATEC 24 staff have continued to make regular wellbeing calls to residents in sheltered 
housing, with approximately 38,000 calls logged as at April 2021. These calls have provided a 
vital link for vulnerable or isolated individuals and allowed staff to identify where a further 
referral was required to provide additional support, or where people needed assistance with 
shopping or collection of prescriptions. The calls are focused on using a 3 Conversations 
approach. 

In addition, pro-active work was undertaken by the ATEC 24 team,  through May and June 
2020, to ensure people with dementia, living at home, and who were not already in receipt of 
formal care and support, were contacted, and connected with appropriate onward supports 
where necessary.   A briefing document highlighting a summary and impact on outcomes was 

 
 
 
 
 
 
2.11 – ATEC 
wellbeing 
call stats 
 
2.12 – ATEC 
Covid 
wellbeing 
call script  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.13 – 
Assistive 
Living – pre-
screening 
call script 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



12 
 

presented to Executive Management Team in August 2020, with the calls very much being 
welcomed by families.   

The ATEC 24 service has recently made a successful bid to the Scottish Government for 
funding for a small test of change to further build on this experience, with a view to ensuring it 
is built into the service going forward. The test of change involves ATEC24 working in 
partnership with Care and Repair Edinburgh and is focused on making wellbeing calls to 
people in the following situations:  

• Those identified as at risk of a fall; 

• Those who make frequent contact with the telecare/alarm service but have no formal 
package of care in place; and  

• Those who are new to the telecare/alarm service and have no formal package of care 
in place.  

In addition to this, ATEC has also successfully received Scottish Government funding for a 
test of change pilot to support citizens to use their own smart devices to improve their safety 
and independence at home. The service is currently working with Perth & Kinross and Falkirk 
HSCPs to test this service is sheltered housing situations, with a view to rolling it out more 
widely in the future.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.14 and 
2.15  – 
“Bring Your 
Own Device” 
business 
case and 
funding bid 
  

GP frailty 
 
In Programme 1 of our Transformation Programme, our GP Frailty project is looking to 
improve the early identification of frailty syndromes, initially by working with GP practices in 
the Leith Cluster to more accurately identify frailty syndromes, to inform the application of 
appropriate preventative measures and interventions for improved outcomes.  
 
Identification of frailty in the primary care setting within time and resource limitations is a major 
challenge, not only in the identification of frailty, but having access to resources to provide 
early intervention, develop anticipatory care plans, prevent crisis and unnecessary admission 
to hospital, or long-term care.  
 
Based on learning from the wider NHS and Midlothian, in May 2020, EHSCP established a 
GP-led Frailty Collaborative within a 9 GP practice cluster in Leith in Edinburgh to support the 
delivery of: 

• Clear identification of frail practice populations with increased confidence to use the 
data for improvement 

• Reduction in unscheduled hospital admissions by people with frailty 

• Proactive tiered frailty system of care across Health & Social Care 

• Process measures across the care system to improve reliability of care and reduction in 
unwanted variation 

• Data to inform strategic and service planning 
 

There is good engagement with the Edinburgh clinical leads and frailty has been agreed as a 
priority both strategically, through the older people strategic programme, gaining support more 
recently through the Transformation Programme, and at practice level, and across the Primary 
Care Improvement Network. This approach seeks to provide a system that flags changes to 
those living with frailty (No, Mild, Moderate, Severe Frailty), to enhance communication across 
key services and design care to meet population needs. 
 
Initial piloting and early indication data from the Leith cluster is positive, with key learning 
about the importance of applying clinical judgement for people who may be ‘flagged’ as being 
frail, to provide a holistic perspective for people. The Transformation team are now supporting 
looking at how to roll that data collection out further, make connections between our 

 
 
2.16 – 
Community 
Frailty 
Project Brief 

Page 35



13 
 

Community Mobilisation work and GPs, and identifying early interventions that can be tested 
and piloted based on what the frailty data tells us, with impact on outcomes being considered 
along the way. 

Home First 
 
The overall objective for the Home First project is to support people to maintain as much 
independence as possible at home or in a homely setting through a new model of 
assessment, rehabilitation and recovery led by Home First Edinburgh. 

Five workstreams have been identified with one specifically focused on prevention of 
admission and the redesign of urgent care.  The objective of this workstream is to support the 
delivery of the Home First project by identifying areas of focus that can prevent unnecessary 
attendance/admission to hospital from community and primary care settings. 

Through early identification of people at risk of admission via primary care and hub teams, 
interventions can be initiated earlier to avoid people ending up in crisis situations.   

The redesign of urgent care is a national incentive directed by the Scottish Government.  It is 
known that approximately 20% of those who present to the front door of hospitals, could have 
their care and treatment provided elsewhere, either in a community setting or at home.  From 
December 2020, a new triage service has been implemented through NHS24 where people 
can access a single point of contact and be directed to the service most suited to meet their 
needs.  Through this work the Partnership has implemented a new urgent therapy and social 
care pathway that allows people to access rapid therapy and social care interventions.  This 
pathway has been in place since January 2021 and will be evaluated at set points to 
understand what is working well and what could be improved.  Currently, this service is 
available 5 days a week however, if proven to be successful would be enhanced to offer a 7 
day service.  In addition to the introduction of the new pathway, a Home First navigator has 
also been recruited to sit within the Flow Centre (NHS 24 triage) to provide expert advice on 
the best options available to people to meet their needs.  This post has been in place for 2 
months and will be reviewed regularly to assess the impact it is having. 
 
Home First navigators have been working in acute sites alongside multidisciplinary teams to 
support discharge planning.  Through validation and assessment of referrals for bed based 
services, they are able to influence the patient pathway to ensure people receive the right care 
in the right place at the right time.  These roles support proactive discharge planning meaning 
patients are discharged quicker, where it is appropriate to do so (on average approx. 2 bed 
days saved per person).  In addition to the navigators and following a test of change held 
throughout winter, Home First Social Workers have also been introduced to acute sites to 
enable multidisciplinary discharge planning, these roles will be in place in both the Royal 
Infirmary and Western General Hospital, within Hospital Based Complex Clinical Care and 
within Intermediate care.  The test of change evidenced that these roles have an impact on 
delayed discharges and length of stay through proactive discharge planning and 
management, they will focus on reducing Health delays initially and will support the MDT with 
complex discharge planning.  
 
The introduction of Planned Date of Discharge (PDD) should support a reduction in length of 
stay for patients and should help towards a reduction in delayed discharges.  By proactively 
planning for discharge earlier in the process, actions required to allow people to leave hospital 
(packages of care, assessments, on-going home based reablement) will be completed in 
advance of them being ready for transfer.  This should reduce delays as care and support will 
be arranged in line with the PDD and will reduce length of stay as patients will be able to leave 
hospital on the planned date as agreed.  This is being trialled initially in ward 51 in the WGH 
and discussions are underway to introduce PDD into Intermediate Care Facilities.  More 
wards will implement this in a phased roll out across acute and hospital based services.  
 

 
 
2.17 – Home 
First project 
brief 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.18 – EIJB 
Strategy 
Update 
report April 
2021 
(Benefits 
appendix)   
 

Page 36



14 
 

Hospital at Home 
 
The EHSCP Hospital at Home service has been expanded to increase capacity.  This service 
aims to prevent admission and offers personal care that can be met in a community 
environment.  The service now operates 7 days per week and offers 3 levels of response: 
Urgent (within 4 hours); Same day (within same day of referral); Next day (the day following 
referral).  The service accepts referrals via the Flow Centre usually from Primary Care, this is 
being expanded to allow the Scottish Ambulance Service to refer directly to hospital at home 
to further support prevention of admission.  
 

 

Medical Day Hospitals 
 
In March 2020, the Edinburgh Integrated Joint Board (EIJB) gave authority to progress to 
options appraisal to more clearly understand the function of the Medical Day Hospital, the 
relationship with other wider community supports, and how this can best be delivered across 
the city. This represented a deliberate shift to more integrated community early intervention 
and prevention, building independence and resilience at individual and community level.   
 
The COVID-19 pandemic impacted on all community care provision. During the pandemic all 
medical day hospitals were suspended, and the Royal Victoria Building Assessment and 
Rehabilitation Centre was re-purposed as the COVID Assessment Centre. Since then, a 
phased route map of guidance has been provided to transition out of lockdown. Guidance has 
been provided for all NHS staff on how patient care can be provided within the COVID-19 
Framework for Decision-Making. These restrictions – likely to be in place for some time – 
impact on vulnerable people gathering in groups to reduce the likelihood of contracting the 
virus.   
 
The Medical Day Hospital Review will inform how services continue to adapt to meet patient 
needs and how interventions can be delivered in the long term, through a more integrated 
community approach. The changes from a Medical Day Hospital perspective, through 
pandemic has already seen a wider impact on community care provision:  

• Physio@Home (P@H) and the Hubs are providing essential services, to 
greater capacity 

• Community nursing continues to operate to full capacity, with nil to note specifically 
about those who used to attend day hospitals, with key priority being regular 
interventions and end of life care 

• Hospital@Home has had a positive and accelerated expansion city-wide 
• Home first has also accelerated, with presence in hospital sites, with the key aim of 

enabling timely and safe discharge, and prevention of admission  
 
Options for the future were developed by a multi-disciplinary group of colleagues, followed by 
those options being appraised, with the preferred option to be explored further being an 
integrated community model of service delivery.   
 
This model will offer routine and urgent assessment functions in communities, with only very 
specialist requirements being delivered from a building base.  Staff engagement and 
involvement has been underway since August 2020, informing options for future 
consideration, highlighting good practice that has emerged throughout the pandemic, and 
shaping the future integrated community model, and, local managers will subsequently lead 
implementation of any agreed changes.  Development of a framework to highlight impact on 
outcomes for people and a cost benefit analysis is also underway and will contribute to the 
final business case in 2021. 
   

 
 
2.19 – 
Medical day 
Hospitals 
project brief 
 
 
2.20 – 
Medical day 
Hospitals 
Options 
Appraisal 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2.21 – 
Medical Day 
Hospitals 
Staff 
Engagement  
 
 

Page 37



15 
 

Anticipatory Care Planning  
 
The EHSCP continues to implement initiatives to improve outcomes for older people through 
Anticipatory Care Planning. In August 2019, 20 Care Homes and their aligned GP practices 
were able to demonstrate a 56% reduction in avoidable admissions to hospital, enabling 
residents to receive the right care in their homely setting. Taking account of continuous 
learning the ACP model was adapted to be Covid-19 relevant. At the end of March 2020 the 
partnership provided all care homes for older people and GP practices with:  7 steps to ACP – 
creating covid-19 relevant ACPs in Care Homes, implementation guidance and resources. 
The 7 steps to ACP supports care homes to put residents and their families at the centre of 
shared decision-making. The partnership summarised it’s experience of supporting care 
homes residents and their families through ACP during Covid-19 in a poster which won the 
best innovation award at the RCGPs national event in February 2021. 
 
Feedback from Care Home Manager on the Covid-19 revised 7 steps to ACP for Care 
Homes  

“From our point of view the ACP tools are a great foundation for us to build a more person 
centred anticipatory care plan for our residents, it's a really good sensitive prompt of topic. 
They are simple and straight to the point in a professional caring way. When we have used 
them with the GPs during this pandemic they allowed us to gather the information we needed 
quickly and allowed us to prepare for the inevitable. Families who have used them directly 
have said they were an easy guide to follow but still allowed them to get their relatives wishes 
down. Having the ACP-Key Information Summaries in place with the up to date relevant 
information has been a god send!” 

 
The EHSCP has also developed an ACP bundle for health & social care teams to implement 
approaches to early intervention and prevention.  The community ACP model provides 
practitioners with guidance, educational resources, and a process for sharing ACP quality 
criteria across the integrated system. This ACP approach supports older people to remain in 
their own home and helps avoid hospital admissions. The ACP bundle was made available to 
all healthcare community teams at the beginning of the pandemic together with training and 
implementation support. Social care teams, such as homecare teams, are currently testing the 
ACP model.   
 

Feedback from a social worker on the ACP community bundle  

“I think this is excellent, the 1 page format is what we need and you've thought of everything, 
any one of these points (quality criteria) could lead to a non-medical admission of someone 
being delayed coming home. It also gives a clear structure for the conversation, this will really 
help get the right information shared with those who need it”. 

 
Additionally, through the GP Frailty work, there is a keenness to develop appropriate ACP 
bundles. 
 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Since the 2018 progress review, the EHSP has made a sustained shift towards a strategic approach to early 
intervention and prevention activity. The Strategic Plan and transformation programme recognise the 
importance of supporting citizens to remain healthy and independent at home for as long as possible and our 
Home First ethos underpins our policy and practice. We have clear plans in place to continue to build on the 
progress made to date and our refreshed Strategic Plan will confirm our commitment to this going forward.  
 

Page 38

https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/ACP%20Improvement%20Programme%20Learning%20Report%20Phase%203%202018-19%20revised%2015.11.19.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/Creating%20Covid-19%20relevant%20ACPs%20in%20Care%20Homes%207%20steps%20to%20ACP%20implementation%20Guidance%20v1.3.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/Creating%20Covid-19%20relevant%20ACPs%20in%20Care%20Homes%207%20steps%20to%20ACP%20implementation%20Guidance%20v1.3.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/7%20Steps%20to%20ACP%20for%20care%20home%20residents%20and%20their%20families%20during%20Covid%20Feb2021.pdf


16 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

3 

The Partnership should develop exit strategies and plans from existing ‘interim’ care 

arrangements to help support the delivery of community-based services that help older people 

and their carers to receive quality support within their own homes or a setting of their choice.  

 

4 

The Partnership should engage with stakeholders to further develop intermediate care 

services, including bed based provision, to help prevent hospital admission and to support 

timely discharge. 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  
 
 

Evidence 
reference 

Development of the Bed Based Care Strategy 
 
The Bed Based Care (BBC), project is part of Programme 3 of Transformation and its 
objectives are to transform and redesign a broad range of bed-based services across the 
Partnership, taking into consideration demand and capacity, and to design and implement the 
optimum model for the provision of sustainable bed-based care services. The overall vision of 
the bed-based care strategy is to help achieve the shift of the balance of care from hospital 
inpatient services to community services, as described in the EIJB Strategy. We will do this by 
designing a bed base model that is sustainable and based on a whole system approach and 
that places people’s needs and preferences at the heart of the decision-making process. Our 
future bed-based services will provide:  
 

• A right sized bed base that meets known and projected demand 

• A bed base that enables recovery, rehabilitation and reablement  

• A bed base that supports the principles of Home First  

• A bed base that is outcomes focused and person centred 

• A bed base with a motivated, skilled and valued workforce 

• A bed base that works in collaboration with the voluntary, independent and third sectors 

• A bed base that supports continuous improvement 

•  

This project is looking at 8 main bed-based care services:  

• Intermediate Care beds; Hospital Based Complex Clinical Care (HBCCC) beds; Care 

Homes; Mental Health Rehabilitation beds; Supported Housing; Palliative care & End of 

Life beds; Specialist Inpatient Rehabilitation beds; and Beds for breaks from caring.  

Due to the size, scale and complexity of the bed-based project, it is necessary to implement 
it on a phased basis. The following areas have been prioritised due to a number of strategic 
drivers:  

• Intermediate Care: Our intermediate care provision is currently provided across two 
sites in the north and south of the city.  There are 40 beds within Liberton Hospital 
and 24 beds within Findlay House.  For a number of years, NHS Lothian’s strategic 
intent has been to close Liberton hospital, particularly as this has become less fit for 
purpose.  To enable the decommissioning of the site, the Edinburgh Health and 
Social Care Partnership must find alternative accommodation for the services 

 
 
 
3.1 Bed-
based care 
project brief 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



17 
 

provided at Liberton Hospital.  A commitment was made in quarter 3 of 2020/21 by 
the EHSCP to vacate the site by December 2021 therefore, intermediate care is a 
priority area for the bed based care project. 

 

• HBCCC: In order for the EHSCP to relocate the Intermediate Care service from 
Liberton Hospital, a redesign of the HBCCC estate is required. Edinburgh has the 
highest number of HBCCC beds per head of population and has more than double 
the suggested number of beds identified through a benchmarking exercise 
completed in 2017.  We also know that around 40% of patients currently occupying 
an HBCCC bed could have their care needs met elsewhere. The Bed Based 
Strategy has recommended reducing the overall number of HBCCC beds in line with 
the benchmarking estimations.  Through the redesign of the HBCCC estate, the 
EHSCP plan to reduce the overall number of HBCCC beds in line with the 
benchmarking projections and instead accommodate intermediate care services 
within these sites.   

 

• Care Homes: The EHSCP manages eight care homes across the city.  These care 
homes offer residential level care to those who are most vulnerable in our society 
and have been assessed as no longer capable of living at home.  A full redesign of 
our model of care is required in the longer term to focus more fully on complex and 
high levels of need, complementing that which is available readily elsewhere.  The 
work of the care home transformation programme has started to address this by 
focusing on quality of care, workforce development and standards within our internal 
care homes.  

 
These priority areas are being considered together as any changes made in one part of the 
system will directly impact on another. Proposals need to be undertaken sequentially to 
ensure sufficient capacity across the system to absorb the changes and continue to meet 
demand. 

We have gathered data about our current bed base and engaged with the staff involved in the 
delivery of care and/or management of these services through 8 workshops between 
November 2020 and January 2021. The strategy has been further informed with the expertise 
and input of both the programme and project boards, which have multi-disciplinary and 
stakeholder representation. Phase 1 of the strategy, along with a high level implementation 
plan, will be presented to the EIJB in June 2021.  

Our bed-based care project is well aligned with the recommendations set out in the recent 
Independent Review of Adult Social Care, and seeks to improve choice, flexibility and quality of 
life for those who use the services.  
 
Redesigned models of care for bed-based services will also start to inform our wider market 
shaping and facilitation approach, setting out more clearly what we expect our business needs 
to be in the future and helping providers to understand our preferred service models and likely 
demand.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 – Bed 
based care 
engagement 
outputs 
 
 

Closure of Gylemuir House 
 
At the time of the original inspection and during the 2018 progress review, concerns had been 
raised about “interim” care models such as that provided at Gylemuir House.  
 
The EHSCP recognised that the model of care provided at Gylemuir House did not align well 
with our strategic ambitions for quality, bed-based services. The lease for Gylemuir House did 
not permit the physical upgrades and improvements which were necessary to meet the terms 
of Care Inspectorate registration.  Gylemuir could therefore not continue to provide a service 

 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 – EIJB 
Financial 

Page 40



18 
 

going forward and in March 2019, a report to the EIJB was approved which set out plans for its 
closure.  
 
Gylemuir House closed in June 2019, with there being sufficient capacity across the rest of the 
care home estate to manage the demand, pending a wider review and redesign of bed base 
services and the creation of a bed base strategy.  
 

Plan report 
March 2019 

Intermediate Care  
 
NHS Lothian and the Partnership have agreed to decommission the site of Liberton Hospital 
which is no longer of the standards we want to provide longer term. The original plan had been 
to move the intermediate care beds within Liberton Hospital to the Jardine Clinic, at the Royal 
Edinburgh Hospital,  and a refurbishment project commended for the Jardine Clinic. The 
estimated completion date was initially June 2019 however, due to delays this slipped to 
November 2019.  Further issues were uncovered during the refurbishment which delayed work 
until March 2020, then COVID-19 hit pausing all building work. 
 
In November 2020, it was agreed that the intermediate care beds within Liberton Hospital will 
not move to the Jardine Clinic as originally planned. This decision was taken on the basis that 
moving the wards from Liberton Hospital to the Jardine Clinic is no longer aligned to the EIJB’s 
strategic direction and transformation ambitions.  A move from one hospital base to another 
doesn’t allow the EHSCP to continue to shift the balance of care from hospital services to the 
community. Any move of these beds needs to align with the strategic direction of providing 
community based services and supports and therefore, it was agreed that the wards currently 
based at Liberton Hospital would not move to the Jardine Clinic and that the Bed Based Care 
project would coproduce the future service model for these beds with staff and key 
stakeholders. The objective remains to close Liberton Hospital by the end of 2021 and to move 
the intermediate care beds to a more suitable community based location. 
 
To ensure that this operational decision aligns with our wider bed-based care strategy, we 
incorporated it within our modelling and our long-term planning. We invited a group of 
colleagues involved in both the delivery/management of intermediate care services and the 
design of the wider bed-based care strategy via the bed-based care project board to meet with 
the project team on 25 February 2021 to start planning the move from Liberton Hospital and 
the redesign of the model of intermediate care. This will ensure that the future plan to vacate 
Liberton Hospital will closely align with the wider bed-based care strategy and its vision to help 
shifting the balance of care from inpatient hospital services to community services. 
 
Our vision for redesigned intermediate care services is focused on ensuring people receive the 
right care, in the right place, at the right time.  The service will be established with a clear 
pathway to discharge home, realistic rehabilitation goals will be set following assessment on 
admission and monitored throughout the person’s stay.   
 
The delivery of intermediate care is provided by multidisciplinary teams made up multiple 
professions including therapy staff, focusing on rehabilitation and reablement; nursing staff, 
supporting the medical needs of patients; geriatricians who specialise in providing care to our 
older citizens, as well as community teams who continue to provide ongoing care and support 
at home following discharge.   
 
Through the successful introduction of the Home First principles and adoption of Home First 
practice, the intermediate care teams are experiencing a growing trend of patients with more 
complex needs.  Historically, intermediate care was provided to those with low medical / high 
rehabilitation needs however recently, there has been a shift in the complexity of patient’s 
needs.  More patients now have medium to complex medical needs and high rehabilitation 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4- SBAR 
to NHS 
Lothian 
CMT 
 
3.5 – letter 
to Liberton 
staff 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/Data/Edinburgh%20Integration%20Joint%20Board/20190329/Agenda/$item_56_-_201920_financial_plan.xls.pdf


19 
 

needs.  This has been attributed directly to the success of Home First, with patients who can 
have their rehabilitation needs met at home no longer requiring a bed based service.  
 
Following a successful trial during the winter period, a Home First social worker will be onsite 
to support the intermediate care teams with complex discharge planning, reducing delays in 
planned discharges, and promote proactive discharge planning to ensure patients can go 
home when they are ready. 
 
Home First will use our Intermediate care service to introduce planned date of discharge 
(PDD).  This will support a reduction in delayed discharges and a reduction in the patient’s 
length of stay.  By working closely with the multidisciplinary team, putting the needs of people 
at the heart of decision making and, by being involved in discharge planning earlier in the 
process, our aim is to ensure that the actions required to allow the patient to be discharged are 
completed in advance of the discharge date, allowing a seamless transfer from intermediate 
care to home.   
 
Planned date of discharge will also assist with achieving better outcomes for patients.  The 
date will be set and agreed by the multidisciplinary team (MDT), following assessment of the 
patient.  All MDT members will be involved in the decision making and the discharge date will 
be collectively agreed.  Unless there is a further acute episode, the PDD should remain on 
TRAK as agreed by the MDT. Patient’s, and families, will have the opportunity to consider 
realistic outcomes, and will be advised of their planned date of discharge. 
 
Weekly targets will be set to encourage rehabilitation and recovery and patients will be kept 
informed of their progress.  By focusing on a person centred approach with realistic goals, 
expectations are managed and timescales are more achievable.  By introducing PDD and 
being involved in discharge planning sooner, there should be no delay to discharge due to 
service requests for packages of care or capacity issues with community teams, which 
improves outcomes for patients and their families.  This change should ensure there is flow 
through the system as discharge dates will be known and capacity can be more accurately 
forecast.    
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.6 Planned 
date of 
discharge 
slides 
 

Drumbrae Care Home reablement unit  
 
The Joint Inspection Team will be aware, from previous discussions, that we had been 
investigating the viability of establishing a reablement unit within the Dunblane unit of 
Drumbrae Care Home. This proof of concept was developed by a project team involving the 
bed-based care project manager and programme manager to ensure it was strongly linked with 
the development of the bed-based care strategy and the future model for intermediate care 
and care homes.  
 
The proposal considered whether existing capacity within Drumbrae could be used to provide 
reablement to people over 65 who have no acute medical needs and low level rehabilitation 
requirements.  We have since completed further scoping and due diligence, including 
discussions with other HSCPs who have similar models. Our development of the bed based 
strategy has confirmed that our preferred model is to offer reablement support at home. Where 
this is not possible, because of more complex needs, the existing, now more established 
intermediate care services can already provide bed-based support. On blanace, our 
assessment is that this proposal would duplicate services already in place or planned and 
would not be in line with our stated strategic objectives. As such, the decision has now been 
taken not to progress with this model. 
 

 

Page 42



20 
 

Step up model in Intermediate Care 
The intermediate care service within Liberton Hospital has a flexible resource of one bed which 
can be used as a step-up bed for people who may experience deterioration and can still be 
managed safely outside of an acute hospital. This step-up model is managed by Hospital at 
Home.  
 
This resource was discussed during the intermediate care workshop that took place in 
December 2020 and the feedback was very positive. Stakeholders involved in the workshop 
thought that intermediate care was the ideal place for a step-up model and that this model 
could be further developed to help prevent avoidable hospital admissions.  
 
The bed based care project team will further explore the step-up model currently in place in 
Liberton Hospital, to assess if this should be taken forward in the long term intermediate care 
model as it will be described via the BBC strategy. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

Since the original inspection and the 2018 progress review, significant progress has been made in establishing 
a strategic approach to the development of sustainable bed -based services in Edinburgh, including the 
provision of a high-quality intermediate care model. The previous interim care model at Gylemuir House has 
been decommissioned. The bed-based care project is taking a whole system approach to the development of 
bed-based services for those who require them, whilst also linking closely with the Home First and home-based 
care projects to ensure that people can be looked after at home,  or in a homely setting and remain as 
independent as possible, for as long as possible. The Bed-Based Care strategy sets out our vision for a phased 
approach to delivery and will be presented to the EIJB for approval in June 2021.  
 
There is a high level of confidence that appropriate improvement progress has been made and that the Bed 
Based Care strategy will provide the framework to deliver on these recommendations once approved.   
 

Page 43



21 
 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OPLE’S 

LUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

5 

The partnership should work in collaboration with carers and carers organisations to improve how 

carers’ needs are identified, assessed and met.  

This should be done as part of updating the carers strategy 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Carers Strategy developed in collaboration 
Edinburgh’s Joint Carers Strategy 2019-22 https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-FINAL.pdf  
was ratified by the EIJB August 2019, and included the Implementation Plan (5.1).  
 
The Strategy update, implementation plan and associated outcomes were informed through 
engagement, consultation and feedback from adult and young carers, tests of change, carer 
organisations and professionals, which,  in turn informed the 6 priority areas for investment.  
 
The new strategy was further informed by the independent review of the implementation of the 
previous strategy by Edinburgh Voluntary Organisations Council, (EVOC),  which is the council 
for Voluntary services for the city of Edinburgh, and a partner in the Edinburgh network of third 
sector interfaces, which provided clear considerations to inform  the new strategy and 
development of the 6 priority areas:  
 

1. Identifying Carers 
2. Information and Advice 
3. Carer Health and Wellbeing 
4. Short Breaks 
5. Young carers 
6. Personalising Support for Carers 

 
 
The statutory Short Breaks Services Statement (Unpaid Carers), (5.2),  
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/26356/short-break-services-statement 
was agreed in March 2019, and is incorporated in the Carers Strategy. This Statement is 
required by the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016, and gives information about the short breaks 
services available locally and across Scotland for unpaid carers and the person or people they 
care for. 
 
A variety of short break options for carers have been available through the Edinburgh Health 
and Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) and Third Sector Organisations prior to the 
implementation of the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016,  and,  these opportunities will continue to 
be available, and further developed during 2021-22. One successful example of this is the 
short residential break for carers called ‘Stepping Out’, and a variety of information can be 
found on the Carers page on the EHSCP website, (5.3),  
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/coronavirus-information/carers/ 
 
The EHSCP Carer Strategic Planning Group was re-established in 2019, and has been 
instrumental in informing the priorities, developing the strategy and overarching spending plan 
and ongoing developments. This group have also shaped the performance and evaluation 
framework associated with measuring impact of the strategy from both quantitative and 
qualitative perspectives, with a focus on impact on outcomes  Membership includes carers 

5.1 Link to 
Edinburgh’s 
Joint Carers 
Strategy 
2019-22, 
August 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 Link to 
the Short 
Breaks 
Services 
Statement 
(Unpaid 
Carers) 
March 2019 
 
 
 
5.3 EHSCP 
website link 
to Stepping 
Out 

Page 44

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-FINAL.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-FINAL.pdf
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/26356/short-break-services-statement
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/coronavirus-information/carers/


22 
 

organisations, EIJB Carer representative, operational practitioners and strategic leadership.  
Over the next year, they will play a key role in shaping the review of the joint Carer Strategy. 
 

Joint Carer Strategy Implementation Plan and improving capacity to meet carer needs 
 
The Implementation Plan was ratified in August 2019 by EIJB, as part of the Strategy.  As 
indicated above, ongoing work will be undertaken to refine the Performance and Evaluation 
Framework, which was ratified by the Performance and Development Committee, December 
2020, and will be monitored by the Carer Strategic Planning Group.  The Carer Strategic 
Planning Group members have also contributed to the thinking of how the performance and 
evaluation framework can be further refined, and this is indicated in the recent discussion 
paper being presented to the clinical and Care Governance Committee, (5.4). 
 
Significant investment of £17.37million, has been supported against the 6 priority areas, 
through enhanced contract awards, live from January 2021. Specifications were coproduced 
with providers, and the commissioning process encouraged a collaborative approach with 
smaller and larger carer organisations coming together in Carewell Partnerships, to deliver 
supports for carers across communities.  
 
As well as the contract award, the wider spend plan was ratified EIJB Feb 2021, (5.5),  and 
includes additional areas of focus for 2021 and beyond, informed by what carers indicated 
where further investment should be made, and included: 

• Contribution of funding to further develop short breaks which will be shaped by the 
outcome of the Bed Based Review work stream on Short Breaks. 

• Development of Adult Carer Support Plans, along with production of a practitioners 
guide 

• Enhanced Carer Support Team provision, offering advice, information and support 
on; rights as a carer; connection with local services; medical conditions and 
medication; looking after yourself as a carer; becoming more confident as a carer; 
and setting goals and priorities for your own life, as a carer.  Other supports for 
carers are highlighted in the EHSCP website(5.6),  
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/carers/ourcommitmenttocarers/ 

• Contribution of funds for purchasing replacement care where a need has been 
identified through the person’s own assessment and/or the Adult Carer Support 
Plans. This may be in the form of traditional support at home, day support or 
residential respite, but may also be used creatively via other self-directed support 
options and aligned to the personalising support for carers. 

• Commitment to support community led carer supports through the community 
investment transformation work stream. 

• Contribution towards commissioning of independent advocacy for carers and BME 
carer support. 
 

In April 2021, the Carer Strategic Planning Group identified the need for a business case to be 
developed to support a dedicated Carer Planning and Commissioning officer to take forward 
the implementation plan, performance and evaluation framework, and refreshment of the 
Strategy.  This is being progressed now, with the intention of having a post holder in place by 
summer 2021. 
 
 

5.4 –CCG 
May 2021 
Paper with 
developing 
Performance 
and 
Evaluation 
Framework 
update  
 
5.5 Carer 
spend plan 
EIJB 
February 
2021  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 EHSCP 
website – 
Carer 
Support 

Page 45

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/carers/ourcommitmenttocarers/


23 
 

Impact of the Independent Review of Health and Social Care for unpaid carers 
The enhanced contract award, and additional focus areas being progressed places EHSCP 
well to respond to the key recommendations associated with improved information and advice 
for carers, local person centred assessments, involving the person themselves in planning 
support, and the development of a range of quality short breaks, breaks from caring and 
respite.  The Carer Strategic Planning Group will play a key role in formulating response to any 
additional developments required. 
 
The Edinburgh IJB has also recently appointed a second carer representative alongside two 
citizen representatives. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Significant progress has been made in relation to this recommendation. The Carer strategy has been 
developed. A robust implementation plan has been developed which supports the implementation of the key 
priority areas,  with a thorough commissioning and procurement process undertaken with enhanced contract 
awards made, to provide additional support for carers against our six agreed priority areas, and ongoing carer 
engagement.   
 
Additional areas for development and improvement have been identified to be progressed 2021 and beyond, 
and co-production will continue to refine the performance and evaluation framework.  The established Carer 
Strategic Planning Group will continue to monitor progress and inform further developments.  
 
There is a high level of confidence that appropriate improvement progress has been made. This 
recommendation should be closed.  
 

Page 46



24 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

6 

The Partnership should ensure that people with dementia receive a timely diagnosis and 

that diagnostic support for them and their carers is available. 

 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Improving timely diagnosis, and pathway improvements 
 
AT 2021 there are an estimated 8,295 people living with dementia in Edinburgh, (including 
293 diagnosed under 65 years).  In 10 years this is expected to rise to 10,228 people and in 
20 years to 12,907 people. This will put additional pressures on services that diagnose, 
provide post-diagnostic support and provide ongoing assessment, care and support. Many 
of these services are already under significant pressures to meet demand. The COVID 
pandemic has exacerbated this even more, putting increasing pressures on informal carers.  
It is anticipated that enhance carer support will be provided, through the work underway 
indicated in recommendation 5 above. 
 
Edinburgh remains motivated to demonstrate continuous improvement of the experience of 
people and their carers, and have driven change, and continue to learn from various 
developments underway, including: 
 
Post Diagnostic Support in Primary Care 
In March 2018,  EHSCP were successful in bidding to become one of 3 national innovation 
sites to test the relocation of post-diagnostic support to primary care as outlined in 
commitment 2 of Scotland’s National Dementia Strategy1.  
 
Work has been ongoing since 2018, to develop this service in the 8 GP practices North East 
Edinburgh, East GP Cluster with the service now firmly established and delivered by one full 
time Dementia Support Facilitator. This work has is funded by Scottish Government and 
supported by the Focus on Dementia portfolio based at Healthcare Improvement Scotland I-
hub.  Scottish Government have extended funding to March 2022 with external evaluation of 
all 3 national sites expected to be concluded in summer 2021.  Learning from this will inform 
dementia pathway improvements. 
   
In addition, to further enhance primary care ability to respond to people living with dementia 
and those who provide informal care, a test of change has been developed with Dementia 
UK to provide 2 Admiral Nurses (based at Stockbridge and Pentlands GP Practices) with 
focus on carer support. These posts are currently funded by Standard Life.    
 
Improving processes 
Improvements have been made with a simpler process in places for referrals to Memory 
Assessment and Treatment Service from Acute hospitals, with their being a Dementia 
Bridging, Stressed and Distressed support team being present in acute hospitals, to provide 
resource for assessment, intervention and care plan developments, as well as raising 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 COMMITMENT 2:  We will test and independently evaluate the relocation of post-diagnostic dementia 
services in primary care hubs as part of the modernisation of primary care. 

Page 47



25 
 

awareness, and providing training, as well as ensuring key connections with community 
supports on discharge. 
Support for Care Homes 
Similarly, the psychology led provision to support care homes for people who may become 
stressed or distressed, continues, with an established training and awareness programme.  
The EHSCP Scottish Care partnership lead, has played a key role in ensuring parity for 
people in care homes,  to receive an appropriate dementia diagnosis, and associated 
support.  Support has also been secured for the wider training and awareness programme 
across care home, hospital and community services.   
 
All of these developments will inform an overarching review of the transformation work 
underway to improve the pathway and experience for dementia diagnosis and post 
diagnostic support, for both people with dementia and their carers. 
 
Transformation Programme - Dementia Pathway Review  
In March 2019, EHSCP and the Royal Edinburgh and Associated Services submitted an 
application to Healthcare Improvement Scotland to become a national Dementia Care 
Coordination Implementation site. The main aim of this call for applications, was to take a 
whole systems approach to dementia pathway improvements with work towards a more 
integrated, co-ordinated approach to supporting people with a diagnosis of dementia. This 
linked to Scotland's National Dementia Strategy 2017-2020.  
 
It was hoped if successful this would support Edinburgh dementia pathway improvements 
with funding available for quality improvement support. Edinburgh was unsuccessful but a 
close second with Inverclyde being successful. The learning shared so far from the 
Inverclyde work has potential to support future Edinburgh dementia pathways 
improvements. 
 
Following this application, and learning since, EHSCP agreed that Older People’s Mental 
Health Pathways be included within the Transformation Programme to take this work 
forward as part of the dementia pathway review,  in Phase 2 of the programme, 
commencing January 2021.  
 
The focus of this will consider the experience of people with dementia, and their carers, from 
staying well, prevention and early intervention, through assessment, treatment and post 
diagnostic support. 
 
Work is currently underway, to include more detailed scoping of the whole system approach 
to timely diagnosis and post diagnostics support, which will include updating the baseline 
information from significant stakeholder engagement in 2018, with the learning from 
developments since then,  and,  learning from responses during the pandemic,  across 
community, hospital and care home environments, and will encompass the Memory 
Treatment Assessment, Community Mental Health Team, and wider hospital, community 
and voluntary supports, to develop an improved, more co-ordinated experience, see 6.1.  
 
 
Commissioned post diagnostic support 
The Alzheimer Scotland contract, for post diagnostic support (PDS), has been awarded to 
31 March 2023. Specifications have been co-produced and updated to reflect the current 
Scottish Government COVID -19 restrictions and delivering a blended approach which has 
enabled an increase in service volume from 300 people to 330 people receiving PDS at any 
one time. This extension will provide an opportunity for future proof post- diagnostic support 
delivery and specifications to be further informed by the pathway review work. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1 Dementia 
Pathway 
Improvements 
– Draft 
Scoping 
Document   

Page 48



26 
 

For rates of people being diagnosed with dementia, and supported thereafter, Edinburgh 
has historically been seen to perform below Scottish average, both in volume and lengths of 
time waiting for post diagnostic support.  A deep dive to determine where the issues lie, has 
indicated that there is room for improvement through the overall pathway, as indicated 
above, as well as improvements in the mechanism in place for monitoring and recording of 
people having a diagnosis and post diagnostic support, against the national local delivery 
plan target, (LDP), to more accurately reflect the ongoing caseload for the twelve month 
period post diagnosis.  
 
Improving the mechanism for monitoring and recording has included working with Scottish 
Government, local practitioners, and data analyst colleagues, to clarify the parameters for 
monitoring and recording.  This has also resulted in error reports reducing, and being 
responded to more timeously, through building a shared understanding of the data set.   
 
Through the practitioner led short life working group, early improvements have been noted 
in reducing the time that people have to wait for Post Diagnostic Support (PDS), with the 
north community mental health team including Alzheimer Scotland in their clinical team 
meetings, and discussing who is best to take on the support, at the earliest opportunity; 
building relationships, and trust, as well as providing a mechanism to quickly escalate and 
manage any concerns about people being supported.  Interestingly, moving the clinical team 
meeting to Teams has enabled this more consistent involvement!  
 
In the south, as there are five consultants involved in the Memory Assessment and 
Treatment service, with there being multiple clinical sessions, adopting a liaison nurse 
approach regularly connecting with Alzheimer Scotland, has also shown improvements, with 
people being supported as quickly as possible after diagnosis. Impact will be monitored 
during 2021. 
 
Overall the improved system of record keeping, will more accurately indicate how many 
people are being supported, and prove crucial to seeing our LDP performance improve.  
Ongoing work associated with the LDP improvement going forward in 2021 includes 
completion of the Data Protection Impact Assessment, and to progress the PDS key 
workers gaining access to appropriate information, through application for them to have 
TRAK access, to provide information about the experience of people receiving support, and  
real time,  accurate records.   
 

Additional Developments 
Herbert Protocol: 
The Herbert Protocol is an information gathering tool to assist the police to find a person 
living with dementia who has been reported missing as quickly as possible.  Care Homes 
and families use the protocol, and it is being considered an integral element of the 
Anticipatory Care Planning conversation. 
 
EHSCP in partnership with Police Scotland, Missing Persons Unit colleagues, Scottish Care 
and Alzheimer Scotland have spear headed,  and been an early implementer of the Herbert 
Protocol, the aim of which is  to increase awareness and promote use of the Herbert 
Protocol in Edinburgh, embedding into systems and processes, (e.g. Vulnerable Person 
reports sent to Social Care Direct following someone going missing, which are then sent on 
to Locality Screening Team to follow up on use of the Herbert Protocol if one has not been 
in place). This has continued throughout 2020 with regular open MS Teams information 
sessions being jointly run by EHSCP and  with Police Scotland. It has also had the added 
value of enhancing joint working in other areas related to dementia on a case to case basis 
across Police Scotland as these arise. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



27 
 

Plans are now underway for Herbert Protocol to be implemented at a national level later in 
2021 with EHSCP being involved in proactively supporting work by enabling networking with 
national and local colleagues and sharing the learning from Edinburgh Implementation. This 
includes engaging the support of Health and Social Care Scotland Chief Officers’ Group; 
scoping/gap analysis work; support in developing/getting feedback for development of a 
single Herbert Protocol form for use across all of Scotland, as well as communications and 
engagement planning. 
 
6.2 Link to the Edinburgh Herbert Protocol information 
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-herbert-protocol/ 
 
Unpaid Carers: 
As indicated in Recommendation 5, significant investment has been made for unpaid carers, 
with it being expected that unpaid carers, caring for people with dementia, will benefit from 
locality based commissioned provision, as well as the short breaks, and breaks from caring 
programme, through the adult carer support plan being widely applied. 
 
Additionally,  the Carer strategy investment plan includes the purchasing budget being 
enhanced, in particular to respond to the choice of unpaid carers, who find it more 
appropriate to have replacement care in their own home, to provide a short break from 
caring,  as opposed to the person being cared for leaving their home and potentially 
becoming more distressed.  Work is underway to determine best method of evaluating 
impact and performance. 
 
John’s Campaign: 
Currently within Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership 65 care homes, Community 
Hospitals and Care of the Elderly wards in hospitals, promote and support the Johns 
Campaign. John’s Campaign recognises the important role of those family members who 
care for people who are living with dementia. Behind its simple statement of purpose lies the 
belief that carers should not just be allowed, but should be actively welcomed, and that a 
collaboration between the person living with dementia and all connected with them is crucial 
to their health and their well-being.   
 
The EHSCP Scottish Care Partnership lead has played an instrumental role in developing 
the approach in Edinburgh throughout 2018-19, with this being formally recognised in 
October 2019, at EIJB,(6.3),  EIJB report 29 09 2019 Johns Campaign V.01.pdf (edinburgh.gov.uk).   
 
Continuous development about how John’s Campaign has taken place since 
implementation, with key learning from feedback from carers and workers in care homes 
further shaping ongoing improvements, (6.4).  Applying this ethos to provide well-being 
support, will be all the more important as covid restrictions ease, and families and carers 
once again, can be encouraged to safely visit, and take part in the lives of their loved ones. 
 
 

 
 
 
6.2 Link to the 
Edinburgh 
Herbert 
Protocol 
information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.3 Link to 
EIJB John’s 
Campaign 
Report Oct 
2019 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.4 John’s 
Campaign 
feedback 
following 
implementation 
 

Impact of Independent Review of Adult Social Care in Scotland 
 
Progress and plans indicated above, places Edinburgh well to continue to achieve an 
ethical, human rights based approach, where choice and control are at the centre of 
meeting needs of people with dementia and their carers, through improved models of care 
and experience. 
 
 
 

 

Page 50

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-herbert-protocol/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s9695/EIJB%20report%2029%2009%202019%20Johns%20Campaign%20V.01.pdf


28 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Reasonable progress has been made in relation to this recommendation, and to address the key points from 
the 2018 report, through primary care and wider developments, with ongoing improvements now sitting 
squarely in the Transformation Team Phase 2 Programme.  The local drive to improve experience to have 
timely diagnosis and support thereafter, as well as improving monitoring and recording, has resulted in 
improvements already evident in people accessing post diagnostic support as quickly as possible, much closer 
relationships across the statutory and voluntary sector, with overall Local Delivery Plan target performance 
being closely monitored to highlight further progress during 2021 reporting cycle.  
 
There is a good level of confidence that further model of care and pathway improvement progress is planned 
as part of the Transformation Programme will be made. This recommendation should be closed as there is 
clear direction of how the key points are being progressed. 
 
 

Page 51



29 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021  

Recommendation for improvement  

7 

 

The Partnership should streamline and improve the falls pathway to ensure that older 

people’s needs are better met 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Ref 

The Long-Term Conditions Programme provides support to health and social care teams to 
improve care for people living with long-term health conditions and those who are at risk of 
falls. Care is improved through supporting practitioners to translate the principles defined in 
the national Quality Strategy into practice, by: 

• seeing the whole person rather than each individual condition. 

• engaging the whole team involved in the person’s care, including third sector partners; 

and 

• improving the way that care and support is planned across the whole system.   

 
Building on the ‘good progress’ reported by the Care Inspectorate in the inspection review 
report dated 2018, The Long Term Conditions Programme has continued to adopt a 
continuous improvement approach to embedding falls pathway improvements across 
Edinburgh Health & Social Care partnership, led by two dedicated (part-time), locality aligned 
Falls Co-ordinators.  Key areas of work where significant improvements have been made, in a 
sustainable way, include: 
 
1. Care Homes support to improve the prevention and management of falls 
2. Falls Pathway review and improvements 
3. Improved integrated multi-disciplinary/cross sector working to support falls prevention and 

management 
4. Measuring and planning continuous Improvement 
  

 
 
 
 

1. Care Homes support to improve the prevention and management of falls 
Key achievements include: 

• Walking Aid Safety project (7.1); 
o 7 care homes participated in a short improvement project 
o 164 walking aids were assessed by trained Physiotherapy Assistants to check for 

safety 
o 11% were repaired and 15% were replaced 
o Plans are underway to adopt this practice as business as usual, as a preventative 

measure. 
 

• Targeted falls training and support to embed the Care Inspectorate’s Managing 
Falls and Fractures in Care Homes for Older People – good practice resource (7.2 
and 7.3) 
Both partnership and independent care homes were selected following discussions with 
community colleagues, and identifying area with high incidence of falls.  

Phase 1  
o tailored falls training and support to 4 Care Homes 
o an average 62% reduction in falls related A&E attendances 
o an average 70% reduction in falls related unplanned admissions compared to the 

pre-intervention period 
Phase2 

o a further 7 care homes participated 

 
7.1 
Evaluation of 
Walking Aid 
Safety in 
care homes  
 
 
 
 
7.2 
Phase 1 
Care Home – 
Falls 
Management 
Improvement 
  
7.3 Written 
Summary of 
Phase 1 
7.4 Outline 
proposition to 

Page 52

https://www2.gov.scot/resource/doc/311667/0098354.pdf


30 
 

o 82 staff completed training and providing 98% positive feedback setting out a 
‘better understanding’ of falls prevention and management 

o As a result of Covid-19, the programme was paused, and will resume, once 
restrictions ease 

 

• Steady Steps in Care Homes: a 16 week Strength and Balance exercise programme 
delivered by Edinburgh Leisure in 4 care homes, supported by care home staff. Very 
successful and good feedback; paused as a result of Covid-19 pandemic. Will 
recommence and obtain evaluation once restrictions lift.  The original proposal and 
benefits, from our partners Edinburgh Leisure, can be seen in 7.5. 
 

• Development of Managing Falls in a Care Home poster (7.6) – Training tool developed 
in partnership with falls leads in Perth & Kinross HSCP, consultation has taken place 
online, and has had very positive feedback.  

 

move to 
phase 2 – 
SBAR format 
 
 
 
7.5 Steady 
Steps 
 
 
 
7.6 Managing 
Falls poster – 
a guide 

2. Improved integrated multi-disciplinary/cross sector working and sharing of 
resources to support falls prevention and management: 
As well as the websites and staff intranet, additional work has contributed to this area, 
including: 
  

• Established bi-monthly multi-disciplinary pan-Lothian Care Home Falls and Frailty 
Forum (7.7),  with an aim of being a community of practice sharing best practice, 
optimising links with services to reduce falls and frailty.  All the information shared is 
shared as a valuable resource on the new care home portal, and will include learning form 
hosting a variety of multi-agency/disciplinary speakers covering topics including:  

o Anticipatory Care Planning 
o RNIB in care homes 
o MacMillian Cancer and Palliative care training 
o ‘Online’ Supportive Conversations and Reflective Sessions (OSCaRS) in care 

homes 
o Continence Care, Medication reviews 
o Footcare/health and Nutrition 
o Adult Support and Protection training 
o Behavioral Support Service 
o Infection Prevention and Control 
o Physical Activity, Oral Health 
o Care for severe symptoms of COVID-19 
o  Role of Care Home Manager in a Pandemic 

   

• Care Homes Near Me Project: multi-disciplinary falls support to care homes testing the 
use of ‘Near Me’ video consultation platform that resulted in 61% reduction in falls through 
supporting 9 care homes over a five month period during Covid-19 pandemic restrictions 
when care homes were closed for visitors and were coping with high instances of Covid-
19 infection. General information and advice was also provided by way of support for care 
home teams. This will continue to be built upon going forward, (7.8). 
 

• Targeted falls prevention communication/information during winter for public, staff, 
care homes and GP practice teams. Webpages internally for practitioners, as well as the 
updated information on the Edinburgh Health & Social Care Partnership webpages – 
aimed at public audience link (7.9): 
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/longtermconditions/falls-support/ 
 

• Big Slipper event – North east locality, Hibs Public social Partnership,  and Cyrenians 
partnership, hosted by Cyrenians, this event brought together a wide range of voluntary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
7.7 
Falls and 
Frailty 
Forum, 
Terms of 
Reference 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.8 
Care home 
Near Me – 
Evaluation 
 
 
 
7.9 EHSCP 
web pages 
for falls 
support – 
public. 
 

Page 53

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/longtermconditions/falls-support/


31 
 

sector partners, and statutory services to host a social event where 70 local older people 
who attended were fitted and supplied with a pair of new slippers free of charge to help 
reduce the risk of falls. This work has received very positive feedback and it is likely that 
this will be repeated going forward, (7.10). 
  

• Digital support – Expansion of Scale Up BP project targeted to reduce hypertension, a 
known risk factor of falls. The successful Scale Up BP project already had 1,004 people 
registered from Edinburgh GP practices,  measuring their own blood pressure at home in 
March 2018. By January 2021 this has increased to 2,666 people, through the Florence 
digital recruitment mechanism, (7.12). 
 

• Staying Active packs/leaflets – working in partnership with the British Redcross, 250 
‘Staying Active’ packs have been provided to people who were shielding,  and at risk of 
falls during Covid-19 pandemic. These were widely distributed, through key frontline 
colleagues, and included crosswords, and suggested exercises to do at home. A further 
600 Staying Active leaflets distributed via Edinburgh Council, through the dedicated local 
assistance/shielding line during lockdown 2020, and the information was also passed onto 
both internal and external housing support teams, (7.13 and 7.14) 
 

• Falls Peer Support Group established for Assistant Practitioners carrying out Falls 
Assessments within the locality hubs, led by Falls Co-ordinator to improve falls prevention 
and management, (7.15) 

 

7.10 Big 
Slipper 
Report 
7.11 Big 
Slipper 
Feedback 
 
7.12 
Florence BP 
digital 
Recruitment 
 
 
7.13 and 
7.14 Staying 
Active 
leaflets  
 
 
 
7.15 Falls 
Peer Support 
outline 
purpose 

3. Measuring and planning continuous Improvement 

• Measuring impact of the falls improvement programme is broadly acknowledged as 
challenging, and taking a quality improvement approach allows a comparison with falls 
pre and post intervention, however, formal data availability is limited to A&E attendances 
and admissions. This has prompted the development of  an Outcomes Framework across 
the Long Term Conditions programme that that will enable the ability to assess and 
measure the impact of the falls programme, using local data, experience and impact on 
outcomes, which in turn will support planning for continuous improvement.  

 
A key source of local data, to demonstrate experience and impact on the system, is our 
community alarm and response activity.  From April 2020, to March 2021, the team 
responded to just over 14,700 emergency call outs, with 377 citizens conveyed to 
hospital. A yearly average conveyance of 2.58%. This activity is regularly reported to 
EMT, as part of the performance scorecard, (7.17). 
 
The outcomes framework is aligned to Edinburgh IJB key priorities, and National Health 
and Wellbeing Outcomes. The framework will also be used to review and plan for 
activities together with our partners- cross sector, and will inform the EHSCP, as the 
overarching performance and evaluation framework further develops.  The outline can be 
seen at 7.16. 

 

 
 
 
 
7.16 LTC 
Outcomes 
Development 
Framework – 
Falls  
 
 
7.17 
Community 
Alarm and 
Response 
Scorecard 
April 2020- 
March 2021 

Impact of Independent Review of Adult Social Care in Scotland 
Improvements made in prevention and managing falls, makes significant contribution to 
ongoing development of models of care, with the aim of ensuring people are assisted to stay 
in their own communities, and enabled to be as independent, for as long as possible. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 54



32 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

Despite the pandemic, significant progress has been made in relation to this recommendation, with an 
ongoing continuous improvement programme being embedded as ‘business as usual’ within the Long Term 
Conditions Programme led by dedicated Falls Co-ordinators.   
 
A robust Outcomes Framework is currently being developed to enable the Long Term Conditions programme 
to assess and then demonstrate impact for people and the system. The outcomes framework will support 
planning and alignment to key strategic plan priorities. 
 
There is a high level of confidence that appropriate improvement progress has been made, with it being 
evident that the continuous improvement programme clearly demonstrates ongoing future approach. This 
recommendation should be closed.  

Page 55



33 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

8 

The partnership should develop joint approaches to ensure robust quality assurance 
systems are embedded in practice 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Since the 2018 Report, much has been developed and implemented to provide evidence of 
being proactive to assuring a robust approach to quality, including: 

• Establishing the EIJB Clinical and Care Governance Group 

• Development of, and implementation of the new joint quality assurance framework 
o Development of the Professional quality improvement teams 
o The development of NHSL quality academy training and coaching network, and 

Social Work Quality Assurance groups 
o Progressing the quality dashboard 
o Establishment of Joint complaints system and associated improvement plans 

for complaints upheld/partially upheld 
 
Clinical and Care Governance Committee 
 

• The Good Governance Institute has supported EIJB to strengthen its governance 
arrangements and as a result the EIJB Clinical Care Governance Committee (CCG) was 
established at the end of 2019, which seeks assurance from the Clinical & Care 
Governance Teams.   The Clinical and Care Governance Group replaces the former 
Quality Improvement and Assurance Group discussed in previous reports. The Committee 
was suspended during 2020, and is in the process of being re –e stablished.  Reports and 
presentations will be forthcoming, and discussions are underway about the best way to 
more widely share these. 
 

• There is a shared vision that the Clinical & Care Governance structure in the partnership 
takes an integrated approach across both health and social care services.  The Clinical & 
Care Governance Committee (CCG), is co – chaired by the Chief Social Work officer, and 
EHSCP Clinical Director, and its membership includes representatives from health and 
social work services, and there is confidence that there is a robust reporting framework 
and associated structure. The purpose of the CCG is to review and report to the Board on 
the quality of care to the local population, specifically in relation to safety, quality of access 
and clinical effectiveness and experience, see the Terms of Reference, 8.1.     
 

• Recent public report packs, 8.2, and 8.3, demonstrate a wide range of agenda items, with 
a key focus on clinical and care governance, including vaccinations, both flu and covid; a 
deep dive on primary care; chief social work report; care home improvement actions; 
corporate governance and assurance in the NHs, and the whistleblowing framework for 
partner organisations 

 

• Key people involved in Clinical and Care Governance from EHSCP attended a Scottish 
Government event at the end of 2019 where we were asked to share our CCG  approach, 
this was commended as good practice and we were asked to work closely with colleagues 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.1 EIJB 
CCG Terms 
of Reference  
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 EIJB 
CCG Public 
Report Pack 
March 2021 
 
8.3 EIJB 
CCG Public 
Report Pack 
Feb 2021 
 

Page 56



34 
 

in Scottish Government,  to contribute towards the roll out of a national Clinical and Care 
Governance framework.  Unfortunately, this work has not progressed due to the pandemic.  
 

• The quality dashboard that was previously developed as a test of change improvement 
exercise,  to enable us to establish the availability and reliability of data has been 
reviewed, and has informed the  new reporting template, developed for Clinical and Care 
Governance teams to start using from April 2021 onwards. The template Reporting will be 
focussed on service delivery and its direct impact on quality of clinical and care 
governance and the care of residents, patients and people using our services.  There are 
five reporting mechanisms now established, see 8.4,  and being embedded, in line with 
recommendations of the 2018 Report. The recent CCG presentation, also indicates CCG 
agenda prioritisation (8.5) : 
 
1. Exception reporting will be used to describe instances, data, activity, practice or 

performance which has deviated significantly from expectations, usually in a negative 
direction. The intention of this section is to focus attention on just those areas 
requiring immediate action. 

2. Escalation reporting will be used as a vehicle for CCG Teams to draw attention to 
issues, themes or problems where resolutions have not been found,  or are hampered 
by barriers or blockers.  

3. SBAR reporting will be used when developing / expanding commentary supporting 
exception and escalation topics, setting out the Situation, Background, Actions, and 
Recommendations, and is widely used across EHSCP in other business. 

4. The Dashboard will be used by each CCG Team to provide standardised recording 
across a number of ‘fixed’ categories. (complaints / service user feedback, adverse 
events/ significant occurrences / Large Scale Inquiries,  Infection Prevention and 
Control,  and registered services inspection activity.  The dashboard will also be used 
to consolidate improvement when compiling evidence for an annual report which will 
be submitted to the Clinical & Care Governance Committee 

5. The Three Questions will be used to offer insight into 3 distinct subjects, topics or 
cases whether planned/unplanned events or where the learning was drawn from 
intended/unintended consequences that have impacted directly on Clinical and Care 
Governance and/or safe care. Indicate  the 3 Qs 
 
 

Development of the joint quality assurance framework, its application, and support 
from the locality quality improvement teams  

• We recognise that, traditionally, the  local authority’s  focus is more around assurance 
and control,  and health more around improvement.  

• To provide a single, joint approach for a joint quality assurance framework, (8.5), , the 
partnership has adopted the use of a Quality Management System (QMS) which is 
based on Juran’s Trilogy System and HIS Quality Management System. Key examples 
from the framework are indicated in the next section, and provides a new, structured 
single approach to planning, assurance and control, and improvement, all of which will 
influence our strategic planning approach and inform areas for transformation.  The 
QMS the outline includes:   
 
Planning: 

o Understanding our systems 
o Reporting 
o Feedback 
o Measures 

 
 

 
 
 
8.4 EHSCP 
QMS 
Reporting 
mechanisms 
 
8.5 EIJB 
CCG 
Presentation 
– Agenda 
and 
Reporting 
Priorities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.6 EHSCP 
Quality 
Management 
System   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



35 
 

Assurance and Control: 
o Risk Management Systems 
o Systems for early identification of concern 
o Observation of Care 
o Measures against standards 

 
Improvement: 

o QI knowledge and Expertise 
o Training 
o Coaching 
o Shared Learning 

 

• The QMS approach is currently being used in Royston Court Care Home, and is a 
helpful example to demonstrating impact to support the team to make improvements in 
order to meet the seven Care Inspectorate requirements and associated  areas for 
improvement,  (8.7), as well as colleagues in Royston identifying other areas for 
improvements.  The partnership Quality Lead and the Professional Lead for Quality 
and Standards have been based in Royston for 6 months from October 2020.  
 

• A supportive and co-productive approach has been encouraged, with the Royston 
Team gaining an understanding of where the problems were, taking ownership of 
ideas for improvement, and being supported to apply them in a sustainable way.  We 
are able to evidence that this approach has led to significant improvements and an 
overall improvement in grades.  The home was recently inspected and have been 
advised all outstanding requirements have now been met.   Part of this work included 
staff sessions on leadership, coaching, improvement methodology for sustainable 
improvement.  The quality leads have worked with the Royston Team, to develop a 
sustainability plan, with the care home manager, for the team to use to reaffirm the 
improvements made.  The Royston Team have indicated that they: 

o are more skilled and have more awareness, of the improvement approach 
o have improved consistency and continuity of care 
o have greater ownership within the team delivering the care 
o have accepted the quality leads as a valuable resource 

 

• The Quality Leads plan to support the remaining EHSCP care homes, following the 
same methods with a view to standardising the approach to quality and assurance, 
with the Royston Team contributing with their learning.   
 

• Additionally: 
o Work is underway to provide assurance of social work and care,  through case 

reviews, with teams sharing learning from this with operational and strategic 
teams to ensure focussed improvements 

o Across localities the Quality improvement Hub has been established in a virtual 
way, to comply with pandemic restrictions, with an overview of the quality 
improvement  expertise being gathered, to build on, and optimise existing 
locality capacity to own and affect sustainable change  

o Reports by exception will be presented to the CCG, with growing confidence of 
transparency and reports being publicly available as 2021 progresses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.7 EHSCP 
Royston 
Care Home 
Team 
Improvement 
Plan  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



36 
 

 
How our new EHSCP Quality Framework is operating, and benefiting people      
As well as the key examples above, the new quality framework continues to be applied, to 
provide various feedback opportunities to inform improvements and strategic directions, 
through various mechanisms, including: 
 
Development of professional quality improvement teams; Allied Health Professionals, 
Social Work,  Community Nursing, hospital and hosted services teams: 

• When fully implemented the quality framework will have Clinical & Care Governance 
Teams established  in each locality,  and hospital and hosted service area which will 
report into the Clinical and Care Governance Group  - as described previously.   These 
team will be multidisciplinary rather than singular professional groups, drawing on 
shared  knowledge, experience and expertise, and further emphasising the cross 
sector approach. 

• On-going developments will take into account the new responsibilities  
 
 

The development of NHSL quality academy training and coaching network, and 
Social Work Quality Assurance groups  

• The partnership has good relationships and close links with NHS Lothian quality 
academy – a small number of social care staff have undertaken this training. Covid has 
had an adverse impact on the delivery of this training, and associated QI work,  with 
applications now open again for staff to apply.  

• As well as the partnership quality hub gathering information about who has what QI 
skills, EHSCP is planning a quality network to optimise the capacity, and plan to set up 
a coaching network to support staff undertaking improvement work.   
 
 

Single complaints system and associated improvement plans for complaints 
upheld/partially upheld  

• As part of the new quality framework, health and social work complaints are now 
managed centrally,  with all complaints  recorded and managed through a single 
system - Datix.  Complaints sits within the quality hub, as complaints are one of the key 
sources of feedback to inform planning. The complaints team meets weekly to review 
all new complaints with an emphasis of identifying complaints that involve more than 
one service in the partnership, and has close links with the NHSL patient experience 
team. The 2018 Brief highlighting this approach, in place since then (8.8). 

• At a meeting with the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman (SPSO), our joint approach 
was identified as a best practice example. 

• Looking ahead, we will do further work to determine the best mechanism to ensure that 
improvement plans are fully implemented, to provide assurance that improvements 
have been made, learning is shared, and actions closed off.  

• When the complaints team was devolved, the existing remaining Council complaints 

roles were reviewed and social care quality assurance officer posts were developed, 

and assigned to each locality, making a valued contribution to the locality quality hubs.  

• Plans are underway to identify a lead complaints officer to support each of the EHSCP 

care homes, to encourage ownership of the approach to managing complaints,  to 

make responses more person-centred, and in line with duty of candour principles. 

Taking this approach has seen improvement in the way the quality hub now works 

alongside the locality teams, with quality of investigations and responses having 

improved considerably. The new approach to local resolution has been welcomed, 

where we make direct contact with those who have complained to explain process, and 

see whether immediate action can be taken to improve the situation, pending a full 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.8 EHSCP 
2018 
Complaints 
Brief  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



37 
 

investigation, if appropriate. This has often resulted in early, satisfied conclusion for the 

complainant, with teams reporting that this is a helpful, more satisfying way forwar 

 
Locality manager led quality assurance  meetings for care homes and care at home 

• These established multiagency fora, continue to provide oversight across both internal and 
external provision, ensuring support and continuous improvement of standards.  The Care 
home group terms of reference have recently been updated, (8.9).  And the care at home 
terms of reference can be seen at 8.1.  
 

 
 
 
 
8.9 EHSCP 
MAQA Care 
at Home 
TOR  
  

Impact of the Independent Review of Adult Social Care in Scotland 

• The enhanced Professional and Clinical Oversight structures for care homes, as 
established in May 2020, contributes to the recommendation in the independent review of 
the safety and quality of care provided in care homes being improved to guarantee 
consistent, appropriate standards of care. 

• The full implementation of the EHSCP quality framework will also contribute, and places 
Edinburgh well,  to achieve a balance across all vulnerable communities, providing 
professional and clinical oversight, balancing: 

o protection, welfare and holistic interests of residents 
o clinical and care interests with ongoing commitment to individuals’ human rights, 

and ethical principles, including engagement, choice and control  

• Additionally, the application of a single system complaints process, and local resolution 
contributes to having rapid recourse to an effective complaints system and to redress, 
when things do not work out for people, or where their rights may not have been upheld 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Our aspiration remains to have an integrated quality improvement hub which will allow us to influence the 
assurance, improvement and transformation work needed in the partnership. We plan to identify quality 
champions or experts that can help spread this kind of methodology across the partnership, and draw upon 
the learning from the full implementation of the quality framework, allowing a shared language, understanding 
and vision for continuous improvement across the partnership. 
 
Although we are not yet where we want to be, there has been significant progress made over the last few 
years, through starting to implement the quality framework, and establishment of a robust clinical and care 
governance infrastructure.  We recognise a significant culture change, moving from different historical 
systems to a single, and shared vision will take time to embed.  
 
Our focus on the strategic approach to roll out quality methodologies will make a difference to embed 
sustainability of quality assurance and a continuous improvement mind set, impacting positively on peoples’ 
experience and the capacity and confidence of our multi agency workforce. This in turn, add confidence to our 
ability to demonstrate robust quality assurance systems are embedded in practice. 
 

Page 60



38 
 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021  

– PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

9 

The Partnership should work with the local community and other stakeholders to develop and 
implement a cross market facilitation strategy.  This should include risk assessment and 
contingency plans 

 
 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

 
A market facilitation strategy and accompanying risk assessment and contingency 
plans, aligned to our commissioning plans 
 
Plans for the production of a market facilitation strategy were originally set out by the 
EHSCP in the “Statement of Intent” in 2018. There has been significant change since that 
time, with a new leadership team now in place and a wide-ranging strategic transformation 
programme underway. The production of a formal market facilitation strategy is now being 
built into our approach to the development of a refreshed EIJB Strategic Plan. Agreement 
has been reached with the Strategic Planning Group of the EIJB that the strategy will form 
part of the overall Strategic Plan, due to be published by March 2022.  
 
To support the EIJB strategic objectives, a Market Facilitation Strategy will be developed in 
collaboration with our partners and other stakeholders.  The intent is to create a market 
facilitation project within Programme 3 of the Transformation Programme, which will sweep 
up the Care@Home (external) services, Home Care (internal) services and the further 
development of the One Edinburgh concept.  The transformation programme seeks to be 
innovative and to challenge traditional care models. Our approach to market shaping and 
facilitation will be informed by the current planning cycle, stakeholder engagement and 
ultimately production of the next Strategic Plan for 2022-25.  
  
Over the past 12 months, during the Covid-19 pandemic, the market within Edinburgh has 
faced considerable challenges and our focus has been on supporting and working with 
providers to ensure the continuity of vital services. Furthermore, the implications of the 
recent Independent Review of Adult Social care Services are not yet fully understood. As 
such, a decision has been made to take some additional time to fully develop our market 
facilitation approach and ensure it is informed by the ongoing work to refresh the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and well aligned with our financial planning and 
commissioning planning.  
 
Whilst we do not yet have a formalised market facilitation strategy, the principles which will 
underpin this document are clear and are based on a new collaborative relationships with 
our providers, aligned to the principles of the Edinburgh Pact and in line with the approach 
being taken as part of the “One Edinburgh” model of redesigning care at home services. We 
recognise the importance of a dynamic and ongoing conversation with providers to shape a 
new relationship.  
 
Our market facilitation strategy will take account of the unique nature of the Edinburgh 
market and the additional risks that brings. Our focus will be on building the resilience of the 
market, being very clear about our strategic plans and what we need from our 
commissioned services going forward. 

 
 
 
 
9.1 April EIJB 
report – 
Strategic Plan 
Update  
 
 
 
 
9.2 – SPG 
Market 
Facilitation 
report, May 
2021 

Page 61



39 
 

Engaging effectively with key market sectors and investing in relationship building in 
a planned and strategic way 
 
In the last 12 months, we have embarked on a new and innovative approach to our 
commissioning and procurement of essential services, rooted in the principle of 
collaboration and co-production with our providers.  
 
Within our transformation programme, extensive engagement has been undertaken in 
relation to our “One Edinburgh” approach and as part of the process of commissioning a 
new contract to provide care at home support for over 65s in the city. We are seeking to 
move away from competitive based procurement processes and towards the creation of 
robust and innovative partnership models. A number of visioning workshops took place with 
providers throughout May and June 2020 to set out our vision for change and invite 
providers to engage with us in the redesign of care at home services (see 9.3 and 9.4). 
Following this, a series of co-production sessions were then held in December 2020 and 
January 2021 (see 9.5).  The PIN (Prior Information Notice) for the care at home contract, 
issued in October 2020, was clearly positioned not as a call for competition, but as a call to 
providers to work with us in partnership to develop a redesigned, sustainable and outcome-
focused model of service delivery.  
 
Similarly, the commissioning and procurement process for the recent enhanced carer 
contract awards has seen a Carerwell Partnership emerge, with key providers working 
together to deliver community carer support. 
 
Our transformation governance structure ensures representation from colleagues from the 
third and independent sectors and allows an opportunity for stakeholders to shape our 
change plans, both at project and at programme level. The programme structure also allows 
for close alignment between the development of transformation of home based care 
services, and the emerging principles and themes of the Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact and 
Community Mobilisation work.  
 
Significant work has also been done at an operational level to improve and strengthen 
relationships with our commissioned providers on an ongoing basis. Weekly meetings with 
provider representative colleagues from Scottish Care, covering both care homes and care 
at home services, have been in place since May 2020, to provide support during the Covid-
19 pandemic. Learning from this engagement will help to inform the new market facilitation 
approach.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.3 – one 
Edinburgh 
design and 
engagement 
slides 
9.4 – Visioning 
Feedback 
Summary 
9.5 – Co-
production 
summary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.6 – Home 
Based Care 
project brief 

 
Issues of choice, quality, contract rates and capacity in the care home market  
 
Over the last 12 months we have seen significant changes to the profile of care home usage 
in the city, due to the impacts of Covid-19. At present, we have greater care home available 
capacity than when the original inspection and progress review were carried out. We are 
mindful of the unusual circumstances and are taking full account of likely future demand and 
capacity of care home beds through our Bed Based Care project, within the transformation 
programme.  
 
Aligned to the Bed Base Care project, we have also initiated a care home transformation 
programme, led by Chief Nurse. This is focused on improving quality and outcomes and has 
identified a number of key work streams including: workforce; standards; governance; health 
and wellbeing, person-centred planning, participation and engagement; communication; 
improvement, innovation and research. The care home managers are playing a key role in 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.7 – Care 
Home 
Transformation 
work streams 
 
 

Page 62

https://p4p.org.uk/opportunity/older-adults-homebased-care-re-design-prior-information-notice/


40 
 

identifying key areas for improvement, and are being supported to affect sustainable 
change.  
 
We have invested significant time and effort over recent years in building and strengthening 
relationships with new providers, working to influence the provision of social care beds at 
any new builds.  
 
At the time of the progress review, inspectors noted that additional beds had been 
purchased at a higher rate to deal with short term capacity issues. These beds have not 
been recommissioned, and although, like many partnerships, some short term beds were 
commissioned as part of the initial response to Covid-19 to support hospital discharge. 
Instead, any capacity challenges are being addressed in a planned and strategic way as 
part of our transformation programme.  
 
Regular engagement approaches are in place to ensure both the sustainability of providers 
and the quality and capacity of services remain post-pandemic. Regular meetings are taking 
place with the Care Inspectorate. Our “Scottish Government Route Map Board”, jointly 
chaired by the Head of Strategic Planning and Head of Operations, considers any viability 
issues and there is ongoing support from our Locality, Commissioning and Contracts  
teams, with the latter, along with finance colleagues,  managing any covid related financial 
claims from the sector.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.8 – Route 
Map ToR  

Challenges with the care at home framework in relation to quality and capacity 
 
Since the original inspection and the 2018 progress review, there has been a marked 
improvement in the overall stability of our care at home services. The Sustainable 
Community Support programme was established to drive improvements in capacity and 
quality of services under the current care at home contract. Moreover, the programme has 
facilitated relationship building between locality teams and provider organisations. 

 
We have seen a sustained increase in care at home capacity over the last 2 years. As at 
February 2019, we commissioned 31,587 hours of care per week to support 1970 older 
people. By February 2021, this has risen to 44,387 hours of support per week for 2217 
people. This is an increase of 12,800 hours per week and an additional 747 people 
supported. During the same period, our internally delivered home care reduced by 3295 
hours per week, but this still represents a net increase of 9505 hours per week over the 2 
year period.  
 
We have also seen an increased stability in existing provision. Despite the pressures of 
Covid, no providers have withdrawn from the market, which is a testament to the stronger 
relationships and increased support that EHSCP has provided (5 providers had withdrawn in 
the previous 2 years). Suspension of providers due to quality concerns has also reduced. 
There are currently only 3 providers suspended, and we are supporting 2 providers to 
improve failures in their service delivery.  

We have strengthened and improved the terms and conditions of service specification, to 
promote stability and ensure continuity of care for service users. This has included: 

• Removing the option of providers handing back POCs with only 48 hours’ notice; 

• Removing the risk of service users terminating their care with 12 hours’ notice;  

• Ensuring continuity of care where people go into hospital for up to 7 days.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.9 – Care at 
Home capacity 
data report  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.10 – Care at 
Home service 
specification 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



41 
 

We have established a new tiered approach to managing providers, which has enabled 
additional due diligence and a sustainable approach to supporting small providers in the 
sector.  
 
Moving forward, our One Edinburgh approach will transform the way in which we 
commission and provide care at home services, with a focus on building collaborative 
relationships to drive improvements in quality, capacity and sustainability of services and 
supports. We will ensure that regular feedback from service users forms a key part of our 
approach under the new contract and use this learning to inform further improvements.  
 
 

 

Quality and capacity in relation to day care and respite 
 
Since the 2018 progress review, day opportunity provision has been reviewed, with 
business need incorporating a consistent approach for all mainstream registered day 
opportunities being delivered through third sector.  This is seen as a valuable component of 
support for unpaid carers and breaks from caring. 
 
Providers were engaged and involved in providing feedback from their expertise and the 
lived experience of people who use day opportunities, and their families.  This has informed 
the co-production of the specification, with encouragement to provide a variety of provision, 
beyond the traditional centre base, to enhance choice and control, initial reluctance, 
however adaptability during pandemic has seen a shift to more flexible delivery.  

 
Thorough procurement process has been undertaken, with recent discussions taking into 
account the adjustments associated with flexible delivery through increased outreach and 
one to one support.  Fourteen providers have been awarded £4.93m worth of contracts on a 
Framework Agreement, over two years, following approval at Finance and Resource 
Committee March 2021.  Evaluation of tenders through this process indicated 70% 
associated with quality, and 30% against finance criteria. Sustainability considerations were 
also taken into account. 

 
Ongoing market facilitation through involvement, responding to market intelligence and 
impact on outcomes and performance will influence the longer term market position and 
ongoing developments. 

 
The Edinburgh Joint Carer Strategy has indicated short breaks from caring as a key priority 
area, increasing investment by almost 60%.  Application will see the range, choice and 
control enhanced, responding to what matters to unpaid carers. In response to feedback 
from carers and providers and the independent review of the previous carer strategy, the 
strategy also sees additional investment to support replacement care for unpaid carers, to 
enhance opportunity for short breaks from caring. 

 
Through the Performance and Delivery Committee, a robust performance and evaluation 
framework has been ratified, with a balance between measuring performance outputs and 
outcomes for people clearly indicated. There will be a consistent approach for measuring 
outcomes, and this will be secured through the appropriate commissioning processes.  First 
annual performance and evaluation report will be presented to performance and delivery 
committee after one year of the delivery of new, enhanced contracts, after Jan 2022. 

 
It should be noted that bed based respite care is being reviewed as part of the Bed Based 
Care Strategy, with the guiding principle that this should be provided in as homely a setting 
as possible, in wider community settings. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.11 F&R 
report March 
2021 – Day 
Opportunities 
Framework 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.12 – Joint 
Carer Strategy 
 
 
 
 
9.13 – Carers 
Performance 
and Evaluation 
report to CCG 

Page 64

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s31913/7.18%20-%20Award%20of%20Contracts%20for%20Day%20Opportunities%20Framework.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s31913/7.18%20-%20Award%20of%20Contracts%20for%20Day%20Opportunities%20Framework.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s4870/Combined%20Carers%20Strategy.pdf


42 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Since the 2018 progress review, the EHSCP has invested significant time and effort in fostering new, 
collaborative partnerships with colleagues in the third and independent sectors. Despite a formal market 
facilitation strategy not yet being in place, the principles by which we intend to work with our partners are 
clearly laid out within the Strategic Plan and the Edinburgh Pact.  
 
We have already strengthened our approach to engaging and involving partners, both in our transformation 
programme and within our operational, business as usual services. Significant improvements have been seen 
in capacity of care at home services and plans are well underway to commission new, innovative, redesigned 
care at home services in partnership with the third and independent sectors, in line with our “One Edinburgh” 
vision.  
 
We are confident in the direction of travel for our future commissioning plans and market facilitation approach, 
which is closely aligned with the principles set out in the recent Independent Review of Adult Social Care.  
 

Page 65



43 
 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

10  

The Partnership should produce a revised and updated joint strategic commissioning plan with 
detail on: 

- how priorities are to be resourced 
- how joint organisational development planning to support this is to be taken forward 
- how consultation, engagement and involvement are to be maintained 
- fully costed action plans including plans for investment and disinvestment based on 

identified future needs  
- expected measurable outcomes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Previous Outline Strategic Commissioning Plans  
 
Prior to the publication of the current Strategic Plan 2019 – 2022, significant work had been 
carried out to produce five outline strategic commissioning plans for: older people, physical 
disabilities, learning disabilities, mental health and primary care. Although these five outline 
plans were produced following extensive engagement and consultation with a wide range 
of stakeholders, the five plans were produced in isolation, raising risk of duplication and 
lack of alignment.  
 
On appointment of the new Head of Strategic Planning, a decision was taken to align the 
outputs from the five plans into the transformation programme and the new overarching 
Strategic Plan. A mapping exercise was carried out of the five plans and all of their stated 
deliverables, with a significant amount of activity subsumed into emerging transformation 
projects. Where activity did not directly align with transformation priorities, this was taken 
on as business as usual, to ensure that none of the vital work developed was lost. A formal 
report (10.1) was taken to the EIJB to evidence this and to ensure that stakeholders could 
see that their work had been captured and would be taken forward.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.1 – EIJB 
Strategic Plan 
report August 
2019 

Development of the Current Strategic Plan/ Review and Refresh of the Plan  
 
The current Strategic Plan was approved by the EIJB in August 2019. The plan captured 
key elements from the outline commissioning plans and set out the direction of travel, 
including our transformation ambitions. The plan was structured around 4 “pillars” – 3 
Conversations, Home First, the Edinburgh Pact and Transformation. Extensive 
engagement and consultation was carried out to finalise the plan and further details of this 
are provided in the statement for recommendation 1.   
 
A review of the existing strategic plan was carried out in September/October 2020. Good 
progress has been made, including the recruitment of the transformation team and the 
establishment of our transformation programme.  
 
The focus has now shifted towards the review and refresh of our Strategic Plan, to identify 
any gaps and ensure that it fully reflects our current strategic priorities and ambitions. The 
intention is to produce 2 plans – one which sets out a higher level and longer term strategic 
direction, and a second which sets out 3-year commissioning plans for the period 2022 – 

 
 
10.1 – EIJB 
report (see 
above)  
 
 
 
 
10.2 – SPG 
report – review 
of Strategic 
Plan 2019-2022 
 
 
 
 

Page 66

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s4851/Combined%20Strategic%20Plan.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s4851/Combined%20Strategic%20Plan.pdf


44 
 

2025. The 3-year commissioning plans will continue to be very much linked to our 
transformation plans, and,  over time we intend to transition the work into a “core 
programme” of activity, ensuring that  changes are well embedded, and sustained through 
our business as usual activity. As part of this process, locality operational plans will also be 
developed. Further details of this proves are set out in an update report to the EIJB in April 
2021.  
 
Draft commissioning plans will be ready by August 2021 and then further shaped by 
consultation. Both plans will be published by March 2022. 

10.3 – EIJB 
report, April 
2021, Strategic 
Plan Update 

Transformation Programme  
 
The Transformation Programme is one of the key mechanisms for delivery of the ambitions 
set out in the Strategic Plan. The programme was partly suspended during the initial stages 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, and a report subsequently brought to the EIJB setting out a 
proposed phased approach to delivery.  
 
The transformation programme is taking forward a number of key strategic priorities, 
including 3 Conversations, Home First, Edinburgh Pact, Bed Based Care review. The 
programme follows national direction of travel in shifting balance of care. These projects 
will deliver against many of the issues raised in the original inspection. Outputs from 
projects will enable the delivery of key strategic changes. All aspects of the programme are 
led by locality, strategic planning and commissioning,  senior managers, as senior 
responsible officers, with executive team members leading the programme boards. 
 
Work is underway to determine project and programme level benefits for the programme, 
which will evidence impact and contribute towards defining overall measures of 
effectiveness for the Strategic Plan. There will be a balance between qualitative and 
quantitative measures, seeking to evidence performance improvements as well as 
improvements in the outcomes and experience of the people we support.  
 
The key elements and approach associated with Transformation Programme will, in time, 
become business as usual and be considered as a key part of the implementation of the 
Strategic Plan. Consideration is underway of resource and organisational requirements to 
ensure that key projects are adequately resourced beyond the current 2-year lifespan of 
the programme team.  
 

 
 
10.4 EIJB 
transformation 
report, July 
2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(10.3 – EIJB 
Strategic Plan 
update, April 
2021- see 
above)  
 
 
 

Measuring Performance and Outcomes 
 
The performance framework and surrounding governance has been significantly improved 
since the 2018 progress review. In February 2021, a new Performance and Evaluation 
Manager was recruited and is working on establishing and embedding improved measures 
of effectiveness as a matter of urgency. This will ensure we can effectively track and 
assess the impacts of delivery of the Strategic Plan. This post works closely with 
performance and analytics staff in our partner organisations, NHS Lothian and City of 
Edinburgh Council.  
 
More robust monitoring and governance arrangements are now in place to review 
performance. A report is presented to the Performance and Delivery Committee every 2 
months on progress against the national indicators and key performance indicators. This 
has been instrumental in showing some improvement, and understanding of trends and 
analysis of information. 
 
Extensive work has been undertaken in recent months to refresh the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment and this will help to inform the new plans and strategic priorities. The first set 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.5 – P&D 
performance 
reports 
10.6 – P&D 
Committee ToR 
 
 
10.7 – 10.9 – 
JSNA topic 
papers: 
Dementia, 

Page 67

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33370/6.2%20Strategy%20Progress%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s33370/6.2%20Strategy%20Progress%20Report.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s24784/Item%207.1%20-%20Return%20to%20Transformation.pdf


45 
 

of JSNA papers have been produced, focusing on: population and demographics; poverty 
in Edinburgh; and dementia. The project team continues to work on additional topic papers.  
 
A robust process is in place for the development of the annual performance report. The 
transformation programme is working on identification of benefits measures to evidence 
success.  

Poverty & 
Population 
10.10 – EIJB 
Annual 
Performance 
Report 2019/20 

Consultation, Engagement and Involvement 
 
In early 2020, a dedicated Communications and Engagement Manager joined the EHSCP 
and has since been supported by a small communications team to provide additional 
support. An overall communications strategy is being created for the EHSCP/EIJB and will 
be ready by June 2021. A DRAFT version is included at 10.10 for information.  
 
Communications and engagement plans are underway for the refresh of the strategic plan 
and a series of staff focus groups have commenced. Ongoing development of the plan will 
include engagement with all stakeholders, including public, staff, partners etc.  
 
Extensive communications and engagement have taken place, as part of the 3 
Conversations, Home First and Home Based Care programmes, and more recently 
through the Edinburgh Pact and Community Mobilisation project. A very successful session 
took place in January with wide range of third sector and community based organisations, 
beginning the process of developing new, collaborative and partnership based community 
commissioning and investment models. A report was taken to the EIJB in April 2021 setting 
out the plans for delivery of the Community Mobilisation work.  
 
Overall EIJB communications and engagement has improved. Since the 2018 progress 
review, a dedicated website has been developed for the EIJB/EHSCP, along with 
recognised branding and logos. EIJB public engagement sessions were held in late 2020, 
giving members of the public an opportunity to hear and ask questions about the EIJB’s 
strategic priorities. In addition to this, we have recruited 3 new citizens’ representatives to 
join the EIJB and provide the board with the benefit of their lived experience and the Head 
of Strategic Planning is also providing 6-monthly engagement sessions with community 
councils.    

 
 
10.11 – draft 
communications 
strategy  
 
 
10.12 – focus 
group slides 
 
 
10.13 – EIJB 
report on 
Edinburgh Pact 
& Community 
Mobilisation, 
April 2021 
 
 

Financial planning, investment and disinvestment  
Since 2018, significant improvements have been made in relation to our financial planning 
process and savings and recovery planning. More detailed evidence of this is set out in the 
evaluative statement for Recommendation 11. 
 
As detailed strategies and plans are developed, they will take account of the financial 
implications and identify areas of required investment and disinvestment, to ensure 
sustainability in the longer term.  

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Over the last 2 years, it is evident that there has been a fundamental shift in approach, moving from a 
reactionary approach to a long-term planned approach. Strategic planning and commissioning frameworks 
and approaches have been strengthened. Communications and engagement are more robust and inclusive. 
The establishment of the transformation team and programme has provided the additional capacity needed to 
turn strategic intent into delivery. There is a high level of confidence that the necessary improvements have 
been made to facilitate a more structured and effective approach to the development and implementation of 
strategy going forward.   

Page 68

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-ijb/


46 
 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

11 

The Partnership should develop and implement detailed financial recovery plans to ensure 

that a sustainable financial position is achieved for the Integrated Joint Board 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Development and implementation of Savings Governance Framework: Strengthened 
governance processes and monitoring 
 
Management and oversight of financial planning has been strengthened considerably since 
the 2018 progress review. The Savings and Recovery Programme is now managed utilising 
the Savings Governance Framework that was put in place during Spring 2020, following an 
internal audit review of the governance of the programme (11.1).  
 
The framework considers not only the requirement for immediate savings in year to ensure 
financial balance, but provides a clear and structured approach for future years, that aligns 
with our partners financial planning processes.  As appropriate, we have also recognised 
within the framework, links to the IJBs transformation programme to ensure that proposal 
development, delivery and benefits realisation (including savings) are monitored 
collaboratively to ensure consistency in approach, avoid duplication and ensure learning is 
shared. The Savings Governance Framework was developed in close dialogue with audit 
colleagues and following its production, the associated audit actions have been closed.  
 
Delivery of the Savings and Recovery Programme is overseen by the Savings Governance 
Board (SGB), chaired by the Chief Officer. This group meets monthly with all senior 
responsible officers submitting progress reports which inform the overall dashboard prepared 
by the Programme Manager. As part of this process all reports are signed off, and supported  
by finance colleagues to ensure accurate and appropriate reporting. 
 
SGB Monthly dashboards are used as the basis for quarterly reports to the EIJBs 
Performance and Delivery Committee provide. These reports provide assurance that 
appropriate checks and balances are in place, to both monitor and scrutinise the Savings and 
Recovery Programme projects and manage associated risks and impacts.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
11.1: 
Savings 
Governance 
Framework  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11.2: SGB 
dashboard 
Dec 2020 
 
11.3 SGB 
action/ 
decision 
tracker  
 
11.4 – P&D 
savings 
report  

Recent successes: Delivery of savings and financial balance achieved 
 

• EIJB reached financial balance in 2019/20 without additional support from partners and 
fully delivered against the savings and recovery programme for the year 

• Comprehensive Savings Programme developed and approved as part of EIJBs financial 
plan for 2020/21 

• The development of our financial plan takes account of demographics and the particular 
considerations for older people’s services.  

• Reached financial balance in 2020/21 (11.6 and 11.7) 
- Progress has been made across all projects within the programme 
- Despite the challenges posed by COVID-19 highlighted above, overall, financial 

balance reached across the 2020/21 Savings and Recovery Programme. In some 
cases this will be achieved through under spends or slippage in other budget areas 

11.5: EIJB 
report: 
Savings 
Prog 20/21  
 
11.6: EIJB 
Finance 
Update 
02/02/21 
 
11.7: EIJB 
Financial 
Plan 21/22 

Page 69

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s24813/Item%207.2%20-%20Savings%20and%20Recovery%20Programme%202020-21%20V2.pdf


47 
 

and through Scottish Government (SG) funding for unachieved savings via 
mobilisation plans 

• Despite ongoing financial challenge and the fact that the 2021/22 financial plan is not yet 
in balance, we will continue to work with our partners to reach balance during the 
financial year. As well as the EIJB itself, this position is supported by our partners in the 
City of Edinburgh Council and NHS Lothian. 
 

Integration and Sustainability: developing a way forward longer term (11.6) 
 
In recent years our approach to financial planning has focused firstly on identifying the key 
priorities for the overall budget, then on quantifying the in-year shortfall between projected 
income and expenditure. Subsequently we identify, and then deliver, savings and recovery 
schemes to address the gap. Each year, developing savings proposals which will have limited 
impact on performance, quality and outcomes becomes more difficult.  
 
The existing and agreed Transformation Programme sets out ambitious and clear actions that 
aim to develop and deliver tailored solutions to make sure that people get the services that 
are right for them. However, even optimising this programme alongside the innovations seen 
more broadly within the organisation, will not realise efficiencies sufficient to address the 
financial challenges that will be faced in the next 3-5 years. 
 
The Transformation and modernisation approach will become our standardised approach to 
ensuring sustainability going forward, ensuring the right people are involved in the decisions, 
ensuring key alignment with strategic plan, transformation programme, savings and 
governance programme,  and development of locality plans, to realise both transformation 
and efficiency aspirations. 
 
Examples of this alignment and fluidity is evident in various examples, such as the review of 
Medical Day Hospitals starting as a Saving and Governance proposal, and as scoping 
progressed understanding the transformational potential and better alignment with the 
Transformation approach, as part of the community frailty work stream. 
 
In this context an alternative approach has been adopted – an Integration and Sustainability 
Framework, aligned to/ underpinned by the EIJBs Strategic Plan, which looks at how we work 
with our staff and the people of Edinburgh to shape and reimagine, the delivery of services 
within communities, and,  within the funding available to us. To help us look towards the 
future, it is important to understand exactly what the health and social care service currently 
looks like in Edinburgh. The first phase underway,  is building a clear baseline understanding 
of the current system, services and how they are provided now. 
 
It is important to recognise that this is a long term approach, and that we still have a 
requirement to deliver savings in the short term. Therefore a savings and recovery 
programme will be required to bridge the transition to integration and sustainability in the 
longer term.  
 

11.6: EIJB 
Finance 
Update 
02/02/21 

Independent Review of Health & Social Care:  
 
The recent Independent Review of Adult Social Care, commissioned by the Scottish 
Government, recognises that the key issue affecting social care is lack of funding and that 
social care is not currently funded in a way that is sustainable or supports the transformation 
of services. It is too early to know the timescales or funding implications for the 
implementation of recommendations set out in the Independent Review. It is clear however, 
that the EIJB’s strategic direction and transformation ambitions are well aligned with the 

 

Page 70

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s32510/7.2%20-%202021-22%20Financial%20Plan.pdf


48 
 

findings of the Independent Review and in the short term, the delivery of our transformation 
ambitions will proceed as planned.  
 

Ongoing financial pressures: challenges with presenting a 3 year balanced plan 
 
Despite the significant efforts that have been made to ensure financial balance in recent 
years, each year the task becomes more difficult, as is the case for many IJBs across the 
country.   
 
Even with the commitments of the financial framework around redesign and 
transformation of EIJB services the outlook remains extremely challenging, making it difficult 
to guarantee a sustainable financial position and present a 3-year balanced plan. 
 

11.7 – March 
EIJB 
Finance 
report  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Since the 2018 progress review, significant action has been taken to strengthen the governance and approach 
to financial planning. There has been a sustained shift from short term disinvestments and reinvestments 
towards a planned and methodical longer-term approach to ensuring financial sustainability. The links between 
strategic planning and financial planning have been strengthened and the improved Savings Governance 
approach has provided better transparency, rigor and control. Like all IJBs, financial challenges remain, 
however the EIJB has a clear unity of purpose and robust relationships, systems and processes are in place to 
deliver against our strategic intent.   
 

 

Page 71



49 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

12 

The Partnership should ensure that: 

- there are clear pathways to accessing services 

- eligibility criteria are developed and applied consistently 

- pathways and criteria are clearly communicated to all stakeholders, and 

- waiting lists are managed effectively to enable the timely allocation of services 

 

 

 

 

13 

 

 

 

The partnership should ensure that: 

- people who use services have a comprehensive, up-to-date assessment and 

review of their needs which reflects their views and the views of the professionals 

involved  

- people who use services have a comprehensive care plan, which includes 

anticipatory planning where relevant  

- relevant records should contain a chronology 

- allocation of work following referral, assessment, care planning and review are all 

completed within agreed timescales  

 

 

 

 

15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Partnership should ensure that self-directed support is used to promote greater choice 

and control for older people. Staff and multi-agency training should be undertaken to support 

increased confidence in staff in all settings so that they can discuss the options of self-directed 

support with people using care services 

 

 

 

 

NOTE THAT, GIVEN HOW CLOSELY INTER-CONNECTED THESE RECOMMENDATIONS ARE, 

A SINGLE STATEMENT HAS BEEN PROVIDED COVERING EVIDENCE FOR ALL THREE 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

3 Conversations 
 
The 3 Conversations (3C’s) approach is an asset-based approach that supports choice and 
flexibility, it is a more person-centred approach for individuals and their families across 
Edinburgh. It is based on the principle that the EHSCP should focus not on the function of care 
management and its processes, but rather on organising its resources around having “three 
conversations” effectively. 3C’s focuses on what matters to people, working collaboratively 
with them as the experts in their own lives. It recognises the power of connecting people to the 
strengths and assets of community networks, and the necessity to work dynamically with 
people in crisis. Staff are encouraged to think creatively about how to support people to deliver 
improved outcomes. 
 
Our 3C’s approach has allowed us to deliver improved outcomes for people through 
improvements to pathways and access to services, and by ensure that those pathways are 
communicated to all stakeholders. Fortnightly governance and engagement meetings have 
been established to oversee the implementation of the model. Representatives from frontline 
teams attend along with members of the Executive Management Team and a representative 
from our third sector interface, the Edinburgh Voluntary Organisations Council (EVOC). The 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



50 
 

meetings give frontline teams the opportunity to share and develop their learning regarding the 
new ways of working.  
 
Our innovation sites have reduced bureaucracy in the pathway to ensure that people get what 
they need as quickly as possible. Within innovation sites, we have introduced new simplified 
templates and processes to free up valuable staff time whilst still ensuring robust recording 
and reporting. 3C’s focuses on staff taking ownership and avoiding hand-offs and referrals 
which can lead to increased waiting times and poor outcomes. The staff member who has the 
first conversation takes responsibility for supporting the individual, pulling in other support or 
expertise as needed.   
 
The 3C’s project has so far delivered 11 innovation sites including approximately 100 staff, 
with two more ready to go live shortly and more in the pipeline. Innovation sites provide a 
supportive environment where staff can learn to practice the new approach, with added 
support from their peers, the transformation project team and Partners 4 Change.  Initial 
findings from the Phase 1 Evaluation (see 12.3) have been very positive. 71% of new people 
have been supported at Conversation 1 without the need to progress to formal service 
provision.  Only 14% of new people required paid-for services, compared to 24% previously.  
Staff were able to respond very quickly, with the average wait to see a worker reduced from 40 
days to 3.8 days. Most teams managed to operate without a waiting list through the period 
under evaluation.   
 
Feedback from staff involved in innovation sites in Phase 1 was very positive, with staff 
reporting a high level of satisfaction, feeling that the approach resonates with their social work 
values and principles and allows them to better utilise their skills and experience in supporting 
people. Staff reported enjoying working in a more collaborative way, by eradicating formal 
referrals within teams, and through the use of huddles and reflective practice sessions.  
“Stories of Difference” (see 12.5) recorded by the innovation sites also give a sense of the kind 
of innovative approaches used to provide support and how these differ from what might have 
been done prior to the introduction of 3C’s. Moving forward, there will be a focus on gathering 
more extensive and meaningful feedback from individuals that we support, to understand the 
impact of the 3C approach on personal outcomes and experience. A simple survey is currently 
being trialled to gather feedback from those we have worked with. Whilst this is in early stages 
and returns are still low, the feedback gathered has been very positive (see 12.6).  
 
The project will be extended into NHS areas of the Partnership throughout 2021/22, with the 
aim of proving the effectiveness of the approach across both health and social care services. 
Whilst not all services will adopt the approach fully (including paperwork and processes), it is 
still our ambition that all staff within the EHSCP will embrace the ethos and principles. Work is 
underway to embed the 3C’s approach into the way we do business, including the appointment 
of a 3C’s Operations Manager post. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
12.1 and 
12.2 – 3C 
conversation 
record and 
support plan 
 
 
 
12.3 and 
12.4 – 
Phase 1 
Evaluation 
Report and 
progress 
update 
 
 
 
 
 
12.5 – 
stories of 
difference 
 
 
12.6 – 
People 
survey 
returns 

Purchasing Improvement Programme 
 
A significant programme of work is underway, led by 2 of the locality managers, to improve our 
policies, procedures, systems, approaches and practice in relation to assessment and care 
management. Whilst this work was initially finance-driven and seeking to improve sustainability 
within the purchasing budget, the programme has now broadened to effect positive culture 
change and support staff to strengthen their practice. The programme is focused on providing 
the necessary infrastructure and support to enable this.  
 
As part of this work, a “Good Practice Forum” has been established. This forum gives staff an 
opportunity to engage with senior management, seek feedback, engage with subject matter 
experts (for example, from Finance, Quality Assurance, Learning Disability) and better 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.7 – Good 
Practice 
Forum ToR  

Page 73



51 
 

understand good practice and good decision making. The forum seeks to support the 
reduction in bureaucracy, share knowledge and learning and support staff to make difficult 
decisions.  
 
Through the Good Practice Forum, we are now getting a better sense of the level of staff 
understanding about the decisions they make and associated impact,  and we are able to 
identify where additional support is required and develop plans to address gaps in workers 
competence, knowledge and confidence in their decision making. This is leading to a shared 
language and  greater understanding, with eligibility criteria being more consistently applied 
across staff groups. At the same time, staff are supported – via the 3C’s model – to ensure 
that where people may not be eligible for formal statutory services, that we still work to connect 
them with community assets. The work underway in the transformation programme as part of 
the Community Mobilisation project, will help to strengthen and increase the range and 
capacity of community supports available.  
 
Although in the early stage, we have been developing a Learning and Development (L&D) 
Programme to help workers who need more support, as identified via the Good Practice 
Forum.  We are identifying gaps and knowledge across our staff groups and are using that 
evidence to inform the content of the programme. We are currently planning the required 
resource and timescales to provide staff with the tools, training and support they need. This 
programme will ensure that staff fully understand eligibility criteria and how to apply it and will 
also help build decision making skills and resilience, empowering workers.  
 
A further workstream within the Purchasing Improvement Programme is focused on the re-
introduction of a Resource Allocation System (RAS), to support workers to have effective 
conversations with individuals needing support, whilst also ensuring that we can meet the 
requirements of Self Directed Support legislation by providing an indicative budget for support 
needs. A RAS aligned to the 3C’s model is currently being piloted within the South East 
locality, with a view to rolling this out more widely if successful.  
 
The requirement for a separate piece of work to review and update all relevant policies and 
procedures has recently been identified. We recognise that additional resource will be required 
to support this and the Executive Management Team is currently considering this.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.8 – 3C’s 
resource 
allocation 
model 
 
 
 
 

Improvements within “Business as Usual”  
 
Leadership and Governance 
Since the original inspection and the 2018 progress review, leadership and management 
within the locality teams has been strengthened and improved. The locality model had only 
recently been implemented when the original inspection was carried out, with a number of 
managers taking on new roles and responsibilities outwith their area of professional expertise.  
 
The size and scale of the localities within Edinburgh is challenging, with localities covering 
areas the size of some entire HSCPs elsewhere. A new Head of Operations was recruited in 
2018 to provide additional leadership,  and stronger governance has been established to 
ensure consistency of practice and approach across localities. Plans are underway for further 
strengthening of clinical and care governance, including the recruitment of dedicated Lead 
Social Worker and Lead AHP roles to support general managers.  
 
Waiting Lists 
At the time of the 2018 progress review, concerns were raised about the length of time people 
were waiting for assessment and review. Within our 3C innovation sites, waiting lists have 
been significantly reduced or eliminated, with people waiting an average of just 3.8 days to see 
a worker. Within areas which are not yet part of the 3C approach however, we have also seen 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.9 and 
12.10  – 
performance 
reports 

Page 74



52 
 

sustained improvement in waiting lists since that time. A combination of the 3C approach and 
concerted efforts within locality business as usual teams have seen assessment waiting lists 
fall from a peak of 1, 790 in August 2018, to a current position of 697 in April 2021. Challenges 
remain with waiting lists for reviews, due to capacity. However, the 3C project is now working 
with review teams as an innovation site, in order to develop a consistent 3C approach to 
tackling this.  
 
Home First 
The 2018 review also noted concerns with pathways for people being discharged from 
hospital. Since that time, significant work has been undertaken as part of our transformation 
programme to make improvements in this area. The Home First team has been established, 
focused on avoiding admission to hospital and supporting people home as quickly as possible 
once it is safe to do so. The Home First project is redesigning some of the complex pathways 
from acute to community services.  
 
We have seen significant improvements in the destinations for those who have been referred 
for intermediate care services.  Between March and December 2020, 605 intermediate care 
referrals have been screened by the Home First team, with 281 people being admitted. Of the 
324 people not admitted, 189 (58%) were supported to instead go directly home. The team 
has now started work on developing a “planned date of discharge” approach, rather than an 
estimated date of discharge. There is good evidence from elsewhere that this can help to 
reduce unnecessary time spent in hospital and support people to return home at the right time. 
The scaling up and rolling out of our Hospital at Home service has also assisted greatly, 
supporting people within the community to avoid admission.  
 
Quality Assurance 
We continue to engage with, and benefit from the expertise of the Council’s Quality Assurance 
team. Members of the team are involved in transformation projects and also attend the Good 
Practice Forum.  
 
The Quality Assurance Team supported the EHSCP in the completion of practice evaluation in 
2018 and 2019 (see 12.6 and 12.7), with findings noting positive impacts in terms of strong 
person-centred practice, partnership working and positive interventions and outcomes for 
individuals. The 2019 report noted the impact of the 3 Conversations approach in supporting 
better conversations with individuals.  
 
Quality Assurance officers have also assisted the EHSCP with the creation of “People’s 
Stories” – real life cases (with names changed) showing case studies of their interaction with 
health & social care services and staff (see 12.8 and 12.9).  
 
Anticipatory care planning 
The EHSCP continues to implement initiatives to improve outcomes for older people through 
Anticipatory Care Planning. In August 2019, 20 Care Homes and their aligned GP practices 
were able to demonstrate a 56% reduction in avoidable admissions to hospital, enabling 
residents to receive the right care in their homely setting. Taking account of continuous 
learning the ACP model was adapted to be Covid-19 relevant. At the end of March 2020 the 
partnership provided all care homes for older people and GP practices with:  7 steps to ACP – 
creating covid-19 relevant ACPs in Care Homes, implementation guidance and resources. The 
7 steps to ACP supports care homes to put residents and their families at the centre of shared 
decision-making. The partnership summarised its experience of supporting care homes 
residents and their families through ACP during Covid-19 in a poster which won the best 
innovation award at the RCGPs national event in February 2021. 

March 2019 
and March 
2021 
 
 
 
 
 
2.11 – EIJB 
Strategy 
Paper – 
appendix  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.12 – 
Practice 
Evaluation 
Report 2018   
 
12.13 - 
Practice 
Evaluation 
Report 2019 
 
12.14 and 
12.15 - 
People’s 
Stories 
 

Page 75

https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/ACP%20Improvement%20Programme%20Learning%20Report%20Phase%203%202018-19%20revised%2015.11.19.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/Creating%20Covid-19%20relevant%20ACPs%20in%20Care%20Homes%207%20steps%20to%20ACP%20implementation%20Guidance%20v1.3.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/Creating%20Covid-19%20relevant%20ACPs%20in%20Care%20Homes%207%20steps%20to%20ACP%20implementation%20Guidance%20v1.3.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/SupportingResidentsNeeds/Services/Documents/7%20Steps%20to%20ACP%20for%20care%20home%20residents%20and%20their%20families%20during%20Covid%20Feb2021.pdf


53 
 

Self-Directed Support  
 
The progress review in 2018 noted that insufficient progress had been made in relation to 
upskilling staff and simplifying assessment processes and templates to support people to 
better self-direct their own support. Since that time, we have initiated a project to roll-out and 
embed the 3 Conversation approach across our teams. 3C’s is well aligned with SDS 
legislation, supporting the use of better conversations with individuals to help them direct and 
control their support and build better and more independent lives. The 3C’s project has 
developed new simplified templates and processes to support this way of working.   
 
Since the original inspection and progress review, the EHSCP continues to show good uptake 
of Options 1 and 2, with Edinburgh having a greater uptake of these options than is the case 
nationally. The table below shows the uptake of Options 1 and 2 for the years 2017/18, 
2018/19 and 2019/20, compared with the rates for Scotland in 2017/18 and 2018/19 
(published figures). It should be noted that figures for 2019/20* are local figures which have 
been submitted to Public Health Scotland but not yet verified and published.  
 

Edinburgh   
Option 
1 % 

Option 
2 % 

Option 
3 % 

Option 
4 % 

 2017/18 26.0% 8.5% 72.8% 7.0% 

 2018/19 25.9% 8.2% 73.3% 7.1% 

 2019/20* 25.9% 7.8% 73.0% 6.5% 

      

      

Scotland   
Option 
1 % 

Option 
2 % 

Option 
3 % 

Option 
4 % 

 2017/18 9.5% 8.3% 86.9% 4.6% 

 2018/19 8.9% 7.1% 88.9% 4.7% 

 
 
We recognise that there is more that can be done to encourage and support individuals to self-
direct their support. Our current Direct Payment policy requires updating – we have recognised 
this as a gap and have plans in place to address it. Our Good Practice Forum and Learning & 
Development programme help to support staff to better understand and apply SDS legislation 
and the Purchasing Improvement programme is working on improvements to the processes 
and systems which will help support staff in this.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Since the 2018 progress review, significant progress has been made in relation to the roll-out and embedding 
of the 3 Conversations approach within Edinburgh. We have plans to continue to upscale this approach and 
embed it into our business as usual practice. We have made considerable improvements in the length of time 
that people wait for an assessment of their need and have maintained good performance in relation to the 
uptake of SDS options. Wide ranging programmes of work are underway to improve practice, systems, 
processes and infrastructure, to better support staff and citizens to access quality services when needed. 
There is a high level of confidence that this work will be sustained going forward. 
 

Page 76



54 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 
 
OLOPLE’S JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

14 

The Partnership should ensure that risk assessments and management plans are recorded 

appropriately and are informed by relevant agencies. This will help ensure that older people 

are protected from harm, and their health and wellbeing maintained. 

 

 

 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Delivering consistent improvements across risk assessment and public protection 
outcomes 
Work has been underway to provide confidence that risk management policies and procedures 
were being consistently applied, and in the partnership’s ability to deliver consistent positive 
public protection outcomes.  This has been achieved through: 
 

• Improved involvement of people who use services, with there being a working group to 
determine how to continue to support and involve people with lived experience with 
advocacy and third sector organisations. There is also a test underway, with  an Outcomes 
questionnaire being worked through with people who use our services, following a case 
conference,  to gain further  understanding of their experience of adult support and 
protection(ASP)  
 

• Improved focus on awareness training for the third, independent and housing sectors 
 

• The development of a replacement tool for assessing risk in adult support and protection, 
that was easy to use for all staff Safety Assessment is now used for all APCCs. (14.1)  

 

• There is ongoing improvement in chronologies in adult support and protection (ASP),  case 
record, as chronologies are now included on the Safety Risk Assessment. There is also a 
Pan-Lothian Chronology that has been developed and is due to be rolled out across all four 
Lothian partnerships later in 2021  
 

• Improved consistency across localities for adult protection case conferences; with plans 
monitored by Senior Practitioners who chair the majority of case conferences, and monitor 
plans by Senior Social Workers, who chair the remainder. Everyone who chair APCCs 
benefit from  ASP Level 4 training, delivered in 2019 and 2020,  on ‘Being More Impactful at 
APCCs’.  The Safety Plan is developed following APCC (14.2).   

 

• Evidence of better identification, assessment, and recording of non-adult protection risks, 
such as slips and trips.  This complements the significant progress associated with 
improvements in Recommendation 7, associated with falls prevention and management.  
Additionally person centred, asset based Safety Assessment work is underway as part of 
the 3 Conversations work.  
 

• Improved professional supervision for adult support and protection work, as well as 
encouraging through the 3 Conversation approach, of the application of a more robust 
reflective practice individually, in one to one supervision, and, collectively as groups of staff 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14.1 Safety 
Risk 
Assessment 
 
 
 
 
 
14.2 Safety 
Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 77



55 
 

 

• Exploring the issues behind the number of large scale investigations, significant case 
reviews and inter agency referral discussions in care homes, to learn system wide lessons, 
taking appropriate remedial action, and contributing on ton going improvements 

 

• Improved understanding from EIJB members of adult support and protection through 
appropriate briefings and additional information, when required 

 

• Review of ASP courses: Level 1 is now e-learning, level 2 &3 revised and level 4 had new 
topics added. All courses now routinely evaluated, with a focus on the participants level of 
confidence following completion New Adult Protection Senior Practitioners in post 
beginning May 2021,  and will review all levels of ASP training, in conjunction with learning 
and development colleagues, and feedback from the courses.  Evaluation of training 
courses, indicate a consistent improvement of understanding and confidence post training, 
indicated in 14.3.  All of the courses are fully booked, and more recently adapting to Teams 
delivery.  A wide range of practitioners attend, including social work, health and care 
workers;  housing;  residential care; occupational therapists; family and household support; 
criminal justice and many more colleagues. 

 
 

• Progress with health participation in Initial Referral Discussions (IRDs), through the  NHS 
Lothian Director for Public Protection having connected with each of the Edinburgh Cluster 
Managers, and Social Work colleagues,  who are all involved in identifying professionals to 
participate in IRDs. As a result, it has been identified that some additional Level 3 training/ 
IRD demonstration will further improve capacity and confidence, and this is being planned 
to be implemented across Edinburgh in 2021. Terms of reference have been issued for the 
Edinburgh Initial Referral Discussion Group, (EIRD), 14.4, and is currently under review. 
This group monitors and tracks IRDs as well as provides quality assurance and feedback 
for the work undertaken. 

 
.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14.3 – 14.6 
Evaluation 
of ASP 
courses and 
attendee 
records 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
14.7, EIRD 
Terms of 
Reference 

Impact of the Independent Review of Adult Social Care in Scotland  
The progress made, indicates the value of involving people who use services in public protection case 
conferences,  supports a rights based approach, as well as choice and control.  Additionally the key focus on 
training, awareness, supervision, and reflection, in Edinburgh adds confidence in workforce capacity, 
capability and their confidence.  Further work will taken forward, to determine how best to apply learning from 
significant case reviews.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

Reasonable progress has been made, with EHSCP currently undertaking further self-assessment  to public 
protection approaches to further improve experience for people, training, awareness, on a multi- agency basis, 
and provide confidence that further areas identified for improvement will be progressed, with the view that this 
recommendation should be closed. 
 
 

Page 78



56 
 

 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

 

 

16 

The Partnership should develop and implement a joint comprehensive workforce 

development strategy, involving the third and independent sectors. 

This will help to support sustainable recruitment and retention of staff, build sufficient capacity 
and ensure a suitable skills mix that delivers high quality services for older people and their 
carers 

 

 

 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  Evidence 
reference 

Development of EHSCP Workforce Strategy  
 
Through our transformation programme, we are currently developing a new workforce 
strategy, to help us ensure that we have a skilled and capable workforce that can deliver on 
our strategic priorities.  ‘Working Together’ is the Edinburgh Health and Social Care 
Partnerships inaugural workforce strategy and describes how we will create the workforce 
we need to deliver our vision of ‘a caring, healthier and safer Edinburgh’.  
 
It will set out our vision and priorities for the workforce and how we will get to where we 
need to be together. The strategy will deliver against an overarching vision and aspirations, 
and our 4 strategic workforce priorities of Health & Wellbeing; Culture & Identity; Workforce 
Capacity & Transformation; and Leadership & Development. This draft workforce strategy is 
attached as item 16.1.  
 
This strategy sits within our Transformation Programme, as part of Programme 4: Cross-
cutting Enablers. It focuses on both the workforce of the Partnership (CEC and NHSL), but 
also the implications of change on our non-direct workforce such as 3rd and Independent 
Sectors, Volunteers, as well as the role of carers. 
 
A programme board has been established as part of the Transformation Programme 
governance, membership reflects a partnership approach with key stakeholders/ service 
leads and heads of professions included along with representatives from Scottish Care, 
EVOC, and Higher/Further education. 
 
The strategy will be developed along with a route map of short (0-3 years), medium (3-5 
years) and longer term (5-10 years) planning timelines. This is in recognition of that fact that 
not all of our ambitions for the workforce will be within the control of the EHSCP to deliver. 
Some will require partnership working with Scottish Government and other HSCPs, may be 
impacted by changes in national policy and direction, and as such, may take longer to 
implement. We have already started to develop the early action plan for the short term, 
which focuses on specific delivery actions against our early commitments. The workforce 
strategy will link and support other strategic developments, in particular the review of our 
Strategic Plan. 
 
The strategy is due to be presented to the EIJB in August 2021, with implementation 
beginning immediately thereafter.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16.1 – 
Summary of 
strategy  

Page 79



57 
 

 
Communications and Engagement plan 
 
As we continue to develop the workforce strategy, and associated action plans, we are now 
planning communication and engagement across our workforce to input into the strategy. 
We will take a multi-agency approach to ensure all areas and services are accounted for 
and have the opportunity to input, and we are working with our communication partners 
within EHSCP to do this.  
 
Short- and medium-term engagement plan – next 3 years 
To receive feedback on the high-level strategy and the early action plan, which focusses 
primarily on the short-term goals (0-3 years) that we believe would see more immediate 
improvements, we will engage with our internal workforce (CEC & NHSL).  
 
Our engagement approach will be via a few different routes, including: 

- EHSCP newsletter as an early indicator of the workforce strategy and upcoming 
engagement  

- One-page summary including a link to draft strategy and focus group dates, to be 
cascaded widely and shared via email, website, link on text messages, Wellbeing 
Wednesday, WLT  

- Online survey and focus groups with staff asking for feedback on our strategy and 
the first phase of implementation 

 
The overall aim of our engagement sessions is for staff to feel involved, listened to, 
supported, and reassured that any changes made will reflect both the values of the EHSCP 
and the workforce’s views shared with us throughout the development of the strategy 
document. 
 
Medium-long-term engagement plan   
Our longer-term engagement plan is still to be developed but will focus on actions which 
require further collaboration and external partnership to achieve and will take on learning 
from our early engagement with staff. We want communication with staff and stakeholders 
to be ongoing and consistent, through the development and future implementation of the 
strategy and its priorities.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16.2 – focus 
group slides  
 
 

 
Operational Improvements  
At the time of the 2018 progress review, the EHSCP faced some workforce-related 
challenges. The progress report noted that we had recently implemented a locality model 
which had not yet fully embedded and there were concerns regarding the alignment of 
operations with strategy. The report also highlighted concerns regarding recruitment and 
retention and gaps in relation to professional governance. Since then, significant 
improvements have been made in a number of areas. 
 
Alignment of Strategy and Operations 
The establishment of our transformation programme, and the additional resource of our 
transformation team, has allowed us to focus more effectively on developing and 
implementing change and improvement whilst also dealing with operational pressures. The 
links between operations and strategy staff have been considerably strengthened. Senior 
managers from both areas have assumed leadership roles within the transformation 
programme and are supporting the implementation of our strategic aims. A Strategy and 
Operations Forum meeting has been established, jointly chaired by the Head of Operations 
and Head of Strategic Planning, giving an opportunity for joint decision making. The 
transformation programme team has delivered a number of workshops sessions to locality 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 80



58 
 

teams providing details of the programme and opportunities for staff to get involved in 
shaping and delivering change, and have ongoing contact across the localities as a result. 
Transformation projects teams have a good range of representatives from across locality 
and strategic teams.  
 
Work is underway to initiate an organisational change process to stabilise and strengthen 
existing management arrangements within locality teams, including a review of the roles and 
remits of our locality managers, hub managers and cluster managers.  
 
iMatter Staff Survey 
The iMatter survey was introduced to all EHSCP staff across health and social care services 
as a more effective way to measure and take action on staff experience. All health boards 
and HSCPs have chosen to participate and implement the iMatter survey. The response 
rate for the 2018 return was 65% and the directorate’s Employee Engagement Index (EEI) 
score was 77. Overall, 24 of the 28 questions fall within the highest ‘strive and celebrate’ 
category: the remaining four need monitoring to ‘further improve’. All teams have been 
asked to discuss individual report findings, identify areas for improvement and develop an 
action plan.  
 
In 2020 the survey was slightly adapted to meet the changing environment and work 
experienced during the pandemic, with added questions on changed job role and work 
environment. The response rate was significantly lower than previous years (35%), but 
results demonstrate that the majority of staff still report high personal wellbeing scores, 
despite the ongoing pandemic and impact on our workforce. Staff also reported that their 
overall experience of work, while slightly lower than previous years, remained positive. It is 
encouraging that staff have remained resilient and optimistic while faced with significant 
organisation disruption and changes to their working lives.” 
 
Professional Governance 
At the time of the progress review, concerns had been raised regarding professional 
governance, which had primarily been provided via the locality model, with hub/cluster 
managers also assuming a lead professional role. Recent discussions have recognised that 
this could be improved and strengthened, and a decision has been taken to establish and 
recruit to dedicated professional leadership roles, including a Lead Social Worker and Lead 
Allied Health Professional, to provide additional support to the workforce. Job descriptions 
are in development. In addition to this, strong links have been made between the 
transformation programme team and the Professional Advisory Group, and transformation 
programme boards ensure a wide range of clinical and professional representation.  
 
Staff Involvement 
The establishment of the Partnership Forum has considerably improved the transparency 
and involvement of staff and staff representatives in any decision-making which has an 
impact on workforce. The forum meets on a monthly basis and considers a range of issues, 
including sickness absence, staff wellbeing, proposals for staffing changes and 
organisational review, and creation of new posts. The following documents are attached for 
information:  

• minutes of recent meeting at 16.5 

• sickness absence reports at 16.6 
 
The EHSCP has a strong working relationship with its staff side representatives from both 
NHS Lothian and the City of Edinburgh Council, with representatives included within the 
membership of transformation programme boards.  
 
Care Home Transformation Group 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16.3 iMatter 
survey 2018 
 
16.4 iMatter 
survey 2020  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16.5 - Minutes 
16.6 – 
Sickness 
dashboard 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



59 
 

Care homes have faced a challenging year dealing with the impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic. Extensive work has been done in recent months to support and develop our 
internal care home quality and performance, with a key focus on upskilling and supporting 
care home staff. The group has identified a number of key workstreams, attached at 16.7. 
The workforce workstream is focusing on recruitment, education and training and skill mix. 
The project team is developing actions to stabilise and support the workforce, improve 
succession planning and reduce the use of agency staffing.  There are also linked 
workstreams looking at wellbeing (for both staff and residents) and communication.  
 
Recruitment   
The EHSCP organisations (NHSL and CEC) have both been working to improve the 
recruitment of staff so we can build sufficient capacity across our services.  With workforce 
planning key to supporting the delivery of services within EHSCP, the workforce planning 
group was set up in June 2018, and recruitment and retention was one of the key 
workstreams identified.  
 
The City of Edinburgh Council Modern Apprenticeship Programme 
Within the recruitment and retention workstream, the CEC Modern Apprenticeship 
Programme was created (in-line with NHS Modern Apprenticeship programme), which offers 
young people aged 16 and over employment with the Council, combined with workplace 
training and support from a training provider, to help them gain new skills and an industry 
recognised qualification.  
 
A Council wide initiative, the Modern Apprenticeship Programme forms part of the 
Edinburgh Guarantee, which is a vision that all sectors of the city will work together to 
ensure every young person in Edinburgh will leave school with the choice of a job, training 
or further education opportunity available to them. With the introduction of the Edinburgh 
Guarantee, the Council made the following commitments: 

• Increase Modern Apprenticeship numbers to at least 1% of our workforce 

• Establish a team to make it easy for employers to support the Edinburgh Guarantee 

• Champion the Edinburgh Guarantee to our peers and help them become involved 
 
Apprenticeships usually last for 2 years and training is offered at SVQ Level 3. As of 10th 
February 2021, we have 117 apprentices in health and social care, and aim to start another 
50 people onto the qualification this year.  
 
NHS Lothian Modern Apprenticeship Programme 
The NHS also provides a Modern Apprenticeship programme which provide work 
experience and on the job training, and the opportunity to work towards gaining a 
qualification. The NHS programme is substantial and sits across a range of their services, 
with some modern apprenticeship roles aligned to the Edinburgh Health and Social Care 
Partnership.  
 
Six NHS modern apprenticeships have been completed within the EHSCP, with 80% of 
those completing having sustained employment. 50% of those who have completed are 
progressing to senior roles or higher level Nursing Training. There are currently 10 modern 
apprenticeships ongoing – 2 nearing completion with an additional 8 starting having started 
in post on the 12th April 2021.  
 
In addition, 10 Kickstart positions have been offered within HSC starting in March 2021.  
Kickstart is a partnership across a range or organisations, it is the main activity within the 
Young Persons Guarantee, which was created in November to support and develop youth 
employment opportunities. It is a DWP led programme and referrals come directly from 
DWP. NHSL is one of 4 national trailblazer employers supporting the young person’s 

16.7 – Care 
Home 
Transformation 
workstreams 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



60 
 

guarantee. We are the only board in Scotland currently offering Kickstart, and the positions 
are linked to MA opportunities as progression. 
 

Supporting the Wider Health and Social Care Workforce  
 
The EHSCP recognises the vital role of the wider health and social care workforce, provided 
through third and independent sector organisations and unpaid carers. Our new workforce 
strategy will make a commitment to supporting the wider workforce.  
 
In order to provide additional advice, guidance and support for our colleagues in 
independent sector care homes, particularly during the Covid-19 response, a dedicated care 
home website has been established. The website provides details of latest news and policy, 
support on staff wellbeing, issues relating to testing and vaccination and support with 
training and education. The website has been very well received by our partners, with 3,000 
hits in a single week in relation to vaccination information.  
https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/Pages/default.aspx   
 
Our Home Based Care transformation is already developing plans for a “One Edinburgh” 
approach, taking a responsible and supportive approach to commissioning and 
procurement. We are engaging with independent providers in a new, collaborative 
partnership approach to develop a modern contract for care at home services which 
recognises the skills and expertise of the wider health and social care workforce and is 
focused on quality outcomes for staff and the individuals we support. The approach taken in 
developing this contract will be a key part of our market facilitation strategy going forward.  
 
Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact and Community Mobilisation  
We are working towards an ambition to create healthy communities, empowered by local 
services and organisations. We want to reshape how we think about health and social care, 
how we support one another and work together to deliver support and care across the city in 
a sustainable and joined up way.  In order to achieve this we have been developing the 
Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact, which is an informal agreement between EHSCP and the people 
of Edinburgh. The Pact will provide the framework to deliver a refined relationship with the 
public which will include consideration not just of services provided by the Edinburgh Health 
and Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) but also the wider health and social care workforce 
and how third sector and independent sector services are commissioned, accessed and 
provided. 
 
We are now enacting the Pact through our Community Mobilisation approach, which 
includes whole system investment in an area, stimulating activities across local 
organisations and working collaboratively to support and fund local need in a sustainable 
way. The approach is being developed and delivered in collaboration with a wide range of 
key stakeholders, including the third and independent sector, faith-based organisations, 
other partners and staff. Both of these projects are governed within the transformation 
programme. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16.8 – Care 
home portal 
(see link) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
16.9 – 
Community 
Mobilisation – 
EIJB report 
April 2021 

Development of Strategic Workforce Plan for Scottish Government  
 
Aligned to the Workforce strategy, we also continue to develop a 3-year workforce plan as 
per Scottish Government requirements.  
 

• Development of Interim Workforce Plan for Scottish Government (BAU work taken 
forward by Partnership colleagues) (April 2021) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 83

https://services.nhslothian.scot/CareHomes/Pages/default.aspx


61 
 

• Development of full 3-year Strategic Workforce Plan for Scottish Government (April 
2022) 
 

Whilst documents will have distinct purposes, each will adopt the same principles of how to 
achieve a skilled, supported and sustainable workforce, along with additional immediate 
priorities to support our existing workforce.  
 
Extensive work has already been completed in analysing the baseline position of our current 
workforce. We now have a much greater understanding of the breakdown of our Council 
and NHS workforce in relation to issues such as age, gender and skill mix. We have been 
able to use this baseline data to identify some of the key workforce risks and challenges – 
for example an ageing workforce in some areas – and feed this into the development of our 
workforce strategy. The baseline data report is attached at 16.10.  
 
The Scottish Government has released guidance for the development of the workforce plan 
and confirmed that 3-year plans are due for submission by April 2022.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
16.10 – 
Baseline 
Workforce 
report  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

 
Since the 2018 progress review, our approach to workforce planning and support to our existing workforce 
has been significantly strengthened. We have made operational improvement in a number of areas and are 
making clear progress in developing a workforce strategy that includes all relevant partners, to ensure we 
have a skilled, supported and sustainable workforce that meets the health and social care needs of the 
citizens of Edinburgh.   
 
The strategy and first phase of implementation will be presented to IJB in August 2021 for sign-off and 
implementation will begin thereafter.  We are confident that we have appropriate arrangements in place to 
build on progress made to date and support and enable both the current and the future workforce.  
 

Page 84



62 
 

Services for Older People – Joint Inspection Progress Evaluation 2021 OLOPLE’S 

JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESS EVALE’S JOINT INSPECTION – PROGRESALUATION 

Recommendations for improvement 

17 

 The Partnership should work with community groups to support a sustainable 

  volunteer recruitment, retention and training model 

 

 
 

Position Statement and Key Achievements  
In the 2018 Report, key areas for development included progressing volunteering and active 
citizen engagement. 
 
The EHSCP, acknowledges that volunteer participation and retention is a corporate function, 
across both CEC and NHSLothian.  With NHSL having an active Volunteering cohort, involved 
in many aspects across NHS areas, and who have been more recently been a key component 
in delivering the vast testing and vaccination programmes. 
For CEC, volunteer training, recruitment, retention have a contract with Volunteer Edinburgh 
which supports the following objectives: 

• Take a strategic leadership role in promoting and developing volunteering and 
active citizenship within community planning. 

• Carry out a range of research and activities on volunteering to inform strategic 
policy, planning and decision making in the city. 

• Deliver the Lord Provost’s Inspiring Volunteering Awards. 

• Provide and develop capacity building activities to strengthen volunteering in the 
city 

 
The development of the Edinburgh volunteer strategy is being led by Volunteer Edinburgh, 
which was due to be launched in March 2019 however due to the pandemic, this was delayed.  
It is now anticipated that the strategy will be launched in summer 2021. 
 
Volunteer Edinburgh has been supported through the public sector, to fulfil their mission, 
particularly in the last year, to inspire more people to volunteer so they can enhance their 
lives, the lives of others and build resilient communities. 
 
Further recognising  the value and expertise of our community and voluntary partners, the 
EHSCP has  commissioned Volunteer Edinburgh (through Edinburgh Council), to provide 
volunteer support to older people,  people with long term conditions, disabilities & other 
support needs to secure and sustain volunteering opportunities, this has been done through 
focussed work  to contribute to improved outcomes for people, including: 

• reduced social isolation 

• enhanced connections 

• improved self-worth  

• improved health and wellbeing.   

These outcomes are central to the implementation of the EIJB’s Strategic Plan and to the 
Equality Outcomes and Mainstreaming 2019-23. 
 
The benefits which the contract brings to both individuals and communities are fully 
documented both from qualitative and quantitative perspective, in the annual monitoring and 
evaluation which Volunteer Edinburgh publishes, and in their report back to commissioners, 
17.1, https://www.volunteeredinburgh.org.uk/ 
 

Evidence 
reference 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
17.1 
Outcomes 
Volunteer 
Edinburgh  
 
 

Page 85

https://www.volunteeredinburgh.org.uk/


63 
 

The key activities undertaken across Edinburgh communities, supported by Volunteer 
Edinburgh, include: 

• Volunteer Brokerage - recruitment and placement, and  maintaining an accessible 
database of volunteering opportunities in the third and  
public sectors.  

• Volunteering for Personal development , helping people stay connected and 
participating, particularly through the delivery of services to support older people, 
reducing isolation and building social capital, as well as supporting and developing 
volunteering at the Royal Edinburgh Hospital and supporting people living in housing 
with support, who have a mental health diagnosis.  

• Building stronger community and challenging inequalities,  championing equalities and 
rights through our coordination of the Equalities and  
Rights Network. 

• Helping organisations work better with volunteers, through providing advice, 
information and consultancy on volunteer’s management to organisations who involve 
volunteers.  Delivering training on all aspects of volunteer recruitment and 
management, and through promotion and delivery of National Quality Standards in 
Volunteers Management.   

• Influencing and informing public policy on volunteering, being a key partner in 
Community Planning, and through progression of the Community Planning 
Partnerships Volunteering Strategy. 

This approach has been in addition to the funded support provided by Volunteer Edinburgh, to 
support communities to build resilience and offer even more support of a remote wellbeing 
and befriending nature throughout the not only the humanitarian phase of the initial response 
to the pandemic, but on an ongoing basis, to people required to shield.  The response to 
volunteer recruitment was tremendous, with it being clear that people who were experiencing 
extended periods of furlough, or had lost employment in early 2020, were a key component of 
applications. 
 
The partnership has secured agreement to extend this contract for a further 3 years until the 
end of March 2024. This extension will allow the service to be maintained and allow time for 
alignment with the Community Engagement Programme, through the Edinburgh Pact, and 
Community Mobilisation, where extensive work is underway to actively engage citizens, and to 
hear from them about how they support resilient communities by being active citizens in their 
local communities. This work is described in more detail within recommendation 1, above. 
 
Enhancing Volunteer support for carers 
Other valuable work undertaken through VolunteerNet, includes flexible support for unpaid 
carers. Carers can make arrangements safely and directly online with registered and vetted 
volunteers which enable them to stay in full control over the support they receive. 
VolunteerNet approach is designed around the person and their need, and is part of the 
EHSCP Carer Support Team.  
 
Carers can access support seven days a week throughout the day, evenings and weekends. 
Carers and the person they care for can choose type of support they need and the volunteer 
by whom they will be supported. 
 
Various types of support can be accessed through VolunteerNet, 17.2VolNet Flier Carers.pdf 
(nhslothian.scot) .   These include: 

• Spending time with the cared for person which gives the carer a few hours of respite 
(volunteer can stay at home with the person or go out for a walk, to the cinema, 
gallery, cafe etc.) 

• Help with activities requiring extra pair of extra hands (i.e. when going somewhere by 
bus, attending appointments, or doing shopping) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
17.2 
VolunteerNet 

Page 86

https://services.nhslothian.scot/SupportingCarers/CarerSupportServices/Documents/VolNet%20Flier%20Carers.pdf
https://services.nhslothian.scot/SupportingCarers/CarerSupportServices/Documents/VolNet%20Flier%20Carers.pdf


64 
 

• Spending time with the carer (providing them with companionship or practical help) 

• Practical support (i.e. help with gardening, going with the person to the shops, etc.) 

• All matches are community based and/or house visits. The service aims to support 
carers in their caring role so they can sustain their caring role if appropriate and they 
choose to do so. 

• The service also helps to tackle social isolation, increasing people’s positive mental 
wellbeing and supporting people to stay independent in the community 

 
Evidence  
17.1 Volunteer Edinburgh  https://www.volunteeredinburgh.org.uk/ 
17.2 VolunteerNet Edinburgh  VolNet Flier Carers.pdf (nhslothian.scot) 
  

 Working with other community groups to support sustainable communities 
An extensive review of various grant programmes funded by the partnership was carried out in 
collaboration with the third sector in 2019.   The new grant programme, now in its second year 
of a 3 year programme, and brings together the various grant streams including health 
inequality, older people, mental well-being, advice  and  income maximisation.  
 
The programme provides a holistic programme which places a greater emphasis on tackling 
inequalities, prevention and early intervention and building on community assets. Priorities 
are: 

• reducing social isolation  

• promoting healthy lifestyles, including physical activity and healthy eating  

• mental wellbeing 

• supported self-management of long-term conditions  

• income maximisation 

• reducing digital exclusion 

• building strong, inclusive and resilient communities.  

Through these priorities, the grant programme helps promote community resilience, 
encourage volunteering, self-help, and complements the wider spending on volunteering, 
health and well-being and reducing inequalities.   
 
The Health and Social Care Partnership Grant Programme, Monitoring and Evaluation 2019-
20 Report  which reported on the first year of the programme, noted:  
“Many of the organisations depend on volunteers to help deliver their programmes.  Volunteer 
hours added a further 33% of hours worked by paid staff and without their involvement, the 
wide range of service provision would just not be possible.  Volunteering also adds a financial 
value and it is estimated that the resultant financial value which volunteering brings is over 
£2.5m.  Equally important are the many benefits which volunteering brings to the individuals 
themselves such as improved confidence and well-being, increased skills and increased social 
connections” 
 
Promoting resilient communities and building capacity 
A recent example of the approach to engagement and involvement, inclusive of third sector 
partners, is Thrive Edinburgh, the new mental health strategy for Edinburgh, was produced 
collaboratively with all stakeholders. The strategy recognises the wider social determinants of 
inequalities and the strong link to mental health. The strategy aims to address health 
inequalities at a structural, community and individual level and has four objectives:  
1. identify and address root causes   
2. focus on those who are at highest risk   
3. provide treatment that is easy to access and makes difference  
4. building resilience and enhancing support for people to live well and meet their potential  
 

 

Page 87

https://www.volunteeredinburgh.org.uk/
https://services.nhslothian.scot/SupportingCarers/CarerSupportServices/Documents/VolNet%20Flier%20Carers.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/EHSCP-Grants-Programme-evaluation-2019-20.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/EHSCP-Grants-Programme-evaluation-2019-20.pdf


65 
 

The Thrive Strategy will be implemented through 6 commissioning work streams: 

•  building resilient communities   

•  a place to live  

•  get help when needed  

•  closing the inequalities gap   

•  rights in mind 

•  meeting treatment gaps. 

In addition, recommendation 1 also provides further detail on involvement and engagement 
across Edinburgh, which also contributes to promoting resilient communities and building 
capacity. 
 
 

Independent review of Adult Social Care in Scotland  
ongoing support for  the organisations commissioned by the public sector, along with the transformation 
programme to enhance citizen engagement, clearly supports recommendations aligned with ensuring people 
are supported at home for as long as possible, and are able to have choice and control to access lower 
intensity supports, through wider community supports, whilst contributing to the encouragement of resilient 
communities.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Self-Evaluation Summary and Recommendation 

There is a well established cross sector approach to actively engage citizens, and public sector support for 
ensuring our aspirations to enhance the function of volunteers, through Volunteer Edinburgh, VolunteerNet, 
and wider community supports through our grants programme. 
 
There is a high level of confidence that this recommendation has been fully met, with ongoing work sustaining 
our approach to the value of volunteers and building resilient communities.  This recommendation should be 
closed. 
 

Page 88



66 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY EVIDENCE CATALOGUE  

 

Ref Number Title  

1.1 Strategic Plan 2019 – 2022 

1.2 Conversation 1 Programme Definition Document 

1.3 Conversation 2 Programme Definition Document 

1.4 Conversation 3 Programme Definition Document 

1.5 Programme 4 Programme Definition Document 

1.6 EIJB Public Engagement Event 

1.7 Colleague News sample 

1.8 Thrive newsletter sample 

1.9 DRAFT communications and engagement strategy 

1.10 Edinburgh Pact engagement summary 

1.11 Art of the Possible stakeholder event 

1.12 Anchoring our Thinking report  

1.13 The Edinburgh Pact – Formulation to Enactment – EIJB report 

1.14 Home Based Care consultation summary 

  

2.1 Conversation 1 Programme Definition Document 

2.2  3 Conversations Phase 1 Evaluation 

2.3 3 Conversations Phase 2 Progress Report 

2.4 3 Conversations stories of difference 

2.5 3 Conversations – People Survey Responses 

2.6 3 Conversations – EVOC innovation event 

2.7 Edinburgh Pact engagement summary  

2.8 Art of the Possible stakeholder event 

2.9 Anchoring our Thinking report 

2.10 The Edinburgh Pact – Formulation to Enactment – EIJB report 

2.11 ATEC24 wellbeing call stats 

2.12 ATEC24 wellbeing call script 

2.13 Assistive Living script 

2.14 “Bring your own device” business case 

2.15 “Bring your own device” funding bid 

2.16 GP Frailty Collaborative – project brief 

2.17 Home first project brief 

2.18 Strategy Progress Report – EIJB April 2021 

2.19 Medical Day Hospitals – project brief 

2.20 Medical day Hospitals options appraisal 

2.21 Medical Day Hospitals – staff consultation  

2.22 Medical Day Hospitals – engagement session  

  

3.1 Bed Based Review – project brief 

3.2 Bed Based Care workshops outputs 

3.3 EIJB Financial Plan report March 2019 

3.4 SBAR – Liberton hospital Proposal 

3.5 Letter to Liberton staff 

3.6 Planned Date of Discharge slides  

  

5.1 Link to Joint Carers Strategy https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-
content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-
FINAL.pdf 

Page 89

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-FINAL.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-FINAL.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Edinburgh-Joint-Carers-Strategy-2019-2022-FINAL.pdf


67 
 

5.2 Link to short breaks services statement 
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/26356/short-break-services-
statement 

5.3 EHSCP weblink https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/coronavirus-
information/carers/ 

5.4 Clinical and care Governance report – carers performance and evaluation 
framework 

5.5 Carers Spend Plan – EIJB report February 2021 

5.6  EHSCP weblink 
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/carers/ourcommitmenttocarers/ 

  

6.1 Dementia Pathway Improvement – scoping  

6.2 Link to Herbert Protocol https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-herbert-
protocol/ 

6.3 EIJB Report, October 2019: John’s Campaign EIJB report 29 09 2019 
Johns Campaign V.01.pdf (edinburgh.gov.uk) 

6.4 John’s Campaign feedback  

  

7.1 Evaluation of walking aid safety in care homes 

7.2 Phase 1 care homes falls management 

7.3 Phase 1 falls improvement written summary 

7.4 Phase 2 falls improvement SBAR 

7.5 Steady steps proposal 

7.6 Guide to managing falls 

7.7 Falls and Frailty Forum ToR 

7.8 Care home Near Me evaluation 

7.9 EHSCP weblink – falls support 
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/longtermconditions/falls-support/ 

7.10 Big Slipper report 

7.11 Bed Slipper feedback 

7.12 Digital Support BP recruitment 

7.13 Staying Active leaflet 

7.14 Staying Active leaflet 2 

7.15 Falls peer support 

7.16 LTC falls outcomes development 

7.17 Community Alarm scorecard 

  

8.1 Clinical and Care Governance ToR 

8.2 EIJB reports March 2021 

8.3 EIJB report Feb 2021 

8.4 EHSCP QMS reporting mechanisms 

8.5 Clinical & Care Governance presentation – reporting mechanism 

8.6 EHSCP Quality Management System 

8.7 Royston Care Home Improvement Plan 

8.8 2018 complaints brief 

8.9 ToR - Care at Home Multi agency quality assurance  

  

9.1 EIJB report – Strategy Progress Update April 2021 

9.2 SPG report, May 2021 – Market Facilitation 

9.3 One Edinburgh design and Engagement 

9.4 Visioning Provider Feedback 

9.5 Consultation Summary 

9.6 Home Based Care project brief 

Page 90

https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/26356/short-break-services-statement
https://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/downloads/file/26356/short-break-services-statement
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/coronavirus-information/carers/
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/coronavirus-information/carers/
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/carers/ourcommitmenttocarers/
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-herbert-protocol/
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/the-herbert-protocol/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s9695/EIJB%20report%2029%2009%202019%20Johns%20Campaign%20V.01.pdf
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/documents/s9695/EIJB%20report%2029%2009%202019%20Johns%20Campaign%20V.01.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/longtermconditions/falls-support/


68 
 

9.7 Care home transformation workstreams 

9.8 Route Map board – ToR 

9.9 Care at Home capacity statistics 

9.10 Care at Home service specification 

9.11 Contract award for day opportunities 

9.12 Edinburgh Joint Carers Strategy 

9.13 Carers Performance and evaluation  

  

10.1 EIJB report August 2019 – Strategic Plan  

10.2 IJB strategic planning group papers September 2020 

10.3 EIJB report – Strategy Progress April 2021 

10.4 EIJB report – Return to Transformation, July 2020 

10.5 Performance report – April 2021 

10.6 Performance and Delivery committee – ToR 

10.7 JSNA topic paper – Dementia 

10.8 JSNA topic paper – Poverty 

10.9 JSNA topic paper – Population and demographics 

10.10 Annual Performance Report  

10.11 Draft communications strategy 

10.12 Strategic Plan Roadshow 

10.13 EIJB report – Edinburgh Pact, Formulation to Enactment 

  

11.1 Savings Governance Framework 

11.2 Savings Programme Dashboard December 2020 

11.3 Savings Programme Action Tracker 

11.4 Performance & Delivery Committee Savings Report 

11.5 Savings and Recovery Programme 

11.6 EIJB Finance Update Feb 2021 

11.7 Financial Plan 2021-2022 

  

12.1 3C’s conversation record template 

12.2 3C’s support plan template 

12.3 3 C’s Phase 1 Evaluation 

12.4 3 C’s Phase 2 Progress  

12.5 3 C’s Stories of Difference 

12.6 3 C’s People Survey 

12.7 Good Practice Forum Terms of Reference 

12.8 3 C’s cost estimate 

12.9 Performance report March 2019 

12.10 Performance report March 2021 

12.11 Strategy Progress Report April 2021 

12.12 Practice Evaluation 2018 

12.13 Practice Evaluation 2019 

12.14 “People’s Story” 1 

12.15 “People’s Story” 2  

  

14.1 Safety Risk Assessment 

14.2 Safety Plan 

14.3 ASP course evaluation 

14.4 ASP course evaluation 

14.5 ASP course evaluation 

14.6 ASP training records  

14.7 Edinburgh Initial Referral Discussion Group ToR 

Page 91



69 
 

  

16.1 Working Together summary 

16.2 Working Together slides 

16.3 iMatter report 2018 

16.4 iMatter pulse survey 2020 

16.5 Partnership Forum sample minute 

16.6 Absence Dashboard November 2020 

16.7 Care home transformation workstreams 

16.8 Lothian care Home Website 

16.9 EIJB report, Edinburgh Pact: Formulation to Enactment 

16.10 Baseline Workforce Report 

  

17.1 Outcomes Volunteer Edinburgh link 
https://www.volunteeredinburgh.org.uk/ 
 

17.2 Volunteer Net link  VolNet Flier Carers.pdf (nhslothian.scot) .   
 

 

 

Page 92

https://www.volunteeredinburgh.org.uk/
https://services.nhslothian.scot/SupportingCarers/CarerSupportServices/Documents/VolNet%20Flier%20Carers.pdf


Services for older people 
in the city of Edinburgh

November 2021

Progress review following a joint 
inspection

Page 93



2 

Contents 

1. Background    3 

2. Approach   3 

3. Overview of progress made   4 

4. Progress on recommendations for improvement      5 

5. Conclusion   21 

This report should be read alongside our original inspection report and the 
subsequent progress review report on which this review is based. These can be 
found at: 
www.careinspectorate.com 

Page 94

https://www.careinspectorate.com/index.php/publications-statistics/46-inspection-reports-local-authority/joint-inspections-of-services-for-adults-2


3 

1. Background

The Care Inspectorate and Healthcare Improvement Scotland jointly carried out an 
inspection of services for older people in the city of Edinburgh in 2016 and published 
the report in May 2017.  A subsequent progress review was published in December 
2018.  The reports are available on both scrutiny bodies’ websites.  

The purpose of the original joint inspection was to find out how well the partnership 
achieved good personal outcomes for older people and their unpaid carers.  As 
important weaknesses were found and recommendations for improvement made, a 
further review was undertaken in 2018 to check progress.  Overall, the review 
concluded the partnership had made limited progress in meeting the inspection 
recommendations.  

As a result, a further progress review was scheduled during 2019/20.  This was 
moved forward to 2020/21 in response to the additional pressures brought about by 
the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

This report makes repeated reference to the partnership’s Transformation 
Programme, which is described in detail in the City of Edinburgh Health and Social 
Care Partnership’s Strategic Plan (2019-2022).  This is a long-term programme of 
change and service redesign related to all adult health and social care.  The 
programme is supported by a project management team and includes a range of 
work streams.  It is important to note that the recommendations for improvement 
made in the 2017 joint inspection report for older people’s services are incorporated 
into the broader agenda and individual work streams of the Transformation 
Programme.  

2. Approach

This review was carried out jointly by the Care Inspectorate and Healthcare 
Improvement Scotland between January and September 2021.  Due to working 
restrictions because of the pandemic, the review was carried out remotely as a desk-
top exercise.  Evidence analysed included documents from the Edinburgh Health 
and Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) and national data.  

Our approach included: 

• Meetings with relevant officers in the partnership to discuss each 
recommendation and review the work completed or underway to progress 
these.

• Analysing a detailed written submission and accompanying evidential 
documents compiled and provided by relevant officers in the partnership.

• Meetings with officers as needed to receive updates, request additional 
evidence, and seek clarification.

• Reviewing publicly available national performance data.

Page 95



 
 

4 
 

 

 

3. Overview of progress made 
 

Since the progress review of 2018, senior leaders in the partnership had driven 
forward the change agenda.  They had invested resources to progress strategic 
planning, which had previously lacked vision, direction, and pace.  There was a 
positive shift from a reactionary to a more planned and structured approach.  
 
From the evidence provided for the purpose of this review, the partnership 
demonstrated good progress against most of the recommendations for improvement.  
The conclusion highlights the areas of strength and where further improvement is 
required.  There continue to be significant operational pressures, in part because of 
the challenges brought about by the pandemic.  Positively, the partnership has 
acknowledged these pressures and is working with NHS Lothian and City of 
Edinburgh Council to identify and manage these and the associated risks.  
 
  

Page 96



 
 

5 
 

 

 

4. Progress on recommendations for improvement 
 

Recommendation for improvement 1 
 
The partnership should improve its approach to engagement and consultation 
with stakeholders in relation to: 
 
• its vision 
• service redesign 
• key stages of its transformational programme 
• its objectives in respect of market facilitation 
 
We made this recommendation as the partnership’s leadership team needed to 
better communicate its vision and values alongside developing its capacity to 
improve. 
 
What the partnership has done: 
 

• Produced a revised Strategic Plan (2019-2022) which clearly sets out the 
vision and values for the EHSCP.  This was underpinned by engagement and 
consultation with a broad range of stakeholders using a variety of approaches.  
The partnership highlighted seven guiding principles within the Strategic Plan, 
one of which is engagement, with a stated commitment to generating and 
improving a culture of engagement and collaboration at all levels. 

• Initiated a programme of consultation in February 2021 to inform the revised 
Strategic Plan for 2022-2025.  

• Established a Transformation Programme to take forward plans for service 
redesign and committed to taking this forward in a spirit of involvement, 
engagement, and co-production. 

• Created a new post of Communications and Engagement Manager. 
• Developed its own branding, logo and website and created new 

communication platforms.  
• Held public engagement sessions with members of the Edinburgh Integration 

Joint Board (EIJB), with plans for more. 
• Developed a draft high-level Communications and Engagement Strategy. 
• As part of the Transformation Programme the partnership has: 

 
o taken forward work on the ‘Edinburgh Pact’, including the community 

mobilisation project (The Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact or “The Pact”, is 
the EIJB commitment to redefining its relationship with the citizens of 
Edinburgh and partners.  It is underpinned by a shared common 
purpose: to achieve and maximise the wellbeing of all citizens)1 

o begun a process of stakeholder consultation around the redesign of 
home-based care. 

 
 

1 The Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact - Edinburgh Health & Social Care Partnership (edinburghhsc.scot) 

 

Page 97

https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/whoweare/edinburghwellbeingpact/


6 

Assessment of progress 

The partnership has made good progress in taking forward this recommendation and 
embraced new ways of engaging with people.  It continued to do so despite the 
restrictions put in place because of the pandemic, which resulted in more 
engagement occurring remotely.  It developed a range of approaches to ensure the 
partnership has a clearer public identity and stakeholders have an awareness of the 
overall vision and the plans taking shape around service redesign.  There was 
evidence of investment in, and a commitment to, engagement and consultation.  This 
was most apparent in the creative and progressive work undertaken to develop the 
Edinburgh Pact and the consultation carried out to date in respect of the home-
based care review. 

Significant concerns were raised with the partnership by some stakeholders in 
respect of the approach taken to the engagement and consultation around phase 
one of the bed-based strategy.  There was a recognition and acknowledgement by 
the partnership that lessons needed to be learned from this. Investment in 
meaningful and timely engagement with all affected stakeholders will be required 
going forward to ensure the partnership’s actions reflect the intentions and principles 
within the Strategic Plan, the Edinburgh Pact and the Health and Social Care 
Standards.  In line with the partnership’s communication and engagement vision, the 
citizens of Edinburgh should be able to have trust and confidence that their views will 
be sought, heard, and considered.  

The partnership acknowledged it has yet to develop and publish a market facilitation 
strategy. This is discussed in greater detail later in the report under recommendation 
9. 

Recommendation for improvement 2 

The partnership should further develop and implement approaches to early 
intervention and prevention services to support older people to remain in their 
own homes and help avoid hospital admissions. 

We made this recommendation as the partnership’s approaches to early intervention 
and prevention were under-developed.  This was not helping older people to remain 
in their own homes where appropriate and was a contributory factor to hospital 
admissions.  

What the partnership has done: 

• Developed a three-year Community Mobilisation Plan.
• Provided alternatives to hospital admission and delayed discharges through

the development of ‘Home First’.
• Increased the use of Anticipatory Care Planning (ACP) in care homes through

use of the 7 steps to ACP approach.
• Recognised the need for, and began to act on, co-production and a

partnership approach across the full range of stakeholders to progress
improvements and early intervention through the Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact.

Page 98



7 

• Implemented a Three Conversations (3Cs) model.  Three Conversations is an
approach enabling open and interested conversations with people and
families who need support. 2It is also about the conversations that people
working in the sector have with colleagues and partners – working out how to
collaborate to make things happen to help them get on better with their lives.
There are three distinct conversations:

Conversation 1: Listen and connect 
Conversation 2: Work intensively with people in crisis 
Conversation 3: Build a good life.

Assessment of progress 

The partnership progressed the Home First model of service delivery to enhance 
the availability of support within an individual’s own home or in a homely setting.  
This has contributed to reductions in unnecessary admission and delay in discharge 
from hospital.  The Home First model, together with the Three Conversations and 
the Edinburgh Wellbeing Pact, are key elements of the Transformation Programme, 
which aims to support individuals and the workforce across the partnership to 
improve their own lives and service responses respectively.  It is positive to note the 
particular success in identifying a range of supports and reduced need for paid 
support demonstrated for people accessing Conversation 1. 

Identifying areas where improvement could further support early intervention 
through planning was demonstrated across 20 care homes and aligned GP 
practices.  Through improving anticipatory care planning the partnership 
demonstrated a reduction in the number of avoidable admissions to hospital in 
these services during 2019, enabling residents to continue to receive their care 
within a homely setting. 

By working across the full range of stakeholders together with measuring success in 
improvement initiatives, the EHSCP extended the scope and range of measures 
available to improve early intervention and prevention across the partnership.  This 
positive progress demonstrated the application of transformative approaches to 
deliver on the strategic intention.  In addition to the progress made against this 
recommendation, the intention to review and refresh the commitment to early 
intervention and prevention will remain in the next iteration of the Strategic Plan.  
This demonstrated a commitment to finding solutions and approaches that will 
support sustained progress. 
1 The Three Conversations® – Partners4Change home 

Page 99

http://partners4change.co.uk/the-three-conversations/


8 

Recommendation for improvement 3 

The partnership should develop exit strategies and plans from existing interim 
care arrangements to help support the delivery of community-based services 
that help older people and their carers to receive quality support within their 
own homes or a setting of their choice. 

Recommendation for improvement 4 

The partnership should engage with stakeholders to further develop 
intermediate care services, including bed-based provision, to help prevent 
hospital admission and to support timely discharge. 

We made these recommendations because: 

- interim care arrangements were not assisting older people and their carers to
experience choice and a high quality of care and support within their own
homes or a setting of their choice

- there were gaps in the delivery of intermediate care that had adversely
contributed to higher levels of hospital admissions and subsequent delayed
discharges.

What the partnership has done: 

• Decommissioned the interim care service based in Gylemuir House.
• Developed community services including Home First, to provide an alternative

to hospital admission where appropriate.
• Expanded Hospital at Home provision.
• Reviewed bed-based provision through a whole system approach and plan for

service change.
• Taken an eight-stage phased approach to changes in bed-based provision,

giving priority to five areas:
o Relocation of services provided in 40 beds at Liberton hospital.
o Identification of use and needs of people accessing Hospital Based

Complex Clinical Care (HBCCC) beds in Edinburgh (the use of
which is proportionately the highest in Scotland). 3

o Review of care home provision and estate.
o Respite delivery (inability to deliver during the pandemic resulted in

looking at solutions/different ways of providing respite).
o Sought alternatives regarding the use of premises at the Astley

Ainslie Hospital and the reprovision of care currently delivered
there.

3 DL(2015)11 - Hospital based complex clinical care (scot.nhs.uk) 

Page 100

https://www.sehd.scot.nhs.uk/dl/DL(2015)11.pdf


9 

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made significant efforts to offer alternatives to hospital admission 
and identify and develop a bed-based strategy that is part of a whole system review 
of care within the Transformation Programme.  Phase one of the bed-based strategy 
was presented to the EIJB in June 2021.  By adopting a phased approach to a 
complex process and prioritising each phase, the partnership demonstrated 
confidence that further improvement can be delivered in the provision of intermediate 
care.  

The move out of Liberton Hospital is yet to take place.  The original recommendation 
has been met in part by the closure of Gylemuir House.  The EHSCP adopted a 
strategic approach to intermediate care across the whole system which was positive. 
The completion of a clear plan for bed-based resources provided a basis for change. 
The EIJB requested some additional detail and wider consultation take place around 
phase one of the bed-based strategy following the Board meeting in June 2021.  
This was being taken forward and further reports will be presented to the EIJB. 

Recommendation for improvement 5 

The partnership should work in collaboration with carers and carers’ 
organisations to improve how carers’ needs are identified, assessed and met. 
This should be done as part of updating its carers’ strategy. 

We made this recommendation because there was an insufficient understanding of 
the needs of carers and the delivery of related services to help them maintain their 
caring role. 

What the partnership has done: 

• Re-established the Carer Strategic Planning Group in 2019.
• Developed a Joint Carer Strategy (2019-22) through engagement with

relevant stakeholders. This included a short breaks services statement as
required by the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016.

• Produced a Joint Carer Strategy implementation plan.
• Invested in areas identified by carers, such as adult carer support plans,

independent advocacy, and the further development of short breaks.
• Committed to funding a Carers’ Planning and Commissioning Officer.
• Appointed a second carer representative to the EIJB.

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made good progress with this recommendation.  It was positive to 
note that the clinical, care and governance committee has oversight of the 
implementation plan for the carer strategy.  It is anticipated that the committee will 
canvass the views of unpaid carers as part of the ongoing oversight of the strategy to 
ensure the outcomes identified in the implementation plan are successfully delivered. 

Page 101



10 

From the performance data provided it was evident that the number of carer 
assessments completed was consistently low across all localities over 2020/2021. 
Though this may be linked to the impact of the pandemic, it is an area which the 
partnership should review. 

Recommendation for improvement 6 

The partnership should ensure that people with dementia receive a timely 
diagnosis and that diagnostic support for them and their carers is available. 

We made this recommendation because people with dementia did not always 
receive a timely diagnosis and that post-diagnostic support was not always readily 
available. 

What the partnership has done: 

• Tested relocation of post-diagnostic support (PDS) within primary care.
• Resourced eight GP practices to provide PDS through one full-time Dementia

Support Facilitator.
• Simplified the process for referrals to the memory assessment and treatment

service from acute hospitals.
• Increased training and awareness for those staff working in care homes in

respect of people who may become stressed or distressed.
• Enhanced access to diagnosis of dementia and support for people living in

care homes.
• Identified learning from the Covid-19 response to include a blended approach

to PDS delivery within the Alzheimer Scotland contract up to 31 March 2023.

Assessment of progress 

National data indicated that during the period of the 2018 review, the percentage of 
people estimated to be newly diagnosed with dementia in NHS Lothian who were 
referred for PDS (37%) was similar to the Scotland level of 42%.  This indicated an 
improvement in referral rates, though the percentage of patients referred for PDS 
living in Edinburgh who went on to receive a minimum of 12 months of support was 
notably lower than in Scotland as a whole.  This was recorded as being below the 
national average (43% compared to a Scotland percentage of 72%). 4 

In the period since 2018 there was evidence of progress in providing a model of care 
and pathway to support timely diagnosis and support.  This work was taken forward 
by the transformation team within primary care, building on learning from a test of 
change in North East Edinburgh and strengthening links with the statutory and 
voluntary sectors to improve access to PDS.  The information on performance within 
local delivery plans provides the evidence, increased level of oversight and 
awareness within the partnership of the needs of people with dementia.  The 
developments evident reflected the commitment within the partnership to deliver   
continued improvement for people requiring diagnosis and PDS across all 
community and care settings. 

4 Dementia Post-Diagnostic Support (publichealthscotland.scot) 

Page 102

https://publichealthscotland.scot/media/4018/2020-03-31-dementiapds-report.pdf


11 

Recommendation for improvement 7 

The partnership should streamline and improve the falls pathway to ensure 
that older people’s needs are better met. 

We made this recommendation because there was a need to streamline referral and 
care pathways to improve outcomes for older people at risk of falling or who had 
experienced a fall.  The falls strategy needed to be updated with a greater level of 
involvement from supporting agencies. 

What the partnership has done: 

• Reviewed the falls pathway.
• Identified responsibility for continuous improvement for older people at risk of

falls within the Long-Term Conditions programme.
• Established dedicated Falls Co-ordinators aligned to localities.
• Provided support to identified care homes to improve the prevention and

management of falls.
• Increased cross-sector working to enhance community opportunities to

prevent and reduce falls.
• Improved the use of measuring performance to inform planning for

improvement.
• Circulated falls prevention information to the public, staff, care homes and GP

practice teams. Information had been published on the internal webpage for
practitioners.  The falls prevention pathway was interactive within the website.
The updated website had a section on long-term conditions with access
available to care homes.

• Created access to a falls service through the Lothian Flow centre. GPs can
refer to the HUB in localities and receive a response within four hours.  This
supported increased profession to profession contact. (Locality HUBS provide
short-term input by a multi-disciplinary team). 5

• Worked with Perth and Kinross HSCP to develop a training resource (poster)
for staff working within care homes when someone falls.

• Delivered training to 200 staff working across health social care and in the
third sector.  This was based on the national falls pathway and was adapted
to suit a range of professions and practice.

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made significant progress in both streamlining the falls pathway and 
enhancing access to rapid specialist support through the Lothian flow centre.  This 
access had the potential to benefit patients not conveyed to hospital by the Scottish 
Ambulance Service (SAS) and was an area that should be further developed within 
the partnership.  Data collected by care homes and locally on community alarm 
responses had informed some targeted activity.  However, the data available was 

5 https://services.nhslothian.scot/ecps/PhysioAtHomeAndAssociatedServices/EdinburghHub 

Page 103

https://services.nhslothian.scot/ecps/PhysioAtHomeAndAssociatedServices/EdinburghHub


12 

limited in its scope and therefore negatively impacted on the ability of the partnership 
to plan effectively for continuous improvement.  An example was a lack of clearly 
identified reasons for the conveyance to hospital of people experiencing a fall.  

It was positive that the partnership had developed an outcomes framework across 
the Long-Term Conditions programme to improve their ability to assess and 
measure the impact of the falls programme, using local data, experience, and 
impact on outcomes. 

Increased opportunities to work within the community with the third sector were 
evident and were successfully utilised during the Covid-19 pandemic, with the risks 
for those shielding addressed through Staying Active packs in partnership with the 
Red Cross.  This was an example of good practice. 

Good practice example 
Working in partnership with the British Red Cross, 250 ‘Staying Active’ packs 
were provided to people who were shielding, and at risk of falls during 
Covid-19 pandemic.  These were widely distributed, through key frontline 
colleagues, and included crosswords, and suggested exercises to do at home.  
A further 600 Staying Active leaflets distributed via the City of Edinburgh 
Council, through the dedicated local assistance/shielding line during 
lockdown 2020, and the information was also passed onto both internal and 
external housing support teams.  

The fact that interactive information was available for care homes was positive, but it 
was not yet in place for care at home services.  This was an area which could be 
extended to benefit people accessing care within their own homes. 

Overall, the partnership had put in place a wide range of measures to improve the 
delivery of falls prevention and response.  By utilising local data and identifying 
responsibility for improvement within the Long-Term Conditions programme, the 
basis for continuous improvement was substantially improved. 

Recommendation for improvement 8 

The partnership should develop joint approaches to ensure robust quality 
assurance systems are embedded in practice. 

We made this recommendation because the partnership did not have strong joint 
approaches to quality assurance that led to service improvements.  

What the partnership has done: 

• Worked with the Good Governance Institute to review and improve EIJB
governance arrangements.

• Established the EIJB Clinical and Care Governance Group.
• Established the EIJB Clinical and Care Governance Committee in 2019, with

the aim of establishing an integrated approach to clinical and care
governance.

Page 104



13 

• Introduced the post of Performance and Evaluation Manager in February
2021.

• Developed and implemented a joint quality assurance framework with the
intention of putting in place multi-disciplinary quality improvement teams,
reporting into the Clinical and Care Governance Group.

• Reviewed the quality dashboard and created a new reporting template, with a
focus on service delivery and its direct impact on the quality of care and
support provided.

• Adopted a Quality Management System providing a single, shared approach
to planning, assurance and control and improvement.  This was successfully
applied in one care home to support staff in taking forward the improvement
agenda identified from regulatory inspection, resulting in improved grades.

• Reviewed case files.
• Established a virtual Quality Improvement Hub across localities to support on-

going and sustainable quality improvement.
• Developed links with NHS Lothian quality academy, with some staff

undertaking training.
• Implemented a single approach to managing complaints and supporting

improvement.

Assessment of progress 

Some good progress was made in taking forward this recommendation, improving 
the partnership’s overall approach to quality assurance.  The partnership also 
committed to establishing clinical and care governance teams to support the full 
implementation of the quality framework.  

The partnership does not currently publish the reports submitted to committees, such 
as clinical and care governance and performance and delivery. This data had 
previously been published in the EIJB reports. In the interests of transparency, it is 
recommended that reports are made available on the website.  This should include 
qualitative and quantitative data around waiting lists and waiting times for 
assessment, services and outcomes achieved as well as actions taken to address 
these. 

The partnership acknowledged more work was needed to embed shared approaches 
to quality assurance.  This was evident in the systems developed so far, which are 
more clinically focused than integrated. 

Page 105



14 

Recommendation for improvement 9 

The partnership should work with the local community and other stakeholders 
to develop and implement a cross-sector market facilitation strategy.  This 
should include a risk assessment and set out contingency plans. 

We made this recommendation because there were underdeveloped approaches to 
market facilitation and the risk assessment and contingency plans to accompany 
these.  

What the partnership has done: 

• Worked to improve relationships and engagement with service providers.
• Established the Sustainable Community Support programme to support

improvement in capacity and quality of services under the current care at
home contract.

• Carried out an extensive engagement programme around the process of
developing a new care at home contract.

• Reviewed day opportunity and short breaks provision.

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made significant efforts to engage with service providers and other 
stakeholders, especially given the challenges which arose because of the pandemic. 
Whilst there was a commitment to producing a market facilitation strategy alongside 
the development of the revised Strategic Plan (2022-2025), the proposed timescale 
comes well after the plan set out in the Statement of Intent of 2018 and the 
implementation of the Transformation Programme.  The latter is central to the 
planning and decision-making around longer-term service re-modelling and 
provision.  

The partnership has begun to report on proposals concerning the closure or 
repurposing of five of the eleven council owned care homes before developing a full 
and comprehensive understanding of the city’s care home market and implementing 
a new care at home contract.  Since the partnership has not yet developed a market 
facilitation strategy, there is no evidence to indicate that the partnership has a robust 
and whole system understanding of the care sector in the city.   

Nor is it clear that the partnership has a detailed awareness of what opportunities or 
risks may be around the medium to longer-term resilience and sustainability of the 
full range of providers and services across the independent and third sectors.  While 
discussions between agencies to explore these issues have been initiated, they are 
at a very preliminary stage.  

Not having developed an agreed market facilitation strategy could result in over or 
under provision in some service areas.  This could create unnecessary risk for the 
partnership around capacity and choice, particularly since the majority of Edinburgh’s 
social care provision is purchased from the independent and third sectors. 

Page 106



15 

The partnership acknowledged the importance of dynamic and ongoing 
conversations with providers.  It should prioritise the development of a market 
facilitation strategy in partnership with communities and the third and independent 
sectors, which includes a risk assessment and contingency plans.  Doing so will help 
provide a greater level of insight into the social care market in the city by informing 
proactive risk management, enhancing stakeholder engagement, and supporting 
robust planning and decision making around disinvestment, investment, and service 
redesign. 

Recommendation for improvement 10 

The partnership should produce a revised and updated joint strategic 
commissioning plan with detail on: 

• how priorities are to be resourced
• how joint organisational development planning to support this is to be taken

forward
• how consultation, engagement and involvement are to be maintained
• fully costed action plans including plans for investment and disinvestment

based on identified future needs
• expected measurable outcomes.

We made this recommendation because the partnership’s strategic planning, 
commissioning, consultation, and involvement needed to improve.  

What the partnership has done: 

• Reviewed the five outline strategic commissioning plans previously
developed, mapping the commitments within these to the Strategic Plan
(2019-2022) and the Transformation Plan.

• Consulted on and produced the Strategic Plan (2019-2022).
• Reviewed the progress being made to implement the commitments within the

Strategic Plan (2019-2022).
• Established and resourced the Transformation Programme as one of the key

mechanisms for delivering the commitments in the Strategic Plan.
• Appointed a Performance and Evaluation Manager in 2021 to support the

assessment and impact of the Transformation Programme.
• Reviewed the Strategic Needs Assessment of 2015.
• Developed a high-level draft communications and engagement strategy.

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made considerable progress in reviewing and taking forward its 
strategic planning.  The focus on service redesign and the establishment of the 
Transformation Programme for all adult care and support was a positive step in 
taking forward the strategic commitments and reflected the shift in approach from 
reactionary to planned.  There was also evidence of a better resourced approach to 
engagement and consultation.  The temporary appointment of project management 
staff helped to increase the pace of progress with this work.  The timeline of the 

Page 107



16 

Programme extends well beyond the period of the non-recurring funding in place for 
the project team allocated from the EIJB reserves. It will therefore be important for 
the partnership to continue to resource the team so that pace is not lost, and 
progress continues. 

The successful delivery of the commitments within the Strategic Plan is dependent 
on the management of the EIJB budget.  The actions being taken to support this are 
outlined in the text below within recommendation 11.  The partnership will also need 
to ensure it continues to embed robust, integrated systems and reporting 
mechanisms to evidence the impact of the changes delivered through the 
Transformation Programme on experiences and outcomes for older people.  So that 
decisions made about service change and redesign are in line with the ethos of the 
Edinburgh Pact and the national Health and Social Care Standards, the partnership 
should continue to invest in and embed a transparent and person-centred approach 
to all engagement and consultation. 

Recommendation for improvement 11 

The partnership should develop and implement a detailed financial recovery 
plan to ensure that a sustainable financial position is achieved by the 
integration joint board. 

We made this recommendation because there were insufficient detailed financial 
recovery plans to ensure a sustainable financial position for the IJB.  

What the partnership has done: 

• Strengthened systems and processes for the management and oversight of 
the EIJB’s financial position to support a move away from short term to more 
planned responses, including the implementation of a Savings Programme 
Governance Framework in 2020.  This was overseen by the Savings 
Governance Board which reported into the EIJB Performance and Delivery 
Committee.

• Developed an ambitious savings programme, closely aligned to the 
development and implementation of the Transformation Programme.

• Adopted an Integration and Sustainability framework aligned to the Strategic 
Plan in support of longer-term financial planning.

• Achieved financial balance in 2019/2020 and 2020/2021.
• Continued to work with partners to achieve a balanced budget for 

2021/2022.
Assessment of progress 

The partnership reviewed the systems and processes that were in place for 
monitoring and reporting on its financial performance to ensure these were robust 
and fit for purpose.  The partnership worked hard to reach a balanced budget in 
2019/2020 and 2020/2021.  It acknowledged that ensuring a sustainable and 
balanced financial position will continue to be challenging and is dependent on the 

Page 108



17 

successful implementation of changes to the delivery of health and social care for all 
adults through the Transformation Programme.  

The financial challenges faced by the partnership were further exacerbated by the 
impact of the pandemic.  The budget position reported to the EIJB in August 2021 
showed a deficit.  Tripartite efforts with NHS Lothian and City of Edinburgh Council 
to move to a balanced budget are continuing.  The financial position will require to be 
closely monitored so that the savings identified, and commitments made within the 
Strategic Plan are successfully delivered.  

Recommendation for improvement 12 

The partnership should ensure that: 

• there are clear pathways to accessing services
• eligibility criteria are developed and applied consistently
• pathways and criteria are clearly communicated to all stakeholders, and
• waiting lists are managed effectively to enable the timely allocation of services.

Recommendation for improvement 13

The partnership should ensure that:

• people who use services have a comprehensive, up-to-date assessment and
review of their needs which reflects their views and the views of the
professionals involved

• people who use services have a comprehensive care plan, which includes
anticipatory planning where relevant

• relevant records should contain a chronology, and
• allocation of work following referral, assessment, care planning and review

are all completed within agreed timescales.

Recommendation for improvement 15 

The partnership should ensure that self-directed support is used to promote 
greater choice and control for older people.  Staff and multi-agency training 
should be undertaken to support increased confidence in staff in all settings so 
that they can discuss the options of self-directed support with people using care 
services. 

We made these recommendations because: 
- there were difficulties for people accessing the right services at the right time
- too many people were not being assessed properly or timeously and did not

have care plans that addressed their needs fully
- there were improvements needed to better enable choice and control for older

people and staff should be trained in its delivery.

Page 109



18 

What the partnership has done: 

• Invested in the Three Conversations (3Cs) approach as a means of reducing
bureaucracy in the assessment process, with the end goal of reducing waiting
times and improving personal outcomes.  To date, these have been
successfully introduced across 11 innovation sites involving around 100 staff.
Fortnightly governance and engagement meetings were established involving
representation from the third sector to oversee implementation.  Evaluative
reports were produced to record impact.  Staff feedback was also being
obtained.  There were positive results reported around responsiveness to
assessment and meeting need.

• Started to implement a Purchasing Improvement Programme in support of
improved policies, procedures, systems, approaches and practice around
assessment and care management.  Part of this work involved establishing a
Good Practice Forum as a platform for staff to engage with senior
management, seek feedback, engage with subject matter experts, and
support good practice and decision making.

• Started to develop a Learning and Development Programme to support staff.
This included improving understanding and application of the eligibility criteria.

• Worked with the council’s quality assurance team over 2018/2019 to support
evaluation of social work practice.

• Started to pilot a Resource Allocation System to support staff in their
conversations with individuals.

• Strengthened leadership and management in locality teams by creating the
new post of Head of Operations and improving governance arrangements.

• Established the Home First team to avoid hospital admission and support
people to return home.

• Implemented initiatives to improve outcomes for older people through
Anticipatory Care Planning.

• Increased the uptake of Options 1 and 2 for self-directed support.

Assessment of progress 

The joint inspection completed in 2017 evaluated systems for supporting 
assessment and care management as unsatisfactory. Little progress had been made 
by the time of the 2018 review.  The negative impact on people waiting for 
assessment or a service response was significant, with some people not receiving a 
service at all.  The approach taken by the partnership to locality working at the time 
also had a detrimental impact on operational performance.  

Data provided by the partnership shows evidence of progress between 2019 and 
March 2021.  There was a substantial increase in care at home provision from 
104,000 to 121,000 hours per week.  Operational performance also improved in this 
period around the number of people waiting in the community for a package of care, 
waiting times for assessment of need, completion of carers assessments and 
reducing delays in hospital discharge.  New initiatives were adopted aimed at 
reducing bureaucracy, avoiding admissions to acute care, and providing a person-
centred and asset-based approach to assessment.  

Page 110



19 

By providing the direction and systems to support improvement, the EHSCP had 
made progress prior to the Covid-19 pandemic.  However, the ability to sustain 
progress in assessment and provision of new and existing services has been 
acknowledged by the partnership as an area of significant risk.  The longer-term 
impact of the pandemic across the whole health and social care system both 
nationally and within the partnership, including workforce challenges, is placing 
severe stress on service resilience and sustainability.  The partnership is working 
with NHS Lothian and the City of Edinburgh Council to identify, manage and 
respond to these risks and maintain service responses during the pandemic and 
Covid-19 recovery. 

In the longer term, further work will be needed to fully implement the 3Cs approach 
and to ensure more extensive and meaningful information is gathered and analysed 
to understand the impact on personal outcomes and people’s experiences.  Other 
areas for further improvement also include reviewing and updating all relevant 
policies and procedures; more effectively managing waiting lists for care reviews; 
supporting more individuals to self-direct their care and support and managing staff 
absence. 

Recommendation for improvement 14 

The partnership should ensure that risk assessments and management plans 
are recorded appropriately and are informed by relevant agencies.  This will 
help ensure that older people are protected from harm and their health and 
wellbeing is maintained. 

We made this recommendation because we lacked confidence that risk 
management policies and procedures were being consistently applied and in the 
partnership's ability to deliver consistent positive public protection outcomes. 

What the partnership has done: 

• Provided EIJB members with briefings and additional information as
requested around adult support and protection.

• Explored the issues behind the number of large-scale investigations,
significant case reviews and inter-agency referral discussions with a view to
acting on these as required.

• Developed and implemented a new safety risk assessment tool and safety
plan in support of easier to use documentation and improved consistency.

• Improved professional supervision for adult support and protection work.
• Improved the identification, assessment and recording of non-adult protection

risks.
• Reviewed adult support and protection training across all sectors, with all

courses evaluated as a means of checking levels of understanding pre and
post training.

• Progressed the involvement of health colleagues in Initial Referral
Discussions and associated training needs.

• Improved involvement of people with lived experience of adult support and
protection procedures.

Page 111



20 

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made good progress in taking forward this recommendation.  It 
acknowledged there is work to do to ensure any further areas identified for 
improvement are addressed, including learning from significant case reviews.  

There will be further exploration of this through the Adult Support and Protection joint 
inspection programme, which is currently underway across Scotland.  

Recommendation for improvement 16 

The partnership should develop and implement a joint comprehensive 
workforce development strategy, involving the third and independent sectors. 
This will help to support sustainable recruitment and retention of staff, build 
sufficient capacity and ensure a suitable skill mix that delivers high-quality 
services for older people and their carers. 

We made this recommendation because the partnership lacked a shared approach 
to workforce development that included the third and independent sectors. 

What the partnership has done: 

• Reported on base line information and data on the workforce to inform
planning.

• Extended work within North West locality to include care at home and care at
home staff.

• Identified workforce modelling through a recognised methodology (“6 Steps”).6

• Aligned strategic and operational focus on workforce within a strategy and
operations forum.

• Identified recruitment and retention as a key priority within workforce planning.
• Strengthened professional leadership responsibilities across the HSCP
• Increased opportunities for staff engagement, comment, and involvement on

‘Working Together’ as part of the transformation work.
• Developed strategic workforce plans for Scottish Government.

Assessment of progress 

The partnership made some progress towards meeting this recommendation through 
gathering base line data on the workforce across NHS Lothian and the City of 
Edinburgh Council delivering health and social care services within the EHSCP.  A 
more detailed picture has been gathered for the North West locality by including care 
at home and care home staff and this was helpful. 

6 http://www.knowledge.scot.nhs.uk/workforceplanning/resources/six-steps-methodology

Page 112

http://www.knowledge.scot.nhs.uk/workforceplanning/resources/six-steps-methodology


21 

Following the Scottish Government workforce planning framework an interim plan 
was developed for approval in August 2021, with a three-year plan in progress for 
2022.  While the partnership acknowledged medium and longer-term plans may be 
subject to external changes, the principles of having a ‘skilled, supported and 
sustainable workforce’ were central to both planning and the increased 
communication between strategic and operational activity. 

The EHSCP workforce strategy ‘Working Together’ enabled identification of short-
term goals for immediate improvement.  This included prioritising recruitment and 
retention and enhancing staff skills.  The partnership also identified areas where they 
can effect improvement, for example the modern apprenticeships for NHS Lothian 
and City of Edinburgh Council.  

Communication and inclusion of third and independent sectors in discussions about 
workforce was evident.  However, although the implications for these groups along 
with volunteers and unpaid carers were considered within “Working Together”, this 
was at a less developed stage than the planning for statutory sector staff.  The 
partnership had responded to the planning framework for Scottish Government's 
National Health and Social Care Workforce Plan (June 2017) with identified 
timescales for completion of plans.  This was supported by clearly defined links 
between the Transformation Programme workstreams to retain the interaction 
between service development and workforce planning.  This further allows for a 
response to pressures on services to be identified and adapted during the recovery 
phase from the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Recommendation for improvement 17 

The partnership should work with community groups to support a sustainable 
volunteer recruitment, retention and training model. 

We made this recommendation because the partnership needed to better influence 
the improvements required in the co-ordination of volunteer recruitment, retention, 
and training. 

What the partnership has done: 

• Commissioned Volunteer Edinburgh up to March 2024 to provide support to
older people, those living with long-term conditions and other support needs
to contribute to improved outcomes by reducing social isolation, enhancing
connections, improving self-worth, and improving health and wellbeing.
These outcomes are monitored and reported annually and link to the work
being carried out to develop the Edinburgh Pact, the Community Engagement
Programme and Community Mobilisation.

• Through Volunteer Net, provided flexible support to unpaid carers.
• Reviewed the grant programme to third sector organisations in 2019 with a

greater emphasis on the objectives of tacking inequalities, prevention and
early intervention and building on community assets.

• Developed the mental health strategy (Thrive Edinburgh) with stakeholders
including the third sector.

Page 113



 
 

22 
 

 

 

Assessment of progress 
 
The partnership made good progress in taking forward this recommendation, with 
the development of the Volunteer Strategy currently underway.  
 

5. Conclusion 
 

Edinburgh HSCP has made good progress in taking forward the improvement plan 
developed from the recommendations in the original 2017 joint inspection of older 
people’s services.  This includes: 
 

• Making a significant investment in improving its approach to engagement and 
consultation with stakeholders. 
 

• Developing new approaches to early intervention and prevention. 
 

• Decommissioning the interim care arrangements provided in Gylemuir House. 
 

• Developing and implementing the Carer Strategy (2019-2022). 
 

• Investing in support areas identified by carers. 
 

• Improving access to diagnosis of dementia and post diagnostic support. 
 

• Streamlining the falls pathway, with enhanced access to specialist support 
and improved delivery of falls prevention and response. 
 

• Reviewing and improving governance arrangements in support of a more 
cohesive and integrated approach to quality assurance and supporting 
improvement. 
 

• Updating the Strategic Needs Analysis (2015), consulting on and 
implementing the Strategic Plan (2019-2022) and progressing with and 
investing in the Transformation Programme. 
 

• Making improvements to systems and processes which support risk 
assessments, management plans and training around adult support and 
protection and non-protection risks. 
 

• Gathering base line data in support of a workforce plan and identifying areas 
for improvement. 
 

• Implementing new approaches to assessment and care management, 
strengthening support to practitioners, and reducing waiting times for 
assessment and access to services. 
 

• Improving links with voluntary partners. 
 

Page 114



 
 

23 
 

 

 

There remain important areas which require further work and resources to support 
on-going improvement.  These include ensuring a dynamic and collaborative market 
facilitation strategy is developed in consultation with stakeholders as a matter of 
priority.  Additionally, the partnership’s commitment to engagement and consultation 
with all stakeholders should be carried out in a manner that embeds trust and 
confidence in its actions and approach to decision making about changes to service 
delivery. 
 
The partnership should continue to closely monitor its financial position, in particular 
the savings programme and the impact of this on the availability and quality of care 
and support, and the outcomes experienced by people.  Adequate funding needs to 
be made available to resource the on-going work of the Transformation Programme 
to ensure pace and progress are sustained. Quality assurance approaches should 
be fully integrated and effective mechanisms put in place to provide assurance that 
areas identified for improvement are actioned and learning is shared.  
 
There are extreme national pressures in health and social care currently.  There has 
been acknowledgement by the partnership that there continue to be ongoing 
challenges, especially around service delivery and building a sustainable workforce. 
Crucially, there needs to be a continued focus on sustained improvement in overall 
operational performance.  Waiting lists for reviews need to be more effectively 
managed and progress made towards an increase in the number of people self-
directing their care and support. 
 
To conclude, this report provides an overview and assessment of the work 
undertaken by the EHSCP to meet each of the recommendations.  Progress overall 
is positive.  No further review activity is planned, and as such we will continue to 
work with the partnership to support improvement and monitor progress through our 
normal contacts.  
 

 

Page 115



To find out more about our inspections go to www.careinspectorate.com and   
www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org

Contact us: 
Telephone: 0345 600 9527 
Email: enquiries@careinspectorate.com 
Write: The Care Inspectorate, Compass House, 11 Riverside Drive, Dundee, DD1 4NY.

We can provide this publication in alternative formats and languages on request.

Edinburgh Office  Glasgow Office
Gyle Square Delta House
1 South Gyle Crescent 50 West Nile Street
Edinburgh Glasgow
EH12 9EB G1 2NP
Phone: 0131 623 4300 Phone: 0141 225 6999  

www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org

The Healthcare Environment Inspectorate, the Scottish Health Council, the Scottish Health 
Technologies Group, the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) and the Scottish 
Medicines Consortium are part of our organisation.

© Care Inspectorate and Healthcare Improvement Scotland 2021Page 116



1 

REPORT 
‘Working Together’ – The Inaugural Workforce Strategy 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

8 February 2022 

Executive 
Summary 

The purpose of this report is to provide the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board with an overview to the 
development of the inaugural workforce strategy; 
‘Working Together’. 

Recommendations It is recommended that the Edinburgh Integration Joint 
Board consider and approve the draft workforce strategy: 
Working Together, along with its associated 
submissions. 

Directions 

Direction to City 
of Edinburgh 
Council, NHS 
Lothian or both 
organisations 

No direction required  
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council 
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian 
Issue direction to City of Edinburgh Council & NHS Lothian 

Report Circulation 

1. This report has not been circulated to any other groups or committees.  Drafts of
the Working Together strategy have been considered by the Programme Board
and the Transformation Portfolio Board with the Strategic Planning Group
receiving an update on progress.

Page 117

Agenda Item 6.3



2 

Main Report 

Background 

2. In late summer of 2020, the Integration Joint Board (IJB) agreed the
Transformation Programme, including a workstream on workforce.  The
Transformation Portfolio Board agreed that, in line with this, a workforce strategy.
This would sit within the remit of the Transformation team, supported by other
key personnel.

3. A small project team was formed to lead the overall development of the strategy,
linking with a newly formed Programme Board whose membership was formed
from key professional and service leads across the Edinburgh Health and Social
Care Partnership (the Partnership) as well as external partner organisations.
Further engagement was also sought from partnership and trade union
representatives.

4. In developing the workforce strategy, the project team would periodically report
to the Transformation Portfolio Board as well as the Strategic Planning Group.

5. It was agreed that the workforce strategy would be entitled Working Together.

Approach

6. Working Together’ is the IJB’s inaugural workforce strategy and describes how
we will create the workforce we need to deliver our vision of a ‘caring, healthier
and safer Edinburgh’.

7. Its purpose is three-fold:

a) Plan to ensure the requirement of a skilled and capable workforce;
b) To support the delivery of our strategic priorities; and thus
c) Be able to provide the health and social care needs of the citizens of

Edinburgh

What was our brief? 

8. The programme board progressed the strategy through a series of workshops
and gave the project team a clear directive to develop a document that was:

• High level in nature
• Short and succinct
• Visually appealing

Who is this strategy for? 

9. While the development of the workforce strategy is primarily aimed at the
workforce needs of the Partnership, it also recognises the possible implications
on our wider workforce (3rd sector, independent sector, carers, volunteers etc).
Therefore, it was important that external partners had the opportunity to engage

Page 118



3 

and influence its development.  The initial short-term outcomes focus on the 
internal workforce; however, it is acknowledged that in the medium to long term, 
a broader focus will be required. 

Our Key Strategic Workforce Priorities 

10. Initial work centred on workshops with the programme board to take on board
thoughts and comments on the necessary building blocks for our inaugural
strategy.  This information was further enhanced as part of wider engagement
work in the form of focus groups and the use of an on-line survey.

11. From the analysis of the information and data gathered, 4 key strategic workforce
priorities were identified, these being:

• Health & wellbeing
• Culture & identity
• Workforce capacity & transformation
• Leadership & development

12. For each of these key priorities, several key commitments and a series of specific
actions were also identified (Appendix 1).

Challenges 

13. As part of developing the on-line survey, a Data Protection Impact Assessment
(DPIA) was required to be completed and approved.  Navigating through this
legislative requirement proved complex and time consuming at a time when the
project team were looking to engage and seek feedback from staff.

14. Further IT challenges were identified when testing the on-line survey on both City
of Edinburgh Council’s (CEC) and NHS Lothian’s (NHSL) websites.  Initially, the
survey was not available to both, however as data sharing agreements exist
between CEC and NHSL, this issue was eventually overcome.

15. Given the IT infrastructure in place for both NHSL and CEC staff, most individuals
were able to readily access the on-line survey.  However, some staff do not have
ready access to the technology to allow them to easily access on-line material.
In these cases, information about the survey were relayed via text message
along with the web link, on the basis that staff would then access through their
own/ home devices.  Paper copies for wider distribution were considered but this
proved challenging due to the COVID implications.  Service leads were
instrumental in overcoming these hurdles.

16. A further challenge remains in the developing the final strategy document that
meets the ‘accessibility’ requirements for all formal public sector documents that
doesn’t distract from our original brief.  Our communications team are supporting
us in this regard.

Page 119



4 

17. Access to readily available workforce data for the whole of the workforce was a
further challenge.  Data is extracted from both Council and NHS Lothian payroll
systems which then required significant data cleansing.  Working with service
leads, professional leads and Partnership colleagues, significant work was
required in order to be able to present the data in the form of a workforce profile
for the Partnership.

Delivery 

18. It is proposed that the key strategic workforce priorities and commitments are
advanced through the formation of specific delivery groups (Appendix 2).
Membership of each group remains to be confirmed.  However, it is clear that
many of the requirements form part of work that is already mainstreamed and
ongoing and recognised as supporting key service objectives.  It is proposed that
the delivery of the workforce strategy is supported through an overarching
coordination role, responsible for overseeing the outputs of each of the delivery
groups.

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

Financial 

19. Investment in our workforce in order to build capacity will be inevitable, be that
in support of additional recruitment, staff development to improve retention as
well as support for the broader workforce aspects of wellbeing, working culture
and identity.

Risk implications 

20. The risk of doing nothing remains potentially catastrophic:
• The need to ensure future workforce supply in the face of an aging

workforce with the potential loss of significant skills and experience in the
coming years.

• Currently we have very few staff under the age of 30, therefore without a
step change in our approach, we are unlikely to have the capacity to meet
future gaps/ needs going forward.

• The cost of sickness/ absence aligned to poor staff experience in the
workplace.

• Increasing reliance on external agencies to provide capacity which will also
significantly pressure operating budgets.

• Edinburgh’s population is projected to increase and with it will come further
demands for our services.  Without investment in our workforce there
remains a risk to the quality of/service provision in the future.

21. Building on staff feedback and ensuring future buy-in remains crucial for all
strategies.

Page 120



5 

Equality and Integrated impact assessment 

22. Working Together goes beyond ‘just a numbers approach’ and identifies the
need for greater focus on matters of culture, identity and wellbeing each of
which will greatly impact positively on the equality agenda.

23. Each delivery group will be charged with undertaking an Integrated Impact
Assessment.

Sustainability impacts 

24. The level and quality of service delivery we aspire to can only be met through
our workforce.  Without a strategic approach to managing our future workforce,
it is likely that service delivery will become unsustainable.

25. The challenges across our workforce are well noted, therefore action at a
strategic level is a matter of urgency,

Consultation 

26. Formal consultation is not required however, we will work closely with our
partner organisations in positioning our strategy document and its outputs.

Report Author 

Judith Proctor  
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 
Contacts for further information: 

Name: Neil Wilson 
Email: Neil.wilson@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk 

Name: Brionna Wilson 
Email: brionna.wilson@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Proposed action plan 
Appendix 2 Proposed delivery plan 
Appendix 3 Working Together – PowerPoint presentation 

Page 121



Theme
Commitments
- We pledge to:

Actions
- In order to achieve the commitment, it is suggested that we will:

What does “Health & 
Wellbeing” mean to EHSCP?

Value every member of staff Identify Wellbeing/trauma champions

Implement an agenda for the Staff wellbeing steering group
Continue to create a sense of trust, value and a feeling of belonging across all 
teams

Be a supportive and responsive employer to the needs of each employee

Ensure accessibility for all staff, including to health and wellbeing opportunities

Work-life balance
Promote a positive work-life balance for all staff, and ensure 
leaders act as role models to achieve this

Ensure regular workload and wellbeing reviews for all staff

Ensure staff have clear job plans with realistic expectations set around task and 
workload
Set shared expectations and culture for (out of hours) work communications & 
responses
Establish line manager training to encourage proactive and creative approaches 
towards work-life balance
Acknowledge and put steps/resources in place to overcome any service delivery 
consequences of improving staff's work-life balance
Embed the importance of work-life balance into health and wellbeing support 
networks

Ways of working / Flexible 
working choices

Continually listen to our staff and ask questions so we can promote 
a positive, healthy and safe working culture

Incorporate flexible/different ways of working across our services

Encourage managers to consistently talk to their staff about taking time to look 
after themselves, and allow that time in their workload
Continue to engage with staff to support the ongoing delivery of the workforce 
strategy

Commit to building resilience across our workforce, to help 
manage and adapt to change

Implement back-to-work policies consistently, and ensure that staff feel they are 
able to come back to work from illness fully supported

Ensure all tiers of management across the Partnership are aware and advocate 
the messages within the health and wellbeing support networks

Develop peer to peer staff networks where they do not exist, and map out 
existing networks across CEC and NHSL
Promote that there is time at work allowed for conversations to support each 
other

Mental Health awareness & 
support

Promote positive mental health, and support employees with their 
mental health

Expect senior staff to step up as role models and open conversations on mental 
health

Create opportunities and support staff to attend mental health training – for 
themselves, and also how to identify and support mental health in their team

Review the occupational health questions asked of new starters by both NHS 
and CEC 

Access to Health & Wellbeing 
resources

Ensure that equal resources are available to all staff Improve access to resources, including training and workshops

Resolve technology issues preventing access
Provide health and wellbeing training to help staff manage work-life balance and 
ongoing life pressures
Connect with National Programmes to help shape our approach to the ongoing 
health and wellbeing needs of our workforce
Develop a single integrated point of contact for staff to access appropriate 
health and wellbeing support networks and information
Enable staff to access a range of evidence-based interventions to support 
positive physical and mental wellbeing

Working Together  Sub-Group 1 will be responsible for the implementation and success of both the Health & Wellbeing and the Culture & Identity 
commitments & actions. As such, this group will be comprised of representatives from existing initiatives within the Partnership, including established 
transformation projects and Mental Health & Wellbeing champions, minority groups and the third sector (see Appendix 3 for more detail). A central project 
coordinator will ensure information sharing and cross-working between the sub-groups to ensure optimum collaboration and successful outcomes.

Benefits for Service Users:
Services will be provided by happier, more motivated and resilient staff with an improved sense of belonging, mental health and more appropriate workload; 
this will result in the delivery of higher quality care. With stronger emphasis on high quality patient care, waiting times become shorter with fewer patient 
complaints resulting in higher staff satisfaction and greater improvements in service.

Benefits for Staff:
All staff will be treated fairly and consistently. Importance and recognition given to their heath and workload by the organisation in general, and their managers 
in particular, will result in reduced stress levels, allowing for more mental space to focus on other tasks. Staff will be happier, more motivated, resilient and feel 
how valued they are to both the organisation and also to the community of Edinburgh that they support.

Benefits for the Organisation:
Staff will have improved motivation, commitment and organisational performance as well as quality of decision-making and service delivery. There is likely to 
be a reduction in the number of staff requiring sick leave and other unexpected short term absences as a result of a mentally & physically healthier workforce.

Performance Indicators:
To be determined by the sub-group. 
Likely to include a staff survey, noting trends in sickness absences & turnover of staff, use of overtime, bank and agency staff, and uptake & completion of 
training by staff.

Health & Wellbeing

APPENDIX 1

Page 122



Theme
Commitments
- We pledge to:

Actions
- In order to achieve the commitment, it is suggested that we will:

Partnership’s Identity Identify, build and promote a shared culture for the 
Partnership

Define a strong and clear Partnership identity

Develop an internal approach to build a sense of belonging, including communications 
work needed to build a shared identity
Create an inclusive culture, and develop awareness campaign to promote our culture 
externally

Parity & Equity/ Addressing 
Inequalities

Champion equality, equity and fairness at the heart of 
everything we do

Ensure equal access to line management support for all staff (e.g. there are regular line 
management touch-points in place)

Provide training to improve staff awareness of cultural sensitivities and biases

Ensure equitable representation across panels, boards, committees and interview 
panels
Use equality groups across EHSCP and Edinburgh to inform the Partnership's strategic 
priorities and direction
Ensure policies and guidelines work for all staff and ways of working
Set contractual expectations; e.g. living wage, wider support for health and wellbeing, 
time allowed for CPD
Adopt a fair and equal approach for new initiatives
Demonstrate to the public that equality and fairness is at the heart of everything we 
do

Basic Understanding of the 
Partnership’s set-up

Enable staff to understand the teams and functions within 
the Partnership

Create a visual overview of the Partnership’s teams & functions

Communication (between 
departments, & externally)

Ensure equal/equitable engagement with staff
Further develop communication channels across the Partnership to ensure equal 
opportunity for all staff to be informed and contribute to Partnership activities

Improve access to distribution lists for all staff in EHSCP so people feel included

Provide opportunities for all staff to contribute to the strategic direction of the 
Partnership

Ensure staff feel recognised and valued for the work they do Invest in ways of recognising achievements and making staff feel valued

Values Treat our staff with the dignity, respect, kindness and 
compassion they deserve

Drive a consistently fair approach for time-off-in-lieu

Reflect and adopt the culture within in the Edinburgh Health 
and Social Care Pact

Interpret and implement the principles and values of the Edinburgh Health and Social 
Care Pact across services areas, departments and teams

Performance Indicators:
To be determined by the sub-group. 
Likely to include a staff survey, tracking the percentage of staff participating in appraisal systems, and the percentage and range of staff contributing to the IJB's 
strategic priorities and direction.

Working Together  Sub-Group 1 will be responsible for the implementation and success of both the Health & Wellbeing and the Culture & Identity commitments & 
actions. As such, this group will be comprised of representatives from existing initiatives within the Partnership, including established transformation projects and 
Mental Health & Wellbeing champions, minority groups and the third sector (see Appendix 3 for more detail). A central project coordinator will ensure information 
sharing and cross-working between the sub-groups to ensure optimum collaboration and successful outcomes.

Culture & Identity

Benefits for Service Users:
Modernising working practices in the workforce and in services will improve communications and encourage collaborative working, which will decrease risk and 
improve the quality of care provided. Services will be delivered by a well-informed work force that reflectsx, at all levels, the diversity in the population that it 
serves and who understand and respect the needs for a diverse range of services.

Benefits for Staff:
Staff will feel that they are supported, developed, motivated to reach their full potential and managed positively. Staff will have an explicit system to support 
performance, which will set clear objectives and provide support for development. Feedback on performance will facilitate development and motivate staff to 
perform, to their full potential. Staff diversity will be valued.

Benefits for the Organisation:
The IJB will have a rich and diverse workforce, which reflects the local population. Research evidence suggests that higher rates of staff involvement lead to lower 
absence rates, better organisational results, higher commitment and trust; ultimately good outcomes for better patient care.

Page 123



Theme
Commitments
- We pledge to:

Actions
- In order to achieve the commitment, it is suggested that we will:

Considerate, timely changes
Engage with those impacted before planning or making 
any changes

Ensure staff feel involved in decision making and have the opportunity to ask questions

Recognise and support that staff may require new or updated skills for new/different 
ways of working, and that this will also require time

Tools & Equipment
Utilise the opportunities presented by IT/ Digital 
developments to transform our ways of working

Use digital tools and equipment to improve and enhance how services are delivered

Provide the right equipment to assist with workload & work-life balance, where relevant 
or feasible for the role
Implement and maintain training on Partnership systems

Create contingencies for when IT/equipment breaks or is no longer fit for purpose

Mapping skillsets & knowledge 
sharing

Promote knowledge sharing, map skillsets and identify 
gaps to be filled

Undertake a review of workforce skills and competencies, and develop the best method 
to share this information/skills amongst staff
Improve access to accurate data, analysts and data cleansing

Capacity Build capacity and flexibility within our workforce
Undertake a review of retention to understand core reasons why staff leave, to inform 
further actions
Review and manage sickness absence across the Partnership
Reduce our reliance and spend on agency staff
Review agility and adaptability across services, with a view to supporting greater 
workforce flexibility

Develop our strategic Workforce Plan in line with Scottish Government guidelines

Promote new roles and working practices that help 
develop our future workforce

Review capacity problems across our services and identify appropriate solutions

Take steps to create multiskilled people and teams, ensuring a good mix of skills is 
available and provide opportunities to learn from others

Recruitment Integrate and streamline our recruitment processes Develop resources and guidance to support recruiting across the NHS & CEC systems

Attract and retain new talent into the workforce by advertising progression in job 
adverts and speaking to potential recruits to identify what would attract them

Partner with Higher Education Institues (HEIs) and Further Education Institutes (FEIs) to 
fast-track people into Health & Social Care jobs via a few modules

Modify and enhance the induction process for new 
members of staff

Establish an EHSCP induction, rather than individual NHS/CEC inductions

Performance Indicators:
To be determined by the sub-group. 
Likely to include Workforce Plans to identify numbers and types of staff required now and in the future, monitoring of vacancy rates, and reviews of the efficiency and 
effectiveness of recruitment processes.

Working Together  Sub-Group 2 will be responsible for the implementation and success of the Workforce Capacity & Transformation commitments & actions. As such, 
this group will be comprised of representatives from NHS Lothian, CEC and the third sector, along with staff with relevant skills (see Appendix 3 for more detail). A 
central project coordinator will ensure information sharing and cross-working between the sub-groups to ensure optimum collaboration and successful outcomes.

Workforce Capacity & Transformation

Benefits for Service Users:
Recruitment and retainment strategies will ensure that the IJB's workforce supports service users' choices, and have a better experience of care delivery. The right 
staff, with the right skills, will be in the right place at the right time to provide health and social care services.

Benefits for Staff:
Staff will feel welcomed, supported and valued by the organisation and equipped to undertake their role effectively and will have the confidence of, and confidence in, 
their colleagues to do the same. Sufficient workforce capacity will result in reduction in stress and sickness absences, and better wellbeing amongst staff.

Benefits for the Organisation:
The IJB will have effective and efficient Workforce Plans and Recruitment Strategies which meet legislative requirements and improve staff loyalty. Staff involvement, 
partnership working and good employee relations are particularly important during times of change. The IJB will be able to retain its current workforce and enhance 
performance. This will reduce costs associated with recruitment and sickness absence and improve efficiency and effectiveness and reduce organisational risk.

Page 124



Theme Commitments
- We pledge to:

Actions
- In order to achieve the commitment, it is suggested that we will:

Retaining staff Champion personal and professional development
Develop a strategic approach and empower our staff to advance their roles and careers as far as 
desired, irrespective of background, profession, contract length or grade

Define clear career pathways across the Partnership, and market the career opportunities that 
exist within the Partnership both internally and externally 

Training
Ensure equal and open access to a range of training 
approaches across all contracts and positions

Devise a new and innovative approachs to learning and development that help to recruit, up-
skill and retain our workforce

Promote opportunities for sharing practice and learning within and across services and teams

Ensure our workforce have equal and open opportunity to tailored wellbeing, mentorship and 
continuing professional development (CPD) training or support programmes

Lead the development of a Lothian-wide Development 
Hub

Develop a Lothian-wide Development Hub that can offer staff further developmental support

Invest in training
Develop strong links with Universities and Colleges to 
inform a more strategic approach to the future 
development needs of our workforce

Develop strong relationships with Higher Education Institues (HEIs) and Further Education 
Institutes (FEIs) to ensure a more strategic approach to the future development needs of our 
workforce
Utilise Modern Apprenticeships in Health & Social Services

Leadership Promote leadership development within the Partnership Develop an Adaptive Leadership Development Programme for the Edinburgh Partnership.

Promote adaptive leadership skills across the organisation – recognising that leadership is not 
just line management
Ensure support for new leaders of services 
Promote the importance of leaders being accessible, visible and in regular contact with people 
they support

Performance Indicators:
To be determined by the sub-group. 
Likely to include improved access to wider range of learning opportunities, evidence of career development, and increased number of enhanced & new roles.

Working Together  Sub-Group 3 will be responsible for the implementation and success of the Implementation and success of Leadership & Development commitments 
& actions. As such, this group will be comprised of representatives from EHSCP strategic planning, human resources, finance, and higher education establishments (see 
Appendix 3 for more detail). A central project coordinator will ensure information sharing and cross-working between the sub-groups to ensure optimum collaboration 
and successful outcomes.

Leadership & Development

Benefits for Service Users:
Investment in, and modernisation of, learning and development will ensure care is provided and supported by competent and skilled professionals and support staff – 
working effectively together, placing patients at the centre of all they do. Public and patient safety and protection will be enhanced through staff whose skills are 
updated, maintained and extended in line with changes and advances in knowledge.

Benefits for Staff:
Investment in, and modernisation of, learning and development will ensure care is provided and supported by competent and skilled professionals and support staff – 
working effectively together, placing patients at the centre of all they do. Public and patient safety and protection will be enhanced through staff whose skills are 
updated, maintained and extended in line with changes and advances in knowledge.

Benefits for the Organisation:
The IJB will be able to retain its current workforce and enhance performance. NHS Highland will see investment in learning and development as an investment in staff, 
which enhances the quality of health and healthcare services and reduces organisational risk.

Page 125



Medium-Longer Term Actions
Review ongoing demand & capacity trends, and mitigate any disparities
Staff transport
Further work to improve recruitment and retention practices (beyond the 0-3 year plan)
Look at smoothing the processes and procedures for working between NHSL & CEC
Consider shared workspaces with 3rd sector
Rationalise, revise & integrate systems and processes

The previous commitments and actions currently fall into the short-term (0-3 years); there is an 
acknowledgement of actions that require more discussion and collaboration required between various 
groups to determine the detail and direction for these - a sample are listed below as projected medium- 
and longer-term actions.

Page 126



Role Responsible for Possible Membership
Overall Co-ordination Overall drive and success of all short-term 

commitments & actions; 
Management and coordination of the working groups

To lead the coordination and delivery of the workforce strategy 
across the Partnership (possible secondment opportunity)

Working Group 1 Implementation and success of Health & Wellbeing 
and Culture & Identity commitments & actions

• THRIVE member(s)
• Mental Health & Wellbeing champion
• Comms Team rep (re: Weekly wellbeing updates,

communication framework for staff, etc)
• Reps from existing minority groups  (e.g. BME, LGBTQ+, etc)
• Rep from the EHSCP Edinburgh Pact team
• Rep from EHSCP 3Conversations team
• ACT IT & other third sector reps

Working Group 2 Implementation and success of Workforce Capacity & 
Transformation commitments & actions

• Rep.s from NHS, CEC & 3rd sector (especially front-line staff)
• IT rep
• Rep from EHSCP 3Conversations team
• Skills mapping expert

Working Group 3 Implementation and success of Leadership & 
Development commitments & actions

• Rep from NHS Human Resources
• Rep from CEC Human resources
• Rep from Finance/Savings Governance
• Rep(s) from Higher Education establishments
• EHSCP Strategic Planning rep

APPENDIX 2

P
age 127



‘Working Together’

The Edinburgh IJB Workforce Strategy

2022-2025

A P P E N D I X  3

P
age 128



Introduction

The needs of our citizens and the way we deliver health and social care across Edinburgh is 
shifting, and as a result we need to future proof the way we work, and how we deliver services. 
With advances in health and care we are living longer; however we are also seeing an increase 
in people living with frailty and multi-morbidity, putting an increased demand on our services 
and our workforce.

Alongside existing challenges to delivery of services, the recent Covid-19 pandemic
created a period of uncertainty and additional pressures. Our workforce rose to the
challenge of providing services throughout; one member of staff highlighted that they
are “proud of the workforce we have, the commitment they show to the people in
Edinburgh and also to the organisation. Staff have showed immense resilience, have
adapted to change and continue to do so.”

‘Working Together’ is the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board’s (EIJB’s) inaugural 

blueprint for delivering a caring, healthier and 
safer future for the population of Edinburgh.

Our workforce plays a key role in how we cope with this growing demand and
changing environment; having well engaged-with, motivated and supported staff
ensures that Edinburgh can continue to receive caring, compassionate and person-
centred services of the highest possible standard.

We are already implementing a range of transformative changes to how we deliver services, and our whole
workforce has a key role to play in successfully delivering these changes. ‘Working Together’ will help us support
our staff to face the challenges and opportunities that lie ahead. It sets out our vision and priorities for the
workforce and how we will get to where we need to be. The strategy will deliver against an overarching vision
and aspirations, and our 4 workforce priorities: Health & Wellbeing; Culture & Identity; Workforce Capacity &
Transformation; and Leadership & Development.

This ambitious strategy has been 

developed to ensure we have a 

skilled and capable workforce 

for today and tomorrow that can 

deliver on our strategic 

priorities, and meet the health 

and social care needs of the 

citizens of Edinburgh.

Whilst the Partnership is stronger and better together, there are some everyday challenges
which can make it difficult to truly work as one team. These challenges, combined with
growing demand, mean this is the time to stop and think about what our workforce needs
to adapt to meet future needs, and the infrastructure to support that change.

P
age 129



EIJB Strategic Priorities
Established on 1st July 2016, Edinburgh’s Integration Joint Board (IJB) is responsible for planning the future direction of and overseeing the operational delivery of 
integrated health and social care services for the citizens of Edinburgh. 

Services delegated to the IJB from both the City of Edinburgh Council (CEC) and NHS Lothian (NHSL) fall under the broad headings of Adult Social Care Services; 
Community Health Services and Hospital based Services.  These services are largely delivered by the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Partnership (the 
Partnership), although some are managed by NHS Lothian and are referred to as “hosted” or “set aside” (add link to strategic plan).

The EIJB is required to produce a strategic plan every 3 years, setting out the vision, intent and strategic objectives for health and social care in Edinburgh.  The 

strategic objectives are now being reviewed and updated (2022-2025), with a focus remaining on prevention and early intervention to support independence and 
tackle health inequality, in order to help more people take control of their own health and wellbeing, and feel empowered with the resources, tools and support 
needed to live well. 

The updated service strategy objectives for 2022-2025 are:

Support our people and 
partners to use our 
collective resources 

effectively

Partner to shift care 
from hospital to 

community settings

Embed improvements 
to prevention and 
early intervention

Work with partners 
to close the  

inequality gap

Positively transform 
the quality, 

experience and 
impact of our services

The alignment of our Strategic Plan and ‘Working Together’ ensures we are able take an integrated approach to our future planning arrangements. This is vital 
given what is an ever increasingly complex context for planning and delivering health and social care services across Edinburgh. We also anticipate these 
objectives will adapt to incorporate the new National Care Service objectives.

P
age 130



Use of Health & Social Care Services

Home care hours provided in Scotland 
between Jan-Mar 2018:  1,122,155 hours

In Edinburgh, 70 GP surgeries 

provided 3 million consultations / 
treatments in 2018/19

1 in 20 people of all 
ages in Scotland received 
social care support and 
services during 2018/19

Data from EIJB Annual Performance Report 2019-2020,  Insights into Social Care in Scotland 
(Report) (isdscotland.org), Carers Census: results 2018 to 2019 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot)
and General practice - demographics data visualisation - Up to 30 June 2021 - General 
practice - demographics data visualisation - Publications - Public Health Scotland

18-29%
The Scottish Government 

estimate of the increase in the 
need for health and social care 

services between 2010 and 2030 

In tax year 2018/19, 91,810
people received home care in 
Scotland. This is equivalent to 17 
people per 1,000 population

As of 31 March 2019, Health and Social 
Care Partnerships were financially (partly 

or fully) supporting 45,845 people to 
stay long-term in a care home in Scotland. 

In 2018/19, an estimated 136,900 people had an 
active community alarm and/or a telecare service. This 
is a 3.8% increase in provision from the previous year.

Around 20% of people aged over 75 are in receipt of a 
community alarm/telecare service

62% of adult carers supported by local services provided 
an average of 50+ hours of care per week. The majority of 
young carers supported by local services (65%) provided 
up to 19 hours of care per week on average.

Scottish GP practice demographics:

P
age 131

https://www.isdscotland.org/Health-Topics/Health-and-Social-Community-Care/Publications/2019-06-11/2019-06-11-Social-Care-Report.pdf
https://www.gov.scot/publications/carers-census-scotland-2018-19/
https://publichealthscotland.scot/publications/general-practice-demographics-data-visualisation/general-practice-demographics-data-visualisation-up-to-30-june-2021/


Within the Edinburgh Health & Social Care 
Partnership, there are four locality areas, 

with their own populations: 

146,764

119,568

113,990

138,179

Projected Demand in Edinburgh
Edinburgh has an ever-growing dependent population1, in the last 10 years up to 2019 the overall population 
increased by 13.3% (16.7% of this was the over 65 population), from 463,000 people to 524,000. Scotland’s 
overall population for over 65’s increased by 20%. The population is projected to grow further to 586,566 by 
2043. By 2043 the proportion of dependents will represent almost half of the population in Edinburgh, expected 
to increase to 47.6%, 20% of this represents over 65s.
1A ‘dependent population’ is defined as that part of the population that does not work and relies on others for the goods and services they consume, 
for example under 15 and over 64-year olds. 

The overall trend of more people receiving personal care services in 
their own homes likely reflects two underlying factors: an increasing 
older population, and a move away from long-term care being 
provided in hospitals and Care Homes towards care being provided in 
people's own homes for as long as possible. Free personal and nursing 
care, Scotland, 2017-18 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot

Long-term disorders are the main challenge facing healthcare systems 
worldwide.
Multimorbidity is the norm in Scottish patients over 50. However, 
although multimorbidity is most common in older people, most people 
with multimorbidity in Scotland are under 65.
We don’t know enough about multimorbidity and the natural progression 
of disease, and which combination of diseases are more likely to occur 
together over time, and the patterns and effects on outcomes.
(University of Glasgow - Research - Glasgow Research Beacons - Addressing Inequalities -
Tackling the spiral of multimorbidity)

In Scotland, 77.1% of people receiving care and support from social care 
in 2018/19 were aged 65 and over. Given the predicted increase in the 
numbers of population over 65, it follows that the demand for social care 
will only increase too.(Insights in Social Care: Statistics for Scotland 
(publichealthscotland.scot))

The ratio of older population is increasing (as 
per evidence), leading to increase in demand for 
these H&SC services, and multi-morbidities 
requiring more multi-disciplinary team working.

P
age 132

https://www.gov.scot/publications/free-personal-nursing-care-scotland-2017-18/pages/2/
https://www.gla.ac.uk/research/beacons/inequalities/multimorbidity/
https://www.publichealthscotland.scot/media/4294/2020-09-29-social-care-report.pdf


While the majority of the workforce operates on a full-time basis the following chart outlines the 
breakdown of full and part time staff across the Partnership

The gender profile of our total workforce highlights a predominantly female 
workforce.  The following chart highlights this in more detail showing approximately 
80% of the total workforce as being female.

Our workforce profile outlined below highlights the aging nature of our workforce.  
It also highlights the need to ensure future supply, particularly across our younger 
workforce. The chart plots the age profile for both CEC and NHSL employed staff

Our total directly employed workforce across both City of Edinburgh Council and NHS Lothian sits at just 
under 5,000 headcount.  The following table shows both the split of the workforce by employer but also 
by headcount and WTE.

The following chart outlines the proportion of the workforce split across both employers 
(headcount):

Our Workforce Profile (As at October 2021)

Headcount WTE
CEC 2468 2107.02
HEALTH 2329 1823.14
TOTAL 4797 3930.16

51%
49%

Total Workforce: Split by CEC ad Health

CEC HEALTH

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800

CEC

HEALTH

Full and Part Time Split: By CEC and HEALTH

Part Time Full Time

80%

20%

Total Workforce:Gender Split

Female Male

0

100

200

300

400

500

Under
20

20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70+

Edinburgh IJB Workforce: Age Profile by Health 
and CEC components

HEALTH CEC

P
age 133



We are also able to look at our workforce In more detail for both CEC employed staff and for NSHL 
employed staff.

The chart below highlights the NHSL cohort split by Job Family.  By far the biggest group of staff within 
the NHS cohort are our nursing workforce (52%), followed by our Admin and Clerical workforce (17%) 
and our Allied Health Professions workforce (16%) 

We have also endeavoured to split our Council cohort of staff in a similar way.  The 
following chart outlines a particular mapping scenario based on a combination of 6 
‘Job Group’ headings and grades.

The largest group of staff within the CEC cohort are those within the Social Care 
job group.  This accounts for 70% of the total CEC workforce.

However, our collective workforce is much wider.  The Partnership is fortunate to work closely 
with health and care providers, charities, unpaid carers, 3rd sector/ Independent organisations, 
as well as being supported by many volunteers and unpaid carers. Together, this workforce 
makes a big difference to the daily lives of many people across the City of Edinburgh.

Bands and Grades depict the level of hierarchies within the workforce.  

The higher the band/grade the greater the responsibility and salary.

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS GR 1-6
ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS GR 7+

ANCILLIARY
MANAGEMENT & ADMINISTRATION

NURSING
SOCIAL CARE GR 1-3
SOCIAL CARE GR 4-5
SOCIAL CARE GR 6+

SOCIAL WORK GR 1-6
SOCIAL WORK GR 7
SOCIAL WORK GR 8

Edinburgh IJB Workforce: COUNCIL Cohort

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900

Admin Services
AHP Bands 1-4
AHP Bands 5+

Healthcare Sciences
Medical

Medical & Dental Support
Nursing Band 1-4
Nursing Band 5-7
Nursing Band 8+

Other Therapeutic
Personal & Social Care

Sen Man/Exec
Support Services

Edinburgh IJB Workforce: HEALTH Cohort

P
age 134



Workforce Pressures/ Challenges

This workforce strategy has acknowledged recent 
changes, and the impact on staff.

As Edinburgh’s population continues to grow, we anticipate increasing
demand for services, including primary care, mental health services,
homecare and reablement, public health, care homes and district nursing.
Especially in the aftermath of the Covid-19 pandemic, where there have
been rapid and potentially long-term changes in health and social care, and
an ongoing impact on the mental wellbeing of our workforce.

With these growing pressures, we have significant unmet need in the
provision of our services, alongside sustainability challenges with our
existing workforce due to a market that has been hit by competing
industries, Brexit and the Covid-19 Pandemic.

One of the sectors key strategic challenges is attracting, recruiting and
retaining staff. We have a predominantly ageing workforce (approx. 48%
over 50 years), putting us at risk of losing essential knowledge and
experience. Presently we have only 8.6% of our workforce under the age of
30, so ensuring a steady supply of talent will be crucial to building capacity,

With ongoing financial pressures in the public sector, we face a real
challenge in how we tackle some of these issues in Edinburgh, and our
workforce are supported and our citizens receive the care and support they
need.

Working Together will look to capitalise on the opportunities that these
challenges present.

Pressures and 
challenges for 

the IJB

The need for staff to 
support/drive strategic 
change on top of their 
operational workload

Supply issues to off-set 
vacancies, retirals, and 

absence
Finding time and 

opportunities for staff 
to improve and sustain 
their knowledge, skills 

and experience

Increasing financial 
pressures in the public 

sector

Ongoing impact on our 
workforce and their 
mental health and 

wellbeing 

A shift to providing 
more care and support 
in the community, and 
the need for training, 

development and 
resource to do this

Aligning our workforce 
priorities with upcoming 

National Care Service 
priorities 

Addressing the 
increasing 

inequalities gap 

Ensuring staff have the 
tools and equipment to 

do their job

Attracting, recruiting 
and retaining staff, 
building the next 
generation of our 

workforce

P
age 135



Our Workforce Strategy

The focus of the following pages is on the 0-3 year delivery plan; the 
medium-to-longer-term objectives have been noted, but we are unable 
to commit to a delivery plan for these yet, given the need for more 
discussion and collaboration required between various groups before 
enough detail and direction is known for these to take place.

The IJB also recognises the importance of the 3rd and voluntary sector 
colleagues in the delivery of a range of important services; this will be a 
key component of the medium- and longer-term actions.

The strategy content has been developed through ongoing 
engagement with stakeholder groups, including representatives 
from the 3rd and independent sector.  We have also incorporated 
feedback from staff via focus groups and a survey. 

Working Together provides the platform to support a step-
change in our approach.  By delivering against our 4 strategic 
workforce priorities of Health & Wellbeing; Culture & Identity;  
Workforce Capacity & Transformation; and Leadership & 
Development we can build a workforce capable of meeting the 
health and social care needs of Edinburgh’s citizens. This 
strategy sets out our vision and priorities for the workforce and 
how we will get to where we need to be together. 

Stakeholders have acknowledged that the delivery plan laid out in this 
strategy are at different stages of development and implementation, 
as some are already underway. We are happy that this is the case, and 
they are being implemented under the same governance as the other 
actions will be.

P
age 136



The road map
i.e. the long-term timeline; planning cycles

01

02

03

0-3 years
Short-term, achievable goals
Engagement plan outlined 
Detailed planned actions

5-10 years
Long-term goals, aligned 
with the established 
aspirations, to be developed

3-5 years
Medium-term goals to be developed
Review of phase 1 – successes and lessons 
learned – to influence focus
Further engagement to be plannedP

age 137



Our Strategic Workforce Priorities

• Following a series of workshops held with key stakeholders and partner organisations, 4 strategic workforce 
priority headings were identified for the 0-3 year action plan.  These being:

Health & Wellbeing

Culture & Identity

Leadership & Development

Workforce Capacity & Transformation

P
age 138



Health 
and Wellbeing 

“Support and enhance 
employees’ experience, both 
inside and out of work.”

Commitments:

We will:

• Value every member of staff

• Promote a positive work-life balance for all staff, and ensure leaders act as role models to achieve this

• Continually listen to our staff and ask questions so we can promote a positive, healthy and safe 
working culture

• Commit to building resilience across our workforce, to help manage and adapt to change

• Commit to promoting positive mental health, and supporting employees with their mental health

• Ensure that equal resources are available to all staff

Access to Health and 
Wellbeing resources

What does “Health & Wellbeing” 
mean to EHSCP?

Work-life balance

Ways of working / 
Flexible working choices

Mental Health 
awareness & support

Overall Themes

P
age 139



Culture 
and Identity

“Create a shared, safe and 
inspiring culture that strengthens 
our internal and external 
relationships and reputation.”

Commitments:

We will: 

• Identify, build and promote a shared culture for the Partnership

• Champion equality, equity and fairness at the heart of everything we do

• Enable staff to understand the teams and functions within the Partnership

• Ensure equal/equitable engagement with staff

• Ensure staff feel recognised and valued for the work they do

• Treat our staff with the dignity, respect, kindness and compassion they deserve

• Reflect and adopt the culture within in the Edinburgh Health and Social Care Pact

• Champion new ways of working for the better

Partnership’s Identity

Overall Themes

Parity & Equity/ 
Addressing Inequalities

Basic understanding of 
the Partnership’s set-up

CommunicationValues

P
age 140



Workforce 
Capacity & 
Transformation

“Develop a workforce that is 
adaptable and agile - ensuring 
we have the right people with 
the right skills in the right place 
at the right time.”

Commitments:

We will: 

• Engage with those impacted before planning or making any changes

• Utilise the opportunities presented by IT/ Digital developments that can help transform our 

workforce

• Promote knowledge sharing, map skillsets and identify gaps to be filled

• Promote new roles and working practices that help develop our future workforce

• Build capacity and flexibility within our workforce

• Integrate and streamline our recruitment processes

• Modify and enhance the induction process for new members of staff

Considerate, 
timely changes

Overall Themes

Tools & Equipment

Mapping skillsets & 
knowledge sharing

Capacity / Recruitment

P
age 141



Leadership and 
Development

“Develop a leadership approach 
that supports individuals at all 
levels to attain their full potential 
in order meet the care and 
support needs of Edinburgh.”

Commitments

We will:

• Champion personal and professional development, to support staff retention

• Ensure equal and open access to a range of training approaches across all contracts and positions

• Lead the development of a Lothian-wide Development Hub

• Develop strong links with Universities and Colleges to inform a more strategic approach to the 
future development needs of our workforce

• Promote the role of leadership within the Partnership

Overall Themes

Retaining staff

Training Leadership

Development

P
age 142



Next Steps

This workforce strategy sets the direction and ambition for the support and development of an engaged, motivated and valued 
health and social care workforce, with the capacity, competence and confidence to meet the needs of the people of Edinburgh. 
We will achieve our vision through a series of implementation plans which will be co-produced in partnership with staff, 
stakeholders and social partners, to deliver the commitments and actions identified in this strategy.

Delivery governance structure:

Longer-term actions have also been identified – these are just as relevant, but require more collaboration and discussion before
delivery of them can be considered 

Please see Appendix 1 &2 for the 
proposed steps required for the 
implementation of 0-3 year action plan 
and the detailed proposed governance to 
ensure the delivery of our strategy

P
age 143



“Working Together: One workforce to deliver a 
caring, healthier and safer Edinburgh”

Vision Statement 

P
age 144



Appendix 1 - Short Term Delivery Plan

See separate document

P
age 145



Appendix 2 – Delivery Groups

See separate document

P
age 146



 

 
 

REPORT  
Finance update  
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 

8 February 2022 

 

Executive 
Summary  

The report provides the Integration Joint Board with an 

update on the financial performance of delegated 

services for the first 9 months of the year.  It also 

confirms the significant assurance of a break even 

position for 2021/22. 

 

Recommendations  It is recommended that the board: 

1. note the financial position for delegated services to 

31st December 2021;  

2. note the significant assurance of a break even 

position for 2021/22; 

3. recognise that, despite this assurance, the 

underlying financial deficit will be carried into 

2022/23; and 

 

Directions 

Direction to City 
of Edinburgh 
Council, NHS 
Lothian or both 
organisations  

No direction required  

Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council   

Issue a direction to NHS Lothian  
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council & NHS 
Lothian  

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 7.1



 
 

2 

Report Circulation 

1. This report has not been considered elsewhere. 

 

Main Report 

Background 

2. In March 2021, the IJB agreed the 2021/22 financial plan and associated 

savings and recovery programme.  Recognising that the additional measures 

required to balance the plan would have a significant negative impact on 

performance gains and, ultimately on outcomes for people, the board made the 

difficult decision to support a budget which did not deliver financial balance.  At 

this point the plan had a deficit of £9.3m which has subsequently been reduced 

to £4.3m for this financial year.   

3. Following clarification by Scottish Government (SG) officials that Integration 

Authorities (IAs) will be supported to break even in 2021/22, the Chief Finance 

Officer gave the board significant assurance on the in year financial position 

at its meeting in December.  This is clearly a very positive and welcome step 

and allows us to focus on the underlying financial deficit and the budget setting 

process for 2022/23. 

Overview of financial position  

4. As members are aware, the IJB “directs” budgets back to our partner 

organisations, the Council and NHS Lothian, who in turn provide the associated 

services.  The majority of these services are delivered through the Partnership, 

with the balance being managed by NHS Lothian under the strategic direction 

of the IJB.  Management of financial performance is undertaken through the 

governance arrangements in the 2 partner organisations and the Partnership.   

5. The information in this report is based on the period 9 (December 2021) monitoring 

reports from the Council and NHS Lothian.  As reported above, a breakeven position 

is forecast for the year, after the application of support totalling £14.6m from the SG.   

At a high level the underlying overspend can be described in 3 component parts: the 

deficit described above; slippage on the savings and recovery programme; offset by 

Page 148



 
 

3 

vacancies across some key Council and NHS services.  Further detail is included in 

appendices 1 (NHS Lothian) and 2 (the Council), with narrative explanations in 

paragraphs 6 and 7. 

    Annual   To December 2021   Year end 
forecast 

    Budget    Budget  Actual Variance    
  £k   £k £k £k   £k 

NHS services              
Core   306,126   203,125  200,904  2,221   1,887  
Hosted  102,729   72,837  72,284  553   294  
Set aside   100,744   74,477  75,104  (627)  (2,868) 

Sub total NHS services  509,599   350,439  348,292  2,147   (687) 
CEC services  252,387   189,290  199,698  (10,408)  (13,878) 
Total  761,986   539,730  547,991  (8,261)  (14,565) 
Further LMP support            14,565  
Net position            0  

Table 1: financial position for delegated services to December 2021 

NHS Lothian 

6. Based on their latest published financial forecast, NHS Lothian continues to 

project an overspend of £0.7m for delegated health services.  The key drivers 

were reported to the IJB in December and include: 

• Vacancies – continue to drive projected year end underspends in a 

number of services, including community hospitals (£0.7m), mental health 

(£1.2m), therapies (£0.8m including hosted services) and rehabilitation 

(£0.4m).  Given the impact of this level of vacancy on service delivery, 

operational staff continue to prioritise recruitment.  In some areas, for 

example district nursing, new staffing models have been developed and 

the forecast continues to assume that posts will be filled in line with this. 

• Prescribing (£0.5m over) – Prescribing has improved significantly over the 

past two months due to the release of funding linked to Covid as well as 

the release of the IJB uplift.  Prices continue to fluctuate leading to a small 

degree of uncertainty about the year end position for prescribing.  Covid 

costs continue to be monitored and further funding will be drawn down if 

the pressure increases.  

Page 149



 
 

4 

• Hosted services (£0.3m under by year end) – increased issues of 

community equipment, potentially linked to Covid, continues to be a 

material pressure.  This service is hosted by the Edinburgh Partnership 

and is the subject of an ongoing review, supported by the sustainability 

and value team from NHS Lothian.  Offset this pressure are underspends 

across a number of services impacted by staff vacancies (see above) and 

the influences of Covid on the needs and delivery of these services. 

• Set aside services (£2.9m over)- continues to be the main financial issue 

facing NHS delegated services and the key drivers remain as previously 

reported.  These include: staffing (mainly at the acute hospital’s front 

doors and in therapies); drugs (in gastrointestinal and cystic fibrosis 

services); adult insulin pumps within diabetes & endocrinology; therapy 

services at the Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh (both occupational therapy 

and physiotherapy; and junior medical costs. The deterioration of the 

position in the last part of the financial year is linked to an expected 

increase in the distribution of insulin pumps and recruitment to allied 

health professional (AHP) vacancies within the acute sector. 

City of Edinburgh Council 

7. Council delegated services are reporting an overspend of £13.9m for the year.  

With the exception of projected undelivered savings, this position assumes 

Covid funding in line with the quarter 1 local mobilisation plan (LMP) 

submission as well as elements of the SG winter funding.  The headline issues 

driving this position remain in line with previous reports, namely: 

• External services (net projected overspend of £14.2m) – also referred to 

as ‘purchasing’.  Slippage on the delivery of savings is the main factor, 

with continuity of care and the safety of people using our services taking 

priority.  Work is continuing on the detailed planning to support delivery of 

the savings, with a project team put in place to progress the individual 

workstreams which comprise the overall programme.  Where appropriate, 

winter funding has been recognised to offset the costs of agreed 

investments and growth in capacity. 

Page 150



 
 

5 

• Internal services (forecast net underspend of £4.7m) - can mainly be 

attributed to employee costs across the services, but mostly in homecare, 

residential and day care services.   

• Budget deficit (£4.3m over) – reflecting the fact that the budget remains 

unbalanced.   

Funding for the financial impact of Covid-19 

8. In 2020/21 Covid related costs were met in full by the SG via the LMP process, 

with funding released by the Government at various points during the year.  

Reserves carried forward by integration authorities were the first call against 

pandemic costs in 2021/22, with further monies released by the SG once these 

reserves were exhausted.  Returns for the first 2 quarters of the year have been 

submitted to the SG with the quarter 3 return being finalised at the time of 

writing. 

9. Through the LMP process, the SG has made the following commitment: 

‘Whilst no funding is being allocated at this time to meet under-achievement of 

savings, support will be provided to Integration Authorities to deliver breakeven 

on a non-repayable basis, providing there is appropriate review and control in 

place. It is important that Integration Authorities take appropriate action to 

reduce this request for support as far as possible. This is vitally important given 

the uncertainty on the overall funding envelope for 2022-23, however actions 

should not impact on planned activity or patient safety’.  

10. Based on this, the board has been given a significant level of assurance 

associated with in year break.  It should, however, be noted that the IJB 

continues to run with a material underlying financial deficit which will increase 

further in 2022/23. 

 

Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

Financial 

11. Outlined elsewhere in this report. 

Page 151



 
 

6 

Legal/risk implications 

12. Like any year end projection, the IJB’s relies on a number of assumptions and 

estimates each of which introduces a degree of risk.  The most material issues 

remain the unbalanced financial plan and the delivery of the agreed savings 

and recovery programme. 

Equality and integrated impact assessment  

13. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents. 

Environment and sustainability impacts 

14. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents. 

Quality of care 

15. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents. 

Consultation 

16. There is no direct additional impact of the report’s contents. 

Report Author 

Judith Proctor 
Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 
 

Contact for further information:  

Moira Pringle 
Chief Finance Officer  
Email:moira.pringle@nhslothian.scot.nhs.uk     
 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 Financial outturn for NHS delegated services to December 2021 

Appendix 2 Financial outturn for Council delegated services to December 2021 

Appendix 3 Glossary of terms 

Page 152

mailto:moira.pringle


Appendix 1 

FINANCIAL POSITION FOR NHS DELEGATED SERVICES TO DECEMBER 2021 

7 

    Annual   To December 2021  
Year 
end 

forecast 

    Budget    Budget  Actual Varianc
e  % 

   

  £k   £k £k £k  £k 
Core services                  
Community Hospitals   13,599    10,076  9,287  788  6%  654  
District Nursing   12,770    9,571  9,028  542  4%  435  
Geriatric Medicine   2,978    2,140  2,136  5  0%  4  
GMS   96,780    71,676  71,748  (72) 0%  (411) 
Learning Disabilities   1,246    939  791  148  12%  130  
Mental Health   8,625    6,450  5,571  878  10%  1,166  
PC Services   8,044    4,852  4,879  (27) 0%  0  
Prescribing   79,302    58,606  58,866  (260) 0%  (454) 
Resource transfer and reserves   66,221    28,289  28,491  (201) 0%  (170) 
Substance Misuse   4,574    3,542  3,298  244  5%  125  
Therapy Services   11,138    6,424  6,269  156  1%  253  
Other   848    561  541  20  2%  155  
Sub total core   306,126    203,125  200,904  2,221  1%  1,887  
Hosted services                  
Community Equipment   1,862    1,396  2,505  (1,108) -60%  (1,318) 
Complex Care   1,156    678  659  18  2%  31  
Hospices & Palliative Care   2,559    1,879  1,913  (34) -1%  14  
Learning Disabilities   8,607    5,703  5,673  30  0%  (52) 
LUCS   7,498    5,215  5,186  29  0%  (85) 
Mental Health   31,977    23,061  23,161  (99) 0%  (90) 
Oral Health Services   10,552    7,878  7,720  159  2%  140  
Pharmacy   4,571    3,112  3,112  0  0%  18  
Primary Care Services   2,994    2,245  2,228  17  1%  34  
Psychology Services   5,777    3,951  3,848  104  2%  212  
Public Health   1,080    643  553  90  8%  94  
Rehabilitation Medicine   5,013    3,641  3,267  374  7%  398  
Sexual Health   3,985    2,842  2,778  64  2%  100  
Substance Misuse   2,217    1,578  1,529  49  2%  1  
Therapy Services   8,565    6,474  5,934  540  6%  498  
UNPAC   3,746    2,019  1,699  320  9%  342  
Other   572    521  520  1  0%  (43) 
Sub total hosted   102,729    72,837  72,284  553  1%  294  
Set aside services                  
Acute management   3,577    2,540  2,595  (54) -2%  (106) 
Cardiology   4,220    3,089  2,994  95  2%  159  
Diabetes & endocrinology   2,203    1,774  1,799  (25) -1%  (322) 
ED & minor injuries   10,838    7,957  7,880  77  1%  176  
Gastroenterology   8,308    6,364  6,794  (430) -5%  (823) 
General medicine   27,451    20,869  21,439  (570) -2%  (1,177) 
Geriatric medicine   17,711    13,163  13,181  (18) 0%  (34) 
Infectious disease   4,747    2,469  2,225  243  5%  219  
Junior medical   3,764    2,778  2,685  93  2%  95  
Other   644    446  395  51  8%  101  
Rehabilitation medicine   1,728    1,294  1,327  (34) -2%  (58) 
Respiratory medicine   6,130    4,715  4,735  (20) 0%  (644) 
Therapy services   9,421    7,019  7,054  (35) 0%  (454) 
Sub total set aside   100,744    74,477  75,104  (627) -1%  (2,868) 
                 
Net position   509,599    350,439  348,292  2,147  0%  (687) 

Page 153



Appendix 2 

FINANCIAL POSITION FOR COUNCIL DELEGATED SERVICES TO DECEMBER 2021 
 

8 

    Annual   To December 2021  Year 
end 

forecast     Budget    Budget  Actual Variance  % 
 

  £k   £k £k £k  £k 
External                  

Assessment and care management   42    31  31  0  0%  0  
Care and support   59,102    44,327  46,386  (2,059) -5%  (2,746) 
Care at home   33,411    25,058  27,992  (2,934) -12%  (3,911) 
Day services   11,936    8,952  9,048  (96) -1%  (128) 
Direct payments/individual service 

funds   39,576    29,682  32,846  (3,164) -11%  (4,219) 

Other/generic/universal services   15,113    11,335  11,291  44  0%  59  
Residential services   69,708    52,281  54,710  (2,429) -5%  (3,238) 
Transport services   904    678  727  (49) -7%  (65) 

Total external services   229,792    172,344  183,031  (10,686) -5%  (14,249) 
Internal                  

Assessment and care management   14,777    11,083  10,664  419  4%  559  
Care and support   7,276    5,457  5,727  (270) -5%  (360) 
Care at home   25,319    18,989  17,679  1,310  7%  1,747  
Day services   10,632    7,974  6,894  1,080  14%  1,439  
Equipment services   9,917    7,438  8,336  (899) -12%  (1,198) 
Management   2,440    1,830  1,724  106  6%  141  
Other operating costs   5,704    4,278  4,795  (516) -12%  (688) 
Other services   5,919    4,439  4,102  337  8%  449  
Residential services   27,670    20,753  18,996  1,757  8%  2,342  
Strategy/contract/support services   4,020    3,015  3,114  (99) -3%  (132) 
Therapy services   3,656    2,742  2,716  26  1%  35  
Pension costs   439    329  329  0  0%  0  
Digital transformation   800    600  338  263  44%  350  
Analogue to digital   67    50  49  1  1%  1  
Winter pressures   9,097    6,823  6,823  0  0%  0  

Total internal services   127,733    95,800  92,287  3,513  3%  4,684  
                   
Total service wide COVID costs         17,612  (17,612)    (23,482) 
                   
Total costs   357,525    268,144  292,929  (24,785) -7%  (33,047) 
Income and funding                  

Government grants   818    613  613  0  0%  0  
Funding and cost recovery   80,049    60,036  60,006  (30) 0%  (40) 
Customer and client receipts   19,999    14,999  14,999  0  0%  0  
COVID LMP funding   0    0  17,612  17,612  N/A  23,482  

Total income and funding   100,865    75,649  93,231  17,582  17%  23,442  
                   
Budget gap   (4,273)   (3,205) 0  (3,205)    (4,273) 
               

Net position   252,387   189,290 199,698 (10,408) -4%  (13,878) 
 

 

Page 154



 

 
 

 

 
                        Appendix 3 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

 

 

TERM EXPLANATION 
ASSESSMENT AND CARE 
MANAGEMENT 

Predominantly social work, mental health and substance misuse 
teams 

CARE AT HOME Services provided to over 65s in their homes.   
CARE AND SUPPORT Services provided to under 65s in their homes.   
DAY SERVICES Services provided to clients in buildings owned by the Council or 

a third party. 
DIRECT PAYMENTS Option 1 of self-directed support where the client has chosen to 

be responsible for organising their care. 
GMS General medical services – largely the costs of reimbursing GPs 

who, in the main, are independent contractors carrying out work 
on behalf of the NHS as opposed to being employees. 

HOSTED SERVICES Services which are operationally managed on a pan Lothian 
basis either through one of the 4 Health and Social Care 
Partnerships or Royal Edinburgh and Associated Services 
(REAS). 

INDIVIDUAL SERVICE 
FUNDS (ISF) 

Option 2 of self-directed support where the client has chosen for 
a 3rd party (not the Council) to organise their care. 

LUCS Lothian Unscheduled Care Service – provides out of hours GP 
services 

RESIDENTIAL SERVICES Services provided to clients in care homes. 
SET ASIDE SERVICES Acute hospital based services managed on a pan Lothian basis 

by NHS Lothian 
THERAPY SERVICES Mainly occupational therapy teams. 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

REPORT  
Code of Conduct for Members of the Edinburgh Joint 
Integration Board  
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

8 February 2022  

 

Executive Summary  The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the 
Board of the revised Code of Conduct for Members of the 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board for submission to 
Scottish Government.    

 

Recommendations  It is recommended that the Edinburgh Integration Joint 
Board: 
1. Approves the revised Code of Conduct for Members 

of the Edinburgh Integration Board for submission 
to Scottish Government.     

 

Directions 

Direction to City 
of Edinburgh 
Council, NHS 
Lothian or both 
organisations  

No direction required  
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council   
Issue a direction to NHS Lothian  
Issue a direction to City of Edinburgh Council and NHS 
Lothian 

 

 

Report Circulation 

This report has not been considered elsewhere.   

Main Report 

1. The Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000 introduced an 
ethical framework which required Scottish Ministers to issue a Model Code of 
Conduct for members of the devolved public bodies. 
 

2. The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 (Consequential 
Amendments & Savings) Order 2015 determined that integration joint boards 

Page 157

Agenda Item 8.1



 
 

2 
 

are ‘devolved public bodies’ for the purposes of the Ethical Standards in Public 
Life etc (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 
3. The Model Code for Members of Devolved Public bodies was first introduced in 

2002, and has since been revised on a number of occasions, most recently in 
2021.  Following consultation, the new version was issued on 7 December 
2021. 
 

4. Each designated devolved public body, including the Edinburgh Integration 
Joint Board, is obliged to have a Code of Conduct for their Board Members 
adapted from the Model Code.  These individual Codes are approved by 
Scottish Ministers. 

 
5. A revised Code of Conduct for Members of the Edinburgh Integration Board is 

attached at Appendix A for approval to be submitted to the Scottish 
Government.   

 
6. The aim of the Code is to set out clearly and openly the standards that all 

Board Members must comply with when carrying out their duties as a Board 
Member.   

 
7. The key purpose of the Scottish Government’s recent review was to make the 

Code easier to understand and to take account of developments in our society 
such as the role of social media. There was also an aim to strengthen the Code 
to reinforce the importance of behaving in a respectful manner and to make it 
clear that bullying and harassment is completely unacceptable and will not be 
tolerated. 

 
8. The key changes to note are:  

8.1 A general rewrite changing the Code to the first person and adopting 
plain English wherever possible;  

8.2 A greater emphasis on addressing discrimination and unacceptable 
behaviour; 

8.3 Stronger rules around accepting gifts; 
8.4 A substantial rewrite of Section 5, establishing three clear and distinct 

stages 
to determine a declaration – Connection – Interest – Participation; 

8.5 Makes clearer the rules around access and lobbying.   
 

 
Implications for Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

Financial 

9. There are no financial implications arising from this report.   

 

Page 158



 
 

3 
 

Legal / risk implications 

10. The Members’ Code of Conduct is required by statute and the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board would not comply if it did not approve a code.   

11. The Members’ Code is essential to the efficient running of the Board’s meetings 
and is a key component of ensuring good governance and a transparent, 
accountable decision-making body. 
 

Equality and integrated impact assessment  
12. There are no direct equality implications as a result of this report.   

Environment and sustainability impacts 

13. There are no environmental and sustainability implications as a result of this 

report.   

Quality of care 

14. Not applicable.   

Consultation 

15. All Board Members were invited to a training session on the 17 January 2022 
with the EIJB’s Standards Officer.  

Report Author 

Gavin King   

Edinburgh Integration Joint Board Standards Officer  
Contact for further information:  

Name: Hayley Barnett 
Email: 
Hayley.barnett@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Telephone: 0131 529 3996 

 

Background Reports 

1. Model Code of Conduct for Members of Devolved Public Bodies 
2. Code of Conduct for Members of the Edinburgh Integration Board  
 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1  Draft Code of Conduct for Members of the Edinburgh Integration Board 

Page 159

https://www.standardscommissionscotland.org.uk/uploads/files/1638890272ModelCodeofConductDec2021.pdf
https://www.edinburghhsc.scot/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Code-of-Conduct-Accessible-1.pdf


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CODE of CONDUCT 
 

for 
 

MEMBERS 
 

of 
 

The Edinburgh Integration Joint Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 160



 
 
 
 

CODE OF CONDUCT for MEMBERS of the Edinburgh Integration 
Joint Board 

 
 
CONTENTS 
 
Section 1: Introduction to the Code of Conduct 
My Responsibilities 
Enforcement 
 
Section 2: Key Principles of the Code of Conduct 
 
Section 3: General Conduct 
Respect and Courtesy  
Remuneration, Allowances and Expenses 
Gifts and Hospitality 
Confidentiality  
Use of Health Board or Local Authority Resources 
Dealing with the Edinburgh IJB and Preferential Treatment 
Appointment to Outside Organisations 
 
Section 4: Registration of Interests 
Category One: Remuneration 
Category Two:  Other Roles 
Category Three: Contracts 
Category Four: Election Expenses  
Category Five: Houses, Land and Buildings 
Category Six: Interest in Shares and Securities 
Category Seven: Gifts and Hospitality 
Category Eight: Non-Financial Interests 
Category Nine: Close Family Members 
 
Section 5: Declaration of Interests 
Stage 1: Connection 
Stage 2: Interest 
Stage 3: Participation 
 
Section 6: Lobbying and Access to Members of Public Bodies 
 
Annexes 
Annex A:  Breaches of the Code 
Annex B: Definitions  
 
 
 

Page 161



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 

 
1.1 The Code for the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board ‘the IJB’ has been 

specifically developed using the Model Code issued by the Scottish 
Ministers, with the approval of the Scottish Parliament, as required by the 
Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000 (the “Act”). 
 

1.2 The Public Bodies (Joint Working) (Scotland) Act 2014 (Consequential 
Amendments & Savings) Order 2015 has determined that Integration 
Joint Boards are “devolved public bodies” for the purposes of the 2000 
Act. 

 
1.3 The purpose of this Code is to set out the conduct expected of those who 

serve on the Edinburgh IJB.    
 
1.4 The Code has been developed in line with the nine key principles of public 

life in Scotland. The principles are listed in Section 2 and set out how the 
provisions of the Code should be interpreted and applied in practice.  
 

1.5 The Code applies when you are acting as a member of the Edinburgh IJB 
and you may also be subject to another Code of Conduct. 

 
My Responsibilities 
 
1.6 I understand that the public has a high expectation of those who serve on 

the Edinburgh IJB and the way in which they should conduct themselves in 
undertaking their duties. I will always seek to meet those expectations by 
ensuring that I conduct myself in accordance with the Code. 

 
1.7 I will comply with the substantive provisions of this Code, being sections 3 to 

6 inclusive, in all situations and at all times where I am acting as a board 
member of the Edinburgh IJB, have referred to myself as a board member of 
the Edinburgh IJB or could objectively be considered to be acting as a board 
member of the Edinburgh IJB. 

 
1.8 I will comply with the substantive provisions of this Code, being sections 3 to 

6 inclusive, in all my dealings with the public, employees and fellow 
Edinburgh IJB board members, whether formal or informal. 

 
1.9 I understand that it is my personal responsibility to be familiar with the 

provisions of this Code and that I must also comply with the law and the 

Page 162

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/7/contents


Edinburgh IJB’s rules, standing orders and regulations. I will also ensure 
that I am familiar with any guidance or advice notes issued by the Standards 
Commission for Scotland (“Standards Commission”) and the Edinburgh IJB, 
and endeavour to take part in any training offered on the Code. 

 
1.10 I will not, at any time, advocate or encourage any action contrary to this 

Code.  
 
1.11 I understand that no written information, whether in the Code itself or the 

associated Guidance or Advice Notes issued by the Standards Commission, 
can provide for all circumstances. If I am uncertain about how the Code 
applies, I will seek advice from   the Standards Officer of the Edinburgh IJB, 
failing whom the Chair or Chief Officer of the Edinburgh IJB. I note that I 
may also choose to seek external legal advice on how to interpret the 
provisions of the Code.   
 

Enforcement 
 
1.12 Part 2 of the Act sets out the provisions for dealing with alleged breaches of 

the Code, including the sanctions that can be applied if the Standards 
Commission finds that there has been a breach of the Code.  More 
information on how complaints are dealt with and the sanctions available can 
be found at Annex A. 

 
SECTION 2: KEY PRINCIPLES OF THE CODE OF CONDUCT 
 
2.1 The Code has been based on the following key principles of public life. I will 

behave in accordance with these principles and understand that they should 
be used for guidance and interpreting the provisions in the Code. 

 
2.2 I note that a breach of one or more of the key principles does not in itself 

amount to a breach of the Code. I note that, for a breach of the Code to be 
found, there must also be a contravention of one or more of the provisions in 
sections 3 to 6 inclusive of the Code. 

 
The key principles are: 
 

Duty 
I have a duty to uphold the law and act in accordance with the law and the 
public trust placed in me.  I have a duty to act in the interests of the Edinburgh 
IJB of which I am a member and in accordance with the core functions and 
duties of that body. 
 
Selflessness 
I have a duty to take decisions solely in terms of public interest. I must not act 
in order to gain financial or other material benefit for myself, family or friends. 
 
Integrity 
I must not place myself under any financial, or other, obligation to any individual 
or organisation that might reasonably be thought to influence me in the 

Page 163

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/7/contents


performance of my duties. 
 
Objectivity 
I must make decisions solely on merit and in a way that is consistent with the 
functions of the Edinburgh IJB when carrying out public business including 
making appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for 
rewards and benefits. 
 
Accountability and Stewardship 
I am accountable to the public for my decisions and actions. I have a duty to 
consider issues on their merits, taking account of the views of others and I 
must ensure that the Edinburgh IJB uses its resources prudently and in 
accordance with the law. 
 
Openness 
I have a duty to be as open as possible about my decisions and actions, giving 
reasons for my decisions and restricting information only when the wider public 
interest clearly demands. 
 
Honesty 
I have a duty to act honestly. I must declare any private interests relating to my 
public duties and take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 
protects the public interest. 
 
Leadership 
I have a duty to promote and support these principles by leadership and 
example, and to maintain and strengthen the public’s trust and confidence in the 
integrity of my public body and its members in conducting public business. 
 
Respect 
I must respect all other board members and all employees of related 
organisations supporting the operation of the Edinburgh IJB and the role they 
play, treating them with courtesy at all times. Similarly, I must respect members 
of the public when performing my duties as a board member of the Edinburgh 
IJB. 

 
SECTION 3: GENERAL CONDUCT 
 
Respect and Courtesy 
 
3.1 I will treat everyone with courtesy and respect. This includes in person, in 

writing, at meetings, when I am online and when I am using social media. 
 

3.2 I will not discriminate unlawfully on the basis of race, age, sex, sexual 
orientation, gender reassignment, disability, religion or belief, marital 
status or pregnancy/maternity; I will advance equality of opportunity and 
seek to foster good relations between different people. 

 
3.3 I will not engage in any conduct that could amount to bullying or harassment 
 (which includes sexual harassment). I accept that such conduct is completely  

Page 164



 unacceptable and will be considered to be a breach of this Code. 
 
3.4 I accept that disrespect, bullying and harassment can be: 
 

a) a one-off incident,  
b) part of a cumulative course of conduct; or 
c) a pattern of behaviour.  

 
3.5 I understand that how, and in what context, I exhibit certain behaviours can 
 be as important as what I communicate, given that disrespect, bullying and 
 harassment can be physical, verbal and non-verbal conduct. 
 
3.6 I accept that it is my responsibility to understand what constitutes bullying and 

harassment and I will utilise resources, including the Standards Commission’s 
guidance and advice notes, the Health Board or local authority policy and 
training material (where appropriate) to ensure that my knowledge and 
understanding is up to date. 

 
3.7 Except where it is written into my role as Edinburgh IJB Board member, and / 

or at the invitation of the Chief Officer, I will not become involved in 
operational management of the Edinburgh IJB. I acknowledge and understand 
that operational management is the responsibility of the Chief Officer and 
Executive Team. 

 
3.8 I will not undermine any individual employee or group of employees of related 

organisations supporting the operation of the Edinburgh IJB, or raise concerns 
about their performance, conduct or capability in public. I will raise any 
concerns I have on such matters in private with senior management as 
appropriate.  

 
3.9 I will not take, or seek to take, unfair advantage of my position in my dealings 

with employees of related organisations supporting the operation of the 
Edinburgh IJB or bring any undue influence to bear on employees of related 
organisations supporting the operation of the Edinburgh IJB to take a certain 
action. I will not ask or direct employees of related organisations supporting 
the operation of the Edinburgh IJB to do something which I know, or should 
reasonably know, could compromise them or prevent them from undertaking 
their duties properly and appropriately. 

 
3.10 I will respect and comply with rulings from the Chair during meetings of: 
 

a) the Edinburgh IJB, its subcommittees; and 
b) any outside organisations that I have been appointed or nominated to by 

the Edinburgh IJB or on which I represent the Edinburgh IJB. 
 
 
3.11 I will familiarise myself with the Standing Orders for the Edinburgh IJB, which 

govern the Board’s proceedings and business. The “Roles, Responsibilities 
and Membership of the Integration Joint Board” guidance, will also provide 
further helpful information. 

Page 165



 
Remuneration, Allowances and Expenses 
 
3.12 I will comply with the rules, and the policies applying to the Edinburgh IJB, on 

the payment of remuneration, allowances and expenses. 
 
Gifts and Hospitality 
 
3.13 I understand that I may be offered gifts (including money raised via 

crowdfunding or sponsorship), hospitality, material benefits or services (“gift 
or hospitality”) that may be reasonably regarded by a member of the public 
with knowledge of the relevant facts as placing me under an improper 
obligation or being capable of influencing my judgement. 

 
3.14 I will never ask for or seek any gift or hospitality. 
 
3.15 I will refuse any gift or hospitality, unless it is: 
 

a) a minor item or token of modest intrinsic value offered on an infrequent 
basis; 

b) a gift being offered to the Edinburgh IJB; 
c) hospitality which would reasonably be associated with my duties as a 

board member; or 
d) hospitality which has been approved in advance by the Edinburgh IJB. 

 
3.16 I will consider whether there could be a reasonable perception that any gift or  

  hospitality received by a person or body connected to me could or would 
influence my judgement. 

 
3.17 I will not allow the promise of money or other financial advantage to induce  

 me to act improperly in my role as a board member of the Edinburgh IJB. I 
accept that the money or advantage (including any gift or hospitality) does not 
have to be given to me directly. The offer of monies or advantages to others, 
including community groups, may amount to bribery, if the intention is to 
induce me to improperly perform a function. 

 
3.18 I will never accept any gift or hospitality from any individual or applicant who  
   is awaiting a decision from, or seeking to do business with, the Edinburgh IJB. 
 
3.19  If I consider that declining an offer of a gift would cause offence, I will accept it 

and hand it over to the Edinburgh IJB Standards Officer at the earliest 
possible opportunity and ask for it to be registered.   

 
3.20 I will promptly advise the Edinburgh IJB Standards Officer if I am offered (but  

 refuse) any gift or hospitality of any significant value and / or if I am offered 
any gift or hospitality from the same source on a repeated basis, so that my 
public body can monitor this. 

 
3.21 I will familiarise myself with the terms of the Bribery Act 2010, which provides 

for offences of bribing another person and offences relating to being bribed. 

Page 166

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/23/contents


Confidentiality 
 
3.22 I will not disclose confidential information or information which should 

reasonably be regarded as being of a confidential or private nature, without 
the express consent of a person or body authorised to give such consent, or 
unless required to do so by law. I note that if I cannot obtain such express 
consent, I should assume it is not given. 

 
3.23 I accept that confidential information can include discussions, documents, 

and information which is not yet public or never intended to be public, and 
information deemed confidential by statute. 

 
3.24 I will only use confidential information to undertake my duties as a board 

member of the Edinburgh IJB. I will not use it in any way for personal 
advantage or to discredit the Edinburgh IJB (even if my personal view is that 
the information should be publicly available).  

 
3.25 I note that these confidentiality requirements do not apply to protected 

whistleblowing disclosures made to the prescribed persons and bodies as 
identified in statute. 

 
Use of Health Board or Local Authority Resources 
 
3.26 I will only use my Health Board or Local Authority resources, including 

employee assistance, facilities, stationery and IT equipment, for carrying out 
duties on behalf of the Edinburgh IJB, in accordance with its relevant policies. 

 
3.27 I will not use, or in any way enable others to use, my Health Board or Local 

Authority resources: 
 

a) imprudently (without thinking about the implications or consequences); 
b) unlawfully; 
c) for any political activities or matters relating to these; or 
d) improperly. 

 
Dealing with the Edinburgh IJB and Preferential Treatment 
 
3.28 I will not use, or attempt to use, my position or influence as a board member 

of the Edinburgh IJB to: 
 

a) improperly confer on or secure for myself, or others, an advantage;  
b) avoid a disadvantage for myself, or create a disadvantage for others or 
c) improperly seek preferential treatment or access for myself or others.  
 

3.29 I will avoid any action which could lead members of the public to believe that 
preferential treatment or access is being sought. 

 
3.30  I will advise employees of related organisations supporting the operation of 

the Edinburgh IJB of any connection, as defined at Section 5, I may have to a 

Page 167



matter, when seeking information or advice or responding to a request for 
information or advice from them. 

 
Appointments to Outside Organisations 
 
3.31 In the unlikely circumstances that I am appointed, or nominated by the 

Edinburgh IJB, as a member of another body or organisation, I will abide 
by the rules of conduct and will act in the best interests of that body or 
organisation while acting as a member of it. I will also continue to observe 
the rules of this Code when carrying out the duties of that body or 
organisation. 

 
3.32 I accept that if I am a director or trustee (or equivalent) of a company or a 

charity, I will be responsible for identifying, and taking advice on, any conflicts 
of interest that may arise between the company or charity and the Edinburgh 
IJB. 

 
SECTION 4: REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
4.1 The following paragraphs set out what I have to register when I am 

appointed and whenever my circumstances change. The register covers my 
current term of appointment to the Edinburgh IJB.  

 
4.2 I understand that regulations made by the Scottish Ministers describe the 

detail and timescale for registering interests; including a requirement that 
a board member must register their registrable interests within one month 
of becoming a board member, and register any changes to those interests 
within one month of those changes having occurred.  

 
4.3 The interests which I am required to register are those set out in the 

following paragraphs. Other than as required by paragraph 4.23, I 
understand it is not necessary to register the interests of my spouse or 
cohabitee. 

 
Category One: Remuneration 
 
4.4 I will register any work for which I receive, or expect to receive, payment. I 

have a registrable interest where I receive remuneration by virtue of being:   
 

a) employed; 
b) self-employed; 
c) the holder of an office; 
d) a director of an undertaking; 
e) a partner in a firm;  
f) appointed or nominated by my public body to another body; or 
g) engaged in a trade, profession or vocation or any other work. 

 
4.5 I understand that in relation to 4.4 above, the amount of remuneration does 

not require to be registered. I understand that any remuneration received as 
a board member of the Edinburgh IJB does not have to be registered. 

Page 168



 
4.6 I understand that if a position is not remunerated it does not need to be 

registered under this category. However, unremunerated directorships may 
need to be registered under Category Two, “Other Roles”. 

 
4.7 I must register any allowances I receive in relation to membership of any 

organisation under Category One. 
 
4.8 When registering employment as an employee, I must give the full name 

of the employer, the nature of its business, and the nature of the post I 
hold in the organisation. 

 
4.9 When registering remuneration from the categories listed in paragraph 4.4 

(b) to (g) above, I must provide the full name and give details of the nature 
of the business, organisation, undertaking, partnership or other body, as 
appropriate. I recognise that some other employments may be 
incompatible with my role as board member of the Edinburgh IJB in terms 
of paragraph 6.7 of this Code. 

 
4.10 Where I otherwise undertake a trade, profession or vocation, or any 

other work, the detail to be given is the nature of the work and how often 
it is undertaken.  

 
4.11 When registering a directorship, it is necessary to provide the registered 

name and registered number of the undertaking in which the directorship 
is held and provide information about the nature of its business. 

 
4.12 I understand that registration of a pension is not required as this falls 

outside the scope of the category. 
 
Category Two: Other Roles 
 
4.13 I will register any unremunerated directorships where the body in question 

is a subsidiary or parent company of an undertaking in which I hold a 
remunerated directorship. 

 
4.14 I will register the registered name and registered number of the subsidiary 

or parent company or other undertaking and the nature of its business, and 
its relationship to the company or other undertaking in which I am a director 
and from which I receive remuneration. 

 
Category Three: Contracts 
 
4.15 I have a registerable interest where I (or a firm in which I am a partner, or an 

undertaking in which I am a director or in which I have shares of a value as 
described in paragraph 4.19 below) have made a contract with the 
Edinburgh IJB: 

 
a) under which goods or services are to be provided, or works are to be 

executed; and 

Page 169



b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 
4.16 I will register a description of the contract, including its duration, but 

excluding the value. 
 
Category Four: Election Expenses 
 
4.17 If I have been elected to the Edinburgh IJB, then I will register a 

description of, and statement of, any assistance towards election 
expenses relating to election to my public body. 

 
Category Five: Houses, Land and Buildings 
 
4.18 I have a registrable interest where I own or have any other right or interest in 

houses, land and buildings, which may be significant to, of relevance to, or 
bear upon, the work and operation of the Edinburgh IJB. 

 
4.19 I accept that, when deciding whether or not I need to register any interest I 

have in houses, land or buildings, the test to be applied is whether a member 
of the public, with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard 
the interest as being so significant that it could potentially affect my 
responsibilities to my public body and to the public, or could influence my 
actions, speeches or decision-making. 

 
Category Six: Interest in Shares and Securities 
 
4.20 I have a registerable interest where: 
 

a) I own or have an interest in more than 1% of the issued share capital 
of the company or other body; or 

b) Where, at the relevant date, the market value of any shares and 
securities (in any one specific company or body) that I own or have an 
interest in is greater than £25,000. 

 
Category Seven: Gifts and Hospitality 
 
4.21 I understand the requirements of paragraphs 3.13 to 3.21 regarding gifts and 

hospitality. As I will not accept any gifts or hospitality, other than under the 
limited circumstances allowed, I understand there is no longer the need to 
register any.    

 
Category Eight: Non–Financial Interests 
 
4.22 I may also have other interests and I understand it is equally important that 

relevant interests such as membership or holding office in other public 
bodies, companies, clubs, societies and organisations such as trades 
unions and voluntary organisations, are registered and described. In this 
context, I understand non-financial interests are those which members of 
the public with knowledge of the relevant facts might reasonably think could 

Page 170



influence my actions, speeches, votes or decision-making in the Edinburgh 
IJB (this includes its subcommittees and memberships of other 
organisations to which I have been appointed or nominated by the 
Edinburgh IJB). 

 
Category Nine: Close Family Members 
 
4.23 I will register the interests of any close family member who has transactions 

with the Edinburgh IJB or is likely to have transactions or do business with 
it.   

 
SECTION 5: DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
If, under category one (or category seven in respect of non-financial interests) of 
section 4 of this Code, you have registered an interest as a Councillor or a Member 
of another Devolved Public Body where the Council or other Devolved Public Body, 
as the case may be, has nominated or appointed you as a Member of the IJB, or you 
have been appointed to the IJB by virtue of your position under the Public Bodies 
(Joint Working) (Integration Joint Boards) (Scotland) Order 2014;  you do not, for that 
reason alone, have to declare that interest. 
 
Stage 1: Connection  
 
5.1  For each particular matter I am involved in as a board member of the 

Edinburgh IJB, I will first consider whether I have a connection to that matter.  
 
5.2  I understand that a connection is any link between the matter being 

considered and me, or a person or body I am associated with. This could be a 
family relationship or a social or professional contact.  

 
5.3  A connection includes anything that I have registered as an interest.  
 
5.4  A connection does not include being a member of a body to which I have 

been appointed or nominated by the Edinburgh IJB as a representative of the 
Edinburgh IJB, unless:  

 
a) The matter being considered by my public body is quasi-judicial or 
regulatory; or  
 
b) I have a personal conflict by reason of my actions, my connections or my 
legal obligations.  

 
Stage 2: Interest  
 
5.5  I understand my connection is an interest that requires to be declared where 

the objective test is met – that is where a member of the public with 
knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably regard my connection to a 
particular matter as being so significant that it would be considered as being 
likely to influence the discussion or decision-making.  

 

Page 171



Stage 3: Participation  
 
5.6  I will declare my interest as early as possible in meetings. I will not remain in 

the meeting nor participate in any way in those parts of meetings where I have 
declared an interest.  

 
5.7  I will consider whether it is appropriate for transparency reasons to state 

publicly where I have a connection, which I do not consider amounts to an 
interest.  

 
5.8  I note that I can apply to the Standards Commission and ask it to grant a 

dispensation to allow me to take part in the discussion and decision-making 
on a matter where I would otherwise have to declare an interest and withdraw 
(as a result of having a connection to the matter that would fall within the 
objective test). I note that such an application must be made in advance of 
any meetings where the dispensation is sought and that I cannot take part in 
any discussion or decision making on the matter in question unless, and until, 
the application is granted.  

 
5.9  I note that public confidence in the Edinburgh IJB is damaged by the 

perception that decisions taken by that body are substantially influenced by 
factors other than the public interest. I will not accept a role or appointment if 
doing so means I will have to declare interests frequently at meetings in 
respect of my role as a board member. Similarly, if any appointment or 
nomination to another body would give rise to objective concern because of 
my existing personal involvement or affiliations, I will not accept the 
appointment or nomination. 

 
SECTION 6: LOBBYING AND ACCESS 
 
6.1  I understand that a wide range of people will seek access to me as a board 

Member of the Edinburgh IJB and will try to lobby me, including individuals, 
organisations and companies.  I must distinguish between: 

 
a) any role I have in dealing with enquiries from the public; 
 
b) any community engagement where I am working with individuals and 
organisations to encourage their participation and involvement, and; 
 
c) lobbying, which is where I am approached by any individual or 
organisation who is seeking to influence me for financial gain or 
advantage, particularly those who are seeking to do business with the 
Edinburgh IJB (for example contracts/procurement). 

 
6.2  In deciding whether, and if so how, to respond to such lobbying, I will always 

have regard to the objective test, which is whether a member of the public, 
with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard my conduct as 
being likely to influence my, or the Edinburgh IJB’s, decision-making role. 
 

6.3  I will not, in relation to contact with any person or organisation that lobbies, 

Page 172



do anything which contravenes this Code or any other relevant rule of the 
Edinburgh IJB, the Health Board or local authority or any statutory provision. 

 
6.4  I will not, in relation to contact with any person or organisation that lobbies, 

act in any way which could bring discredit the Edinburgh IJB. 
 
6.5  If I have concerns about the approach or methods used by any person or 

organisation in their contacts with me, I will seek the guidance of the Chair, 
Chief Officer or Standards Officer of the Edinburgh IJB.   

 
6.6  The public must be assured that no person or organisation will gain better 

access to, or treatment by, me as a result of employing a company or 
individual to lobby on a fee basis on their behalf. I will not, therefore, offer or 
accord any preferential access or treatment to those lobbying on a fee basis 
on behalf of clients compared with that which I accord any other person or 
organisation who lobbies or approaches me. I will ensure that those lobbying 
on a fee basis on behalf of clients are not given to understand that preferential 
access or treatment, compared to that accorded to any other person or 
organisation, might be forthcoming. 

 
6.7  Before taking any action as a result of being lobbied, I will seek to satisfy 

myself about the identity of the person or organisation that is lobbying and the 
motive for lobbying. I understand I may choose to act in response to a person 
or organisation lobbying on a fee basis on behalf of clients but it is important 
that I understand the basis on which I am being lobbied in order to ensure that 
any action taken in connection with the lobbyist complies with the standards 
set out in this Code and the Lobbying (Scotland) Act 2016. 

 
6.8  I will not accept any paid work relating to Health and Social Care: 
 

a) which would involve me lobbying on behalf of any person or organisation or 
any clients of a person or organisation. 

 
b) to provide services as a strategist, adviser or consultant, for example, 
advising on how to influence the Edinburgh IJB and its members. This does 
not prohibit me from being remunerated for activity which may arise because 
of, or relate to, membership of the IJB, such as journalism or broadcasting, or 
involvement in representative or presentational work, such as participation in 
delegations, conferences or other events. 

 
Members of Edinburgh IJB are appointed because of the skills, knowledge 
and experience they possess. The onus will be on the individual member to 
consider their position under paragraph 6.8. 

Page 173



ANNEX A: BREACHES OF THE CODE 
 
Introduction 
 

1. The Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000 (“the Act”) provided for 
a framework to encourage and, where necessary, enforce high ethical standards in 
public life.  
 

2. The Act provided for the introduction of new codes of conduct for local authority 
councillors and members of relevant public bodies, imposing on councils and 
relevant public bodies a duty to help their members comply with the relevant code.  
 

3. The Act and the subsequent Scottish Parliamentary Commissions and 
Commissioners etc. Act 2010 established the Standards Commission for Scotland 
(“Standards Commission”) and the post of Commissioner for Ethical Standards in 
Public Life in Scotland (“ESC”). 
 

4. The Standards Commission and ESC are separate and independent, each with 
distinct functions.  Complaints of breaches of a public body’s Code of Conduct are 
investigated by the ESC and adjudicated upon by the Standards Commission. 
 

5. The first Model Code of Conduct came into force in 2002. The Code has since been 
reviewed and re-issued in 2014. The 2021 Code has been issued by the Scottish 
Ministers following consultation, and with the approval of the Scottish Parliament, as 
required by the Act. 
 
Investigation of Complaints 

6. The ESC is responsible for investigating complaints about members of devolved 
public bodies. It is not, however, mandatory to report a complaint about a potential 
breach of the Code to the ESC. It may be more appropriate in some circumstances 
for attempts to be made to resolve the matter informally at a local level.  
 

7. On conclusion of the investigation, the ESC will send a report to the Standards 
Commission. 
 
Hearings 
 

8. On receipt of a report from the ESC, the Standards Commission can choose to: 
 

• Do nothing; 
• Direct the ESC to carry out further investigations; or 
• Hold a Hearing. 

 
9. Hearings are held (usually in public) to determine whether the member concerned 

has breached their public body’s Code of Conduct.  The Hearing Panel comprises of 
three members of the Standards Commission.  The ESC will present evidence 
and/or make submissions at the Hearing about the investigation and any conclusions 
as to whether the member has contravened the Code.  The member is entitled to 
attend or be represented at the Hearing and can also present evidence and make 
submissions.  Both parties can call witnesses.  Once it has heard all the evidence 

Page 174

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/7/contents
https://www.standardscommissionscotland.org.uk/
https://www.ethicalstandards.org.uk/
https://www.ethicalstandards.org.uk/


and submissions, the Hearing Panel will make a determination about whether or not 
it is satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that there has been a contravention of 
the Code by the member.  If the Hearing Panel decides that a member has breached 
their public body’s Code, it is obliged to impose a sanction.  
 
Sanctions 
 

10. The sanctions that can be imposed following a finding of a breach of the Code are as 
follows: 
 

• Censure: A censure is a formal record of the Standards Commission’s severe 
and public disapproval of the member concerned. 

• Suspension: This can be a full or partial suspension (for up to one year). A 
full suspension means that the member is suspended from attending all 
meetings of the public body.  Partial suspension means that the member is 
suspended from attending some of the meetings of the public body. The 
Commission can direct that any remuneration or allowance the member 
receives as a result of their membership of the public body be reduced or not 
paid during a period of suspension.  

• Disqualification:  Disqualification means that the member is removed from 
membership of the body and disqualified (for a period not exceeding five 
years), from membership of the body. Where a member is also a member of 
another devolved public body (as defined in the Act), the Commission may 
also remove or disqualify that person in respect of that membership. Full 
details of the sanctions are set out in section 19 of the Act. 

 
Interim Suspensions 
 

11. Section 21 of the Act provides the Standards Commission with the power to impose 
an interim suspension on a member on receipt of an interim report from the ESC 
about an ongoing investigation. In making a decision about whether or not to impose 
an interim suspension, a Panel comprising of three Members of the Standards 
Commission will review the interim report and any representations received from the 
member and will consider whether it is satisfied: 
 

• That the further conduct of the ESC’s investigation is likely to be prejudiced 
if such an action is not taken (for example if there are concerns that the 
member may try to interfere with evidence or witnesses); or 

• That it is otherwise in the public interest to take such a measure.  A policy 
outlining how the Standards Commission makes any decision under Section 
21 and the procedures it will follow in doing so, should any such a report be 
received from the ESC can be found here. 

 
12. The decision to impose an interim suspension is not, and should not be seen as, a 

finding on the merits of any complaint or the validity of any allegations against a 
member of a devolved public body, nor should it be viewed as a disciplinary 
measure.  
 
 
 

Page 175



ANNEX B: DEFINITIONS 
 
“Bullying” is inappropriate and unwelcome behaviour which is offensive and 
intimidating, and which makes an individual or group feel undermined, humiliated or 
insulted. 
 
"Chair" includes Board Convener or any other individual discharging a similar 
function to that of a Chair or Convener under alternative decision-making structures. 
 
“Code” is the code of conduct for members of your devolved public body, which is 
based on the Model Code of Conduct for members of devolved public bodies in 
Scotland. 
 
"Cohabitee" includes any person who is living with you in a relationship similar to 
that of a partner, civil partner, or spouse. 
 
“Confidential Information” includes:  
• any information passed on to the public body by a Government department 
(even if it is not clearly marked as confidential) which does not allow the 
disclosure of that information to the public;  
• information of which the law prohibits disclosure (under statute or by the 
order of a Court);  
• any legal advice provided to the public body; or  

  • any other information which would reasonably be considered a breach of 
confidence should it be made public. 
 
"Election expenses" means expenses incurred, whether before, during or after 
the election, on account of, or in respect of, the conduct or management of the 
election. 
 
“Employee” includes individuals employed: 
• directly by the public body; 
• as contractors by the public body, or 

  • by a contractor to work on the public body’s premises. 
 
“Gifts” a gift can include any item or service received free of charge, or which may 
be offered or promised at a discounted rate or on terms not available to the general 
public. Gifts include benefits such as relief from indebtedness, loan concessions, or 
provision of property, services or facilities at a cost below that generally charged to 
members of the public. It can also include gifts received directly or gifts received by 
any company in which the recipient holds a controlling interest in, or by a 
partnership of which the recipient is a partner. 
 
“Harassment” is any unwelcome behaviour or conduct which makes someone 
feel offended, humiliated, intimidated, frightened and / or uncomfortable. 
Harassment can be experienced directly or indirectly and can occur as an 
isolated incident or as a course of persistent behaviour.  
 

Page 176



1 
 

“Hospitality” includes the offer or promise of food, drink, accommodation, 
entertainment or the opportunity to attend any cultural or sporting event on terms 
not available to the general public. 
 
“Relevant Date”  Where a board member had an interest in shares at the date 
on which the member was appointed as a member, the relevant date is – (a) that 
date; and (b) the 5th April immediately following that date and in each succeeding 
year, where the interest is retained on that 5th April. 
 
“Public body” means a devolved public body listed in Schedule 3 of the Ethical 
Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000, as amended. 
 
“Remuneration" includes any salary, wage, share of profits, fee, other monetary   
benefit or benefit in kind. 
 
“Securities” a security is a certificate or other financial instrument that has 
monetary value and can be traded. Securities includes equity and debt securities, 
such as stocks bonds and debentures. 
 
“Undertaking” means: 
a) a body corporate or partnership; or 
b) an unincorporated association carrying on a trade or business, with or 
without a view to a profit. 
 
 

Page 177



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

REPORT  
Committee Update Report 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  

8 February 2022 

 

Executive 
Summary  

The purpose of this report is to provide the Edinburgh 
Integration Joint Board with an update on the business of 
Committees in December 2021 and January 2022. 
 

 

Recommendations  It is recommended that the Edinburgh Integration Joint 
Board: 
1. Notes the work of the Committees. 

 
 

Report Overview 

1. This report gives an update on the business of the committees covering 
December 2021 and January 2022. This report has been compiled to support 
the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB) in receiving timeous information in 
relation to the work of its committees and balances this with the requirement for 
the formal note of committees to have undertaken due process and agreement 
by those committees. All reports are stored in the EIJB document library for 
information. 

2. The decision was taken by the Chief Officer in consultation with the Chair and 
Vice Chair of the EIJB under urgency to suspend January committee business 
in response to the ongoing system pressures in the Edinburgh Health and 
Social Care Partnership.  

Suspended Committees – January 2022   

3. Under urgency, the decision was taken to suspend January committee 

business for the following committees:  

• Strategic Planning Group – 19 January 2022 

• Performance and Delivery Committee – 26 January 2022  

• Futures Committee – 3 February 2022 

Page 179

Agenda Item 9.1



 
 

2 
 

Strategic Planning Group – 15 December 2021 

4. Status of EIJB Strategic Plan 2022-2025 – the committee noted the current 

status of the EIJB Strategic Plan 2022-2025.  
5. Annual Cycle of Business – the committee noted changes to the Committee 

Annual Cycle of Business.  
6. Data Driven Innovation Programme – the committee were presented with 

detail on a Data Driven Innovation Programme.  
7. General Medical Services Provision in South East Edinburgh Liberton 

High School Campus – the committee were presented with a report on the 

Initial Agreement for General Medical Services Provision in South East 

Edinburgh: Liberton High School Campus. 
8. THRIVE Edinburgh – the committee were presented with an update on the 

THRIVE Edinburgh Programme.   

Forward Planning – February - **** 2021 Committee Update Report 

9. Clinical and Care Governance Committee – 17 February 2022   

10. Audit and Assurance Committee – 18 February 2022 

11. Performance and Delivery Committee – 2 March 2022  

Report Author 

Judith Proctor  

Chief Officer, Edinburgh Integration Joint Board  
Contact for further information:  

Name: Jay Sturgeon, Senior Executive Assistant  
Email:Jay.Sturgeon2@edinburgh.gov.uk  Telephone: 0131 529 5350 

 

Page 180

mailto:Jay.Sturgeon2@edinburgh.gov.uk


 
 
 
                                                                                                       

 
 
Minute  
 

IJB Strategic Planning Group 
 
10.00am, Wednesday 27 October 2021 
Virtual Meeting – Via Microsoft Teams 

 
Present: Angus McCann (Chair), Ricky Henderson (Vice-Chair), Councillor 
Robert Aldridge, Bridie Ashrowan, Colin Beck, Philip Brown, Alyson Falconer 
(for Belinda Hacking), Christine Farquhar, Michele Mulvaney, Rene Rigby 
and Hazel Young. 
 
In attendance: Atul Anand, Matthew Brass, Jessica Brown, Tony Duncan, 
Kathy Harrison, Linda IrvineFitzpatrick, Michael Gray, Mark Grierson, Bruce 
Guthrie, Susan McMillan, Moira Pringle, Donna Rodger and David White 
 
Apologies: Belinda Hacking and Stephanie-Anne Harris.  
 

 

1. Minutes 
Decision 

To approve the minute of the Edinburgh Integration Board Strategic 
Planning Group of 27 October 2021 as a correct record. 

2. Rolling Actions Log 
The Rolling Actions Log for December 2021 was presented to Committee. 

Decision 

To note the outstanding actions.  

(Reference – Rolling Actions Log, submitted.) 

3. Annual Cycle of Business 
The annual cycle of business was presented to Committee. 

Page 181

Agenda Item 9.2



Decision 

To agree the annual cycle of business attached as an appendix. 

(Reference – Annual Cycle of Business, submitted.) 

4. Status of Strategic Plan 2022-2025 
The current status of the next Strategic Plan for 2022-2025 was presented to the 
Group. The Plan’s timeline had been agreed to be delayed at the October 2021 
Edinburgh Integration Joint Board (EIJB) in response to the current system 
pressures, the introduction of a National Care Service and Local Government 
Elections in 2022. It was noted that several other IJBs nationally had agreed to 
similar approaches.  The new strategic plan is to be published by no later than March 
2023.  

Decision 

To note the current status of the Strategic Plan 2022-2025. 

(Reference – Report by the Service Director, Strategic Planning, submitted) 

5. General Medical Services Provision in South East 
Edinburgh – Liberton High School Campus 

An initial agreement for General Medical Services Provision in South East Edinburgh 
at Liberton High School Campus was presented to the Group. The proposal sought 
capital funding from NHS Lothian (NHSL) and had to be prepared in line with the 
guidance contained in the Scottish Capital Investment Manual.  

Members questioned why there had to be an option between commissioning a new 
Community Treatment and Care Premises (CTAC) or a Mental Health Hub. Officers 
clarified that there is the desire for both options, however details of the Mental Health 
Hub had not been finalised, and whether this type of Hub should be attached to a 
Primary Care facility or another facility.    

Despite the proposal of a new facility, it was noted that it was not expected to be an 
answer to capacity issues in the South-East locality. The limited capacity of what had 
been proposed reflected the sensitivity towards the GP practice and the attempt to 
limit the additional pressures on them.  

Moving forward, members welcomed the proposals to incorporate the new campus 
into other projects ongoing in the city, including 20-Minute Neighbourhoods. Further, 
officers asked members to feed any ideas or suggestions of other facilities that could 
be incorporated in the new campus.  

Decision 

1) To agree the proposal to re-provide Southern Medical Group in fit for 
purpose accommodation.  

2) To note the NHS Lothian (NHSL) previously invited Edinburgh Health 
and Social Care Partnership (EHSCP) to submit an Initial Agreement 

Page 182



to expand GMS provision ‘South-East Outer’ following the conclusion 
of the 2018-19 Capital Prioritisation Process. 

3) To note that the separate IA (South East Outer GP Provision), 
exploring options to provide GMS provision to the population 
expansion at the southern boundary of the locality was submitted and 
approved by the EIJB and NHSL in 2020. This was subsequently 
submitted to the Scottish Government, where it currently awaits 
consideration as a population increase related scheme. 

4) To note that, an opportunity subsequently arose to undertake a 
collaborative project with City of Edinburgh Council to include a GP 
Practice in the Liberton High School (’20 Minute Neighbourhood’ 
related development). 

5) To agree to the submission of the Initial Agreement to the NHSL 
Capital Investment Group in accordance with the capital prioritisation 
process. 

(Reference – Report by the Service Director, Strategic Planning, submitted) 

6. Data Driven Innovation Programme 
A presentation on Dataloch was presented to the Group for information. The 
presentation updated members on the innovative work the Programme had 
undertaken and the future steps and opportunities for Dataloch moving forward, 
including the opportunity to understand the Covid impact through linked data. 

Members were supportive of the of programme and eager to make use of better data 
in decision-making.  Concerns were raised in respect of unpaid carer data and the 
availability of staff to enable effective analyses of the data, the desire to involve 
lived-experienced and care providers in research and in the ethical review process. 

The obstacles to the next phase of the programme were laid out. These included the 
completion of a data share agreement with the Council, the quality of data (and 
bodies not sharing data until ‘polished’), and the complexities of integration and 
negotiating integration governance processes to implement the Programme.  

Moving forward, members were eager to work with the Programme team to progress 
Dataloch and integrate it into the future planning of the IJB. 

Decision 

To note the presentation. 

7. Thrive Edinburgh 
Members were presented with an update on the ongoing work of Thrive Edinburgh. 
The presentation provided information on different workstreams undertaken, the 
policy impacts of Covid-19 restrictions and lockdowns, and the different opportunities 
and engagement going forward for the Programme.  

Page 183



Members were supportive of the inclusion of neurodevelopmental disorders in the 
plans moving forward yet did not underestimate the challenge of unpicking and 
reforming the current complex system that these patients need to negotiate, which is 
often difficult to access.  

Members highlighted the opportunities to work alongside different workstreams 
moving forward, including new-build redesign in housing to allow for a more tailored 
space to the needs of those suffering poor mental health. The opportunity to engage 
with and wider-advertise Edinburgh Voluntary Organisations’ Council’s (EVOC’s) 
‘Red Book’ to allow patients to understand the breadth of services available to them.  

Decision 

To note the presentation. 

8. Date of Next Meeting 
To note that the next Strategic Planning Group meeting is currently 
scheduled to be held at 10.00am on 17 January 2022 subject to current 
systems pressures. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 184


	Agenda
	4.1 Minute of 7 December 2021
	5.1 Rolling Actions Log
	Rolling Actions Log
	February 2022
	Comments
	Expected completion date
	Action Owner
	Date 
	Subject
	Agenda item
	No

	6.1 System Pressures Update Briefing
	6.2 Joint Inspection of Older People's Services - Progress Update
	OPIP_Feb IJB_v2
	Appendix 1 - self evaluation report OPIP
	Appendix 2 - progress review Nov21 - final
	Edinburgh older people services progress review Nov21
	Final_Response_to_EHSCP_28 Oct
	Edinburgh older people services progress review Nov21


	6.3 'Working Together' - The Inaugural Workforce Strategy
	IJB Covering Paper - Working Together Jan 27
	Working Together Draft Strategy - Appendix 1 - commitments_actions_v0.3
	Appendix 2.1 - H&WB
	Appendix 2.2 - C&I
	Appendix 2.3 - WC&T
	Appendix 2.4 - L&D
	Appendix 2.5

	Delivery Groups - Appendix 2
	Slide Number 1

	Working Together Draft Strategy - v Appendix 3 (Final)
	‘Working Together’�
	Introduction
	EIJB Strategic Priorities
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Workforce Pressures/ Challenges
	Slide Number 9
	The road map�i.e. the long-term timeline; planning cycles
	Our Strategic Workforce Priorities
	Health �and Wellbeing 
	Culture �and Identity
	Workforce Capacity & Transformation
	Leadership and Development
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19


	7.1 Finance Update
	8.1 Code of Conduct for Members of the Edinburgh Integration Joint Board
	EIJB Report - Code of Conduct for Board Members January 2022_
	EIJB Code of Conduct 2021 - Non tracked changes GK approved.
	My Responsibilities
	Respect and Courtesy
	Remuneration, Allowances and Expenses
	Gifts and Hospitality
	Confidentiality
	Use of Health Board or Local Authority Resources
	Appointments to Outside Organisations
	Category One: Remuneration
	Category Two: Other Roles
	Category Three: Contracts
	Category Six: Interest in Shares and Securities
	Category Seven: Gifts and Hospitality
	Category Eight: Non–Financial Interests


	9.1 Committee Update Report
	9.2 Strategic Planning Group draft minute
	1. Minutes
	2. Rolling Actions Log
	3. Annual Cycle of Business
	4. Status of Strategic Plan 2022-2025
	5. General Medical Services Provision in South East Edinburgh – Liberton High School Campus
	6. Data Driven Innovation Programme
	7. Thrive Edinburgh
	8. Date of Next Meeting




